Public Document Pack

COUNCIL MEETING
SUMMONS
Members of Fareham Borough Council are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of
the Council to be held in the Council Chamber, on
FRIDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2022, commencing at 5.00 pm.

The Mayor: Councillor Pamela Bryant
The Deputy Mayor: Councillor Michael Ford, JP
Councillor Ian Bastable

Councillor Nick Gregory

Councillor Susan Bayford

Councillor Tiffany Harper

Councillor Mrs Susan Walker

Councillor Pal Hayre

Councillor Fred Birkett

Councillor Connie Hockley

Councillor Joanne Bull

Councillor Leslie Keeble

Councillor Trevor Cartwright, MBE

Councillor Jean Kelly

Councillor Louise Clubley

Councillor Gerry Kelly

Councillor Malcolm Daniells

Councillor Kay Mandry

Councillor Peter Davies

Councillor Simon Martin

Councillor Tom Davies

Councillor Sarah Pankhurst

Councillor Steve Dugan

Councillor Roger Price, JP

Councillor Tina Ellis

Councillor Katrina Trott

Councillor Jack Englefield

Councillor Nick Walker

Councillor Geoff Fazackarley

Councillor Seán Woodward

Councillor Jim Forrest

Page 1

1.

Prayers
The meeting will commence with a short service of prayers.

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Minutes (Pages 7 - 16)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Council Meeting held on 16
December 2021.

4.

Mayor's Announcements

5.

Executive Leader's Announcements

6.

Executive Members' Announcements

7.

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct.

8.

Presentation of Petitions
To receive any petitions presented by a member of the Council.
Note: any petition so presented will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s
petition scheme.

9.

Deputations
To receive any deputations of which notice has been given.

10. Reports of the Executive
To receive, consider and answer questions on reports and recommendations of the
Executive. Minutes of the meetings of the Executive and a schedule of individual
Executive member decisions are appended.
(1)

Minutes of meeting Monday, 10 January 2022 of Executive (Pages 17 - 22)

(2)

Minutes of meeting Monday, 7 February 2022 of Executive (Pages 23 - 28)

(3)

Schedule of Individual Executive Member and Officer Delegated Decisions
(Pages 29 - 30)

11. Reports of Other Committees
To receive the minutes of the following Committees and to consider and answer
questions on any reports and recommendations made.
(1)

Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 15 December 2021 of Planning Committee
(Pages 31 - 40)

Page 2

(2)

Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 19 January 2022 of Planning Committee
(Pages 41 - 56)

(3)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 25 January 2022 of Licensing and Regulatory
Affairs Committee (Pages 57 - 60)

12. Reports of the Scrutiny Panels
To receive, consider and answer questions on reports and recommendations of the
meetings of the Scrutiny Panels.
(1)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 11 January 2022 of Leisure and Community
Scrutiny Panel (Pages 61 - 64)

(2)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 18 January 2022 of Health and Public Protection
Scrutiny Panel (Pages 65 - 68)

(3)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 20 January 2022 of Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Panel (Pages 69 - 74)

(4)

Minutes of meeting Monday, 24 January 2022 of Climate Change Scrutiny
Panel (Pages 75 - 78)

(5)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 27 January 2022 of Streetscene Scrutiny Panel
(Pages 79 - 82)

(6)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 1 February 2022 of Planning and Development
Scrutiny Panel (Pages 83 - 86)

(7)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 3 February 2022 of Housing Scrutiny Panel
(Pages 87 - 92)

13. Questions under Standing Order 2.12
To answer questions pursuant to Standing Order 2.12 for this meeting.
14. Motions under Standing Order 2.6
Members will be informed, prior to the meeting, of any motion duly notified in
accordance with Standing Order 2.6 but received after print and dispatch of the
agenda.
15. Finance Strategy, Capital Programme, Revenue Budget and Council Tax
2022/23
(1)

Suspension of Standing Order 2.15 and 2.16
To consider suspending the provision of Standing Order 2.15 to allow the
Executive Leader of the Council to speak on the matters referred to in items
15(2) and 15(3) for longer than five minutes and the spokesmen for the
Opposition Groups to speak for not more than ten minutes; and to consider
suspending the provisions of Standing Order 2.16 to allow the Executive
Leader of the Council to speak on the matters referred to in items 15(2) and
15(3) more than once to respond to points raised in debate.

Page 3

(2)

Report to the Executive - 07 February 2022 (Pages 93 - 104)
The Minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 07 February 2022, to be
presented to Council at its meeting on 25 February 2022 at item 10(2), contain
recommendations on the revenue budget and the level of Council Tax for
2022/23.
(Note a copy of the report by the Executive is included in this agenda pack)
If Members accept the Executive’s recommendations, formal approval will be
sought of the following matters;
(a) the capital programme and financing of £44,999,900;
(b) an overall revised revenue budget for 2021/22 of £10,494,800;
(c) a revenue budget for 2022/23 of £10,788,000;
(d) a council tax for Fareham Borough Council for 2022/23 of £175.22 per
band D property, which represents a £5.00 increase when compared to
the current year and is within referendum limits; and
(e) an unchanged Council Tax Support scheme for 2022/23.
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, there will be a recorded vote on the budget
decision.

(3)

Council Tax for 2022/23 for Fareham Borough Council, Hampshire County
Council, Hampshire Police and Crime Commissioner and Hampshire Fire and
Rescue Service
Having made the necessary calculations in relation to its own budget, the
Council must proceed to set the Council Tax for 2022/23 taking account of the
amounts in precepts issued to the Council by Hampshire County Council, the
Police and Crime Commissioner and Hampshire Fire Authority. These
precepts will not be issued before the publication of this agenda and will
therefore be reported at the meeting, with provisional figures being given for
those that are not yet approved.
In order to enable Council Tax bills to be issued within the statutory timescale,
it is recommended that the Council agrees to delegate authority to the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer to amend the Council Tax 2022/23, in the event that
any of the precepting authorities change their precept calculation from that
expected and reported at the Council meeting.
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2014 there will be a recorded vote on the budget
decision.
(Note: a schedule will be tabled at the meeting for approval, showing the

Page 4

formal calculations the Council must make, incorporating any figures
recommended by the Executive. Members will also be advised of the wording
of the formal resolution they must adopt to set the Council Tax for 2022/23,
taking account of the requisite calculations and the precepts of Hampshire
County Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner and Hampshire Fire
Authority).
16. Housing Revenue Account Budget and Capital Plans 2022/23 (Pages 105 - 116)
The minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 07 February 2022, to be
presented to Council at its meeting on 25 February 2022 at item 10(2), contain
recommendations on the Housing Revenue Account Spending Plans including the
Capital Programme for the years 2021/22 to 2025/26. If Members accept the
Executive’s recommendations, formal approval will be sought of the following
matters:
(a) rents be approved for Council Dwellings as set out in paragraph 23 of that
report with effect from 01 April 2022;
(b) rents for Council garages be increased by 3.8% with effect from 01 April
2022;
(c) the revised budget for 2021/22 be approved; and
(d) the base budget for 2022/23 be approved.
(Note a copy of the report to the Executive is included in this agenda pack)
17. Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy 2022/23 (Pages 117 138)
The minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 07 February 2022, to be
presented to Council at its meeting on 25 February 2022 at item 10(2) of this
agenda, contain recommendations that the Treasury Management Strategy and
Investment Strategy 2022/23 be submitted to Council for approval. If Members
accept the Executive’s recommendation, formal approval will be sought that the
Council approves the Treasury Management Strategy and the Investment Strategy
2022/23.
(Note: a copy of the report to the Executive together with the Treasury Management
Strategy and Investment Strategy 2022/23 are included in this agenda pack).
18. Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022/23 (Pages 139 - 160)
The minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 10 January 2022, to be
presented to Council at its meeting on 25 February 2022 at item 10(2), contain
recommendations on the Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022/23. If
Members accept the Executive’s recommendations, formal approval of the Capital
Programme and Capital Strategy for 2022/23 will be sought.
(Note: a copy of the report to the Executive, together with the Capital Programme
and Capital Strategy for 2022/23 is included in this agenda pack).

Page 5

19. Approval of Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 (Pages 161 - 168)
The minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 10 January 2022, to be
presented to Council at its meeting on 25 February 2022 at item 10(2), contain a
resolution by the Executive that the Medium-Term Finance Strategy be approved.
Attached to the Medium-Term Finance Strategy as Annex 2 is the updated Pay
Policy Statement 2022/23 which Council is now asked to approve.
(Note: a copy of the updated Pay Policy Statement for 2022/23 is included in this
agenda pack).
20. Gambling - Statement of Principles (Pages 169 - 212)
A report by the Head of Environmental Health.
21. Appointments to Committees
To make any changes in appointments to the seats on committees in accordance
with the wishes of political groups. Such appointments will take effect from 28
February 2022.

P GRIMWOOD
Chief Executive Officer
www.fareham.gov.uk
16 February 2022

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel:01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk

Page 6

Agenda Item 3

Minutes of the
Council
Date:

Thursday, 16 December 2021

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Mrs P M Bryant
(Mayor)
M J Ford, JP
(Deputy Mayor)
Councillors:

I Bastable, Mrs S M Bayford, F Birkett, Miss J Bull,
T M Cartwright, MBE, Mrs L E Clubley, M R Daniells,
T Davies, S Dugan, Mrs T L Ellis, J M Englefield, J S Forrest,
Miss T G Harper, Mrs P Hayre, Mrs C L A Hockley, L Keeble,
Mrs J Kelly, Mrs K Mandry, S D Martin, Ms S Pankhurst,
R H Price, JP, Mrs K K Trott, N J Walker, Mrs S M Walker
and S D T Woodward

Page 7

Council

1.

16 December 2021

PRAYERS
The meeting was opened with Prayers led by Father Jackson of St Peter and
St Paul’s Church, Fareham.

2.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Davies, G
Fazackarley, N Gregory and G Kelly.

3.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the Mayor be authorised to sign as a correct record the
minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 21 October 2021.

4.

MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Mayor announced that she and the Mayoress were pleased to have met
many different groups and organizations since the last meeting of the Council.
They were delighted to welcome new Citizens of Honour Award winners to the
Parlour, firstly a group from Acts of Kindness, and then Declan Brooks for a
special Citizen of Honour Award. It was lovely to welcome Declan’s family in
the Parlour and they were obviously very proud of Declan who brought home a
Bronze Medal from the Tokyo Games.
The Mayor stated that it was good to be able to take part in this year’s annual
Poppy Appeal and Remembrance weekend. Portchester’s remembrance on
the Saturday was extremely well attended and well organized. The Mayor and
Mayoress then attended a very emotional and moving concert in the evening
at Portsmouth Cathedral, which was held in conjunction with Portsmouth
Grammar School. Fine weather brought out large numbers for Sunday’s
Remembrance Parade and Service at Holy Trinity Church bringing reminders
to us all of the gratitude we owe to those who gave the ultimate sacrifice.
The Mayor announced that the Christmas Lights Switch on in West Street
once again brought large numbers into the town centre and it was so good to
see families enjoying the festive atmosphere and supporting local businesses.
The Mayor and Mayoress were in attendance at Fareham Railway Station as a
plaque was unveiled marking 180 years of our Victorian station here in the
town. They were joined by pupils from Redlands Lane Primary school.
The Mayor announced that during the past couple of weeks, she and the
Mayoress have attended several carol services as well as switching on more
Christmas lights.

Page 8

Council

16 December 2021

The Mayor stated that her charities have benefited from five enjoyable charity
evenings at Antonio’s restaurant, and whilst the Tea Party in the Parlour had to
be postponed, a smaller group than originally planned had an enjoyable
afternoon on the re-arranged date, bringing a small profit too.
The Mayor announced that she has a save the date of Friday 18 th March for
the Charity Ball to be held in the Wardroom at HMS Collingwood and stated
that with the latest guidelines that must be adhered to, she sincerely hoped
that the winter months restrictions would allow us to hold this traditional
Mayoral event in some form.
5.

EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Executive Leader announcements.

6.

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' ANNOUNCEMENTS
Councillor M Daniells joined the meeting during this item.
HEALTH & PUBLIC PROTECTION
Police and Crime Panel
The Executive Member was pleased to announce that the Police & Crime
Commissioner has now distributed her Police and Crime Plan for 2021 - 2024.
The 9 priorities are very much the areas that Fareham residents are
concerned about and the Panel will be scrutinising the outcomes from these
priorities.
The members of the Panel were invited by the Commissioner to join her on a
visit to the Police Marine Unit. Panel members were briefed by the Police
about their fleet and what the Unit was there to do. They then travelled to the
Hamble Point Marina where the boats were moored which consisted of a large
catamaran and two ribs. Members were taken onto the ribs and driven out into
Southampton water where the Unit demonstrated the various manoeuvres
they have to do as part of their duties. This included high speed chases,
boarding boats at 45 knots, high speed turns, recovering one of the Police
Officers who had fallen overboard, amongst many others. The Panel’s
impression of the exercise was that they were a highly trained and efficient unit
carrying out duties across the whole of the Solent area keeping our harbours
and creeks safe
Sovereign Health Partnership
The Leader and the Executive Member met with members of the Sovereign
Health Partnership and Sarah Tiller, Managing Director of the Clinical
Commissioning Group on the 16th November to discuss the very poor
performance of the partnership regarding appointments, responses to econsult and telephoning the practice following the numerous complaints that
have been received. At that meeting, all the various points were raised, and
Sarah Tiller promised that an action plan would be forwarded to us to resolve
Page 9

Council

16 December 2021

the problem. It was disappointing that last Friday we received a response
which was really an update of what had happened at the Patient Engagement
event held on the 7th December. The Executive Member stated that he was
very unhappy that we still haven’t received a proper Action Plan with dates and
outcomes, and therefore further contact will be made with them on this matter.
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Council Statement following Storm Barra
Storm Barra hit the south coast during daylight hours of Tuesday 7 th
December. A deep Atlantic depression brought gale force winds gusting up to
60mph which coincided with high tide, elevating sea levels by additional
600mm. Coastal asset damage has been recorded all along the Partnership’s
frontage. Ranging from beach draw-down, damaged revetments, broken
groyne top markers and collapsed seawalls. At Salterns Recreation Ground, a
25m section of ageing blockwork seawall collapsed splitting on to the
foreshore. The site has been securely fenced off by the FBC Streetscene
Service and the collapse inspected by Coastal Partners. It will remain fenced
off until the new year, when repair options will be assessed and determined.
Wave overtopping was also witnessed along the Cador Drive, Portchester
frontage.
Thankfully, future feasibility studies into the replacement of these aging,
council owned, defences are shortly to be undertaken. The Council in
accordance with the approved River Hamble to Portchester Coastal Strategy
has secured £457k of local levy funding from the Southern Flood and Coastal
Committee, and Fareham Borough Council will be contributing £30k to
undertake an appraisal study at Fareham Quay and Cador Drive to develop
the preferred coastal management option for how to reduce the risk of flooding
for this frontage. A proposal is currently being developed and will be brought
before the Executive for consideration in February 2022.
Local Plan Update
The Executive Member announced that, further to his update at the October
meeting where he announced the appointment of the Local Plan Inspector,
Helen Hockenhull, he was able to provide members with a short update on
engagement with her to date.
A letter was received from the Inspector in mid-November asking some
technical questions in advance of her setting the ‘matters and issues’ for
consideration at the hearings. These were responded to in full on 3 rd
December and are available on the Council’s website.
The Programme Officer has written to all respondents to the two consultations
in 2020 and 2021, known as the Regulation 19 or Publication Plan
consultations, asking whether they wish to attend the hearings which she has
advised are due to take place in the spring. It is not yet known whether the
hearings will be face to face, virtual or blended but further announcements will
be made in due course.

Page 10

Council

16 December 2021

The Planning Strategy team is keeping the website up to date and there is a
specific page devoted to news about the examination. The Executive Member
encouraged members to make themselves familiar with that page if they wish
to know about the latest developments.
Ash Die Back
The Executive Member announced that members would recall that the
Executive considered a report relating to a review of the Council’s tree
services and at that meeting and advised that there was an important issue
affecting the ash trees that were growing in the Borough which would be
subject to a separate report.
Sadly, many ash trees within the Borough are suffering from the effects of Ash
Dieback Disease. Ash Dieback Disease is expected to kill 80% of ash trees
within the Borough (and the UK) over the next 5-10 years. The nature of the
disease means that as it becomes established, the ash trees become brittle
and can regularly fail in whole or in part. Failing ash trees therefore pose an
increased risk of harm to people and property. It is necessary for the Council
to have a clear regime in place to monitor the ash trees it owns and arrange
for works to, or the felling of ash trees, which are significantly affected by the
disease. The Council is starting to take action in dealing with this problem in
the Borough and has started to cut down those trees that are failing.
The Executive Member stated that there are presently around 1,800 ash trees
in the borough and so the impact on our trees is significant. In this time of
climate change, the cutting of trees is a sensitive matter and so he wanted to
brief members in advance of the report going to the Executive so that they
could inform the public if they are contacted to explain this situation.
HOUSING
The Executive Member provided an update on a recent snapshot of
homelessness within the Borough of Fareham. The number of homeless
people recorded was six. Two of the six were very recent arrivals to the
Borough area and although having any number of homeless individuals within
the area is not a good situation, there is some positive news from the Housing
First initiative which is where agencies and FBC officers work with entrenched
homeless people who don’t necessarily want to subscribe to the conditions in
some of the schemes currently available.
Housing First offers a “wrap around” service and support to individuals to get
them off the street and into accommodation. There have already been positive
results with two homeless people being helped which is a very good step
forward for the initiative. There is further funding available for this new initiative
and there will be many lessons learnt as this is taken forward.
7.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

Page 11

Council

8.

16 December 2021

PRESENTATION OF PETITIONS
There were no petitions presented at this meeting.

9.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

10.

REPORTS OF THE EXECUTIVE
(1)

Minutes of meeting Monday, 1 November 2021 of Executive

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on Monday
01 November 2021 be received.
(2)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 7 December 2021 of Executive

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on Tuesday
07 December 2021 be received.
(3)

Schedule of Individual Executive Member and Officer Delegated
Decisions

RESOLVED that the Schedule of Individual Executive Member and Officer
Delegated Decisions be received.
11.

REPORTS OF OTHER COMMITTEES
(1)

Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 13 October 2021 of Planning
Committee

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held
on Wednesday 13 October 2021 be received.
(2)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 2 November 2021 of Planning Committee

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held
on Tuesday 02 November 2021 be received.
(3)

Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 24 November 2021 of Planning
Committee

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held
on Wednesday 24 November 2021 be received.
(4)

Minutes of meeting Monday, 22 November 2021 of Audit and
Governance Committee

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance
Committee held on Monday 22 November 2021 be received.

Page 12

Council

(5)

16 December 2021
Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 23 November 2021 of Licensing and
Regulatory Affairs Committee

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory
Affairs Committee held on Tuesday 23 November 2021 be received.
12.

REPORTS OF THE SCRUTINY PANELS
(1)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 12 October 2021 of Climate Change
Scrutiny Panel

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel held on
Tuesday 12 October 2021 be received.
(2)

Minutes of meeting Monday, 18 October 2021 of Leisure and
Community Scrutiny Panel

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Leisure and Community
Scrutiny Panel held on Monday 18 October 2021 be received.
(3)

Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 20 October 2021 of Daedalus Scrutiny
Panel

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Daedalus Scrutiny Panel
held on Wednesday 20 October 2021 be received.
(4)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 30 November 2021 of Daedalus Scrutiny
Panel

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Daedalus Scrutiny Panel
held on Tuesday 30 November 2021 be received.
(5)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 28 October 2021 of Housing Scrutiny
Panel

It was noted that at the next meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Panel, an
amendment would be made to the 3rd paragraph of item 7 of the minutes of the
Housing Scrutiny Panel meeting held on Thursday 28 October 2021 to clarify
that the development at Gordon Road is not a new build scheme.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Panel
held on Thursday 28 October 2021 be received.
(6)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 18 November 2021 of Streetscene
Scrutiny Panel

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Streetscene Scrutiny Panel
held on Thursday 18 November 2021 be received.
(7)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 25 November 2021 of Planning and
Development Scrutiny Panel

Page 13

Council

16 December 2021

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Development
Committee held on Thursday 25 November 2021 be received.
13.

QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 2.12
There were no questions submitted for this meeting.

14.

MOTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 2.6
There were no Motions submitted for this meeting.

15.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY 2017/23
RESOLVED that the Council:
(a) notes the results of the annual review of the Corporate Strategy; and
(b) approves the updates to the Corporate Strategy.

16.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
RESOLVED that the Council accepts Public Sector Audit Appointments
(PSAA) invitation to ‘opt in’ to the sector led option for the appointment of the
external auditors for five financial years commencing 01 April 2023.

17.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION REVIEW
A revised page 165 of the agenda pack was tabled at the meeting to provide
additional information received through questionnaires completed by members
in respect of their community involvement and casework.
RESOLVED that the Council:
(a) approves the draft Council Size Submission as set out in Appendix A to
the report;
(b) delegates authority to the Head of Democratic Services to make any
necessary minor amendments to the draft Council Size Submission
provided that these do not change the overall direction, shape or
emphasis of the submission and do not raise any significant new
issues; and
(c) agrees that the final document is formally submitted to the Local
Government Boundary Commission for England as Fareham Borough
Council’s Council Size Submission.

18.

SCHEDULE OF COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 2022/23

Page 14

Council

16 December 2021

RESOLVED that the Council:
(a) approves the proposed schedule of Council, Committee and Panel
meetings for the municipal year 2022/23, as set out in Appendix A to
the report; and
(b) notes the dates for the Partnership for South Hampshire Joint
Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are provisional until
approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting in February 2022.
19.

ADDITIONAL MEETING OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
RESOLVED that the Council notes that an additional meeting of the Audit and
Governance Committee has been added to the Schedule of Meetings for
2021/22 and will take place on 17 January 2022.

20.

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES
There were no changes made to the Appointments of Seats on Committees.

(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.50 pm).

Page 15

Agenda Item 10(1)

Minutes of the
Executive
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 10 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

Present:
S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
T M Cartwright, MBE, Health and Public Protection (Deputy
Executive Leader)
I Bastable, Streetscene
F Birkett, Housing
S D Martin, Planning and Development
Mrs S M Walker, Leisure and Community
Also in attendance:

Page 17

Executive

1.

10 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence given for this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 07 December
2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Executive Leader announced that the Council has received the proposed
hearing timetable and guidance from the Inspector in relation to the Local Plan
examination, alongside a series of ‘matters and issues’ questions which
provide the Council and representors the opportunity to prepare written
statements in advance of the hearing sessions. The Inspector, Helen
Hockenhull, is proposing hearing sessions starting on 8th March and running
into early April. At the moment, the proposal is that hearings take place
virtually, although her guidance states that if COVID-19 restrictions change, it
may be possible to hold the hearings face to face. The programme officer will
shortly be writing to those who commented on the Publication Local Plan with
a further invite to confirm attendance at the hearings and support for those
who wish to produce written statements in advance. The Council’s website is
being kept up to date with examination information and the Planning Strategy
team is on hand to support residents who may wish to engage with the
examination.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions submitted at this meeting.

6.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

7.

REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES

8.

There were no references from other Committees
.
HOUSING
(1)

Fareham Borough Council Interim First Homes Policy

RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) approves the Fareham Borough Council Interim First Homes Policy, as
provided at Appendix A to the report, for publication; and

Page 18

Executive

10 January 2022

(b) grants the Deputy Chief Executive Officer delegated authority to
undertake factual updates on the application process as and when
further clarity is provided by the government.
(2)

Conversion works at 92 Gordon Road, 1 Arundel Drive and 1A Arundel
Drive

RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) notes the updates relating to the acquisition of properties at Gordon
Road and Arundel Drive, including the intended use and works to those
properties. Also noting the potential for officers to seek some Homes
England grant funding;
(b) agrees the funding mechanism and costs associated with the works
required at 92 Gordon Road; and
(c) agrees that an appropriate lead contractor be appointed for the works at
92 Gordon Road. This appointment to be delegated to the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer, following consultation with the Executive
Member for Housing.
9.

LEISURE AND COMMUNITY
(1)

The Queen's Platinum Jubilee Proposals

RESOLVED that the Executive agrees:
(a) the formal naming of the public open space at Daedalus as ‘Queen
Elizabeth II Platinum Jubilee Park’ in commemoration of The Queen’s
Platinum Jubilee;
(b) a tree planting scheme to commemorate The Queen’s Platinum Jubilee
at Abbey Meadows, Titchfield;
(c) permission for officers to formally approach English Heritage to request
that a beacon lighting ceremony is hosted at Portchester Castle;
(d) that the Council promotes the Big Jubilee Lunch; and
(e) expenditure of £11,500 to fund the commemorative events and
activities.
10.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
(1)

Council Owned Trees - Ash Dieback Disease

RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) approves the annual inspection of the Council’s ash trees;
(b) agrees that £294,345 is allocated from the General Fund Reserves to
cover the costs of the necessary tree works and felling resulting from
Ash Dieback Disease;
Page 19

Executive

10 January 2022

(c) notes that Officers will continue to monitor the actions taken by other
authorities in respect of Ash Dieback and will continue to explore
opportunities with other authorities to manage Ash Dieback, particularly
where this would achieve notable cost savings; and
(d) notes that a report for information will be presented to the Planning and
Development Scrutiny Panel on an annual basis setting out the number
of ash trees which required work/felling in the preceding 12 months and
the cost of the associated inspections and works.
11.

POLICY AND RESOURCES
(1)

Finance Strategy, Revenue Budget & Council Tax 2022/23

RESOLVED that the Executive:
Financial Forecasts (MTFS)
(a) approves the Medium-Term Finance Strategy for the period 2021/22 to
2025/26, as set out at Appendix C to the report;
(b) agrees to submit the updated Pay Policy, annexed to the Medium-Term
Finance Strategy at Annex C, to Full Council for approval;
Revenue Budgets
(c) approves the revised 2021/22 general fund revenue budget, amounting
to £10,494,800, as set out in Appendices A and B to the report; and
(d) approves the base 2022/23 general fund revenue budget amounting to
£10,744,400, as set out in Appendices A and B to the report.
(2)

Fees and Charges 2022/23

RESOLVED that the Executive approves the fees and charges for 2022/23 as
set out at Appendix A to the report.
(3)

Welborne Delivery - Disposal of Residential Property

RESOLVED that the Executive agrees to delegate authority to the Director of
Planning and Regeneration, following consultation with the Executive Member
for Policy and Resources, to enter into an Option Agreement with Welborne
Land Limited for the disposal of three residential properties at Welborne
Garden Village.
(4)

Member IT Review

RESOLVED that the Executive approves:
(a) the committee process becoming paperless in early 2022/23 following a
programme of training and support for all Members; and
(b) up to 31 new laptop devices be purchased at a cost of up to £30,225.
Page 20

Executive

10 January 2022

(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.27 pm).

Page 21

Agenda Item 10(2)

Minutes of the
Executive
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 7 February 2022

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Present:
S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
T M Cartwright, MBE, Health and Public Protection (Deputy
Executive Leader)
I Bastable, Streetscene
F Birkett, Housing
S D Martin, Planning and Development
Mrs S M Walker, Leisure and Community
Also in attendance:
R H Price, JP, for item 10(1)

Page 23

Executive

1.

7 February 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies given for this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 10 January 2022
be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Executive Leader announcements.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions submitted at this meeting.

6.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

7.

REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES
Policy & Resources Scrutiny Panel – 20 January 2022
MINUTE 6 - CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2022/23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022-23.
Councillor Kelly enquired as to whether any of the Council’s commercial
tenants have had issues paying their rent as a result of the Pandemic. The
Finance Manager acknowledged that the Pandemic had left some tenants in
difficulties and that the Council is working with them to minimise any impact for
the Council, and that they would continue to closely monitor them.
Councillor Walker enquired as to whether the Council’s Commercial Assets
have been affected by the Pandemic. The Finance Manager confirmed that by
the end of 2021 the nominal value of the Council’s commercial investment
portfolio had dropped, but she explained that the actual value of an investment
isn’t known until the point of sale, and that it is expected for values to fluctuate
over time.
RESOLVED that the Panel request that the Executive note the Panel’s
comments above, at its meeting on 7 February 2022.
This item was considered at item 11(5) of the agenda.

Page 24

Executive

7 February 2022

MINUTE 8 - FINANCE STRATEGY, REVENUE BUDGET AND COUNCIL
TAX 2022/23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Finance Strategy, Revenue Budget and Council Tax 2022-23.
Councillor Mrs Bayford enquired about the Council’s need to put money into
the reserves and commented that some residents have identified that this
adding to the current shortfall. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer explained
that the revenue contributions to capital funding is used to replace Council
vehicles, IT equipment, park facilities and bus shelters and without these
reserves the Council would not be able to undertake these necessary
purchases when they are needed. He also explained that in relation to the
future forecast surplus of capital resources, this is not guaranteed, and it is
important that the Council put money aside for when it may be needed in the
future.
Members also asked questions about the new Garden Waste collection
service, and that there have been comments made about the profit that the
Council will be making from it. The Panel were advised that while sone
individual activities may make surpluses, the Council is unable to make a profit
from its broader discretionary service portfolio. The income from garden waste
forms part of the broader range of services for the Streetscene portfolio and
that this income can be used across any services within that area.
RESOLVED that the Panel request that the Executive note the comments
above, at its meeting on 7 February 2022.
This item was considered at item 11(1) on the agenda
MINUTE 9 - HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET AND CAPITAL
PLANS 2022/23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Housing Revenue Account Budget and Capital Plans 2022-23.
RESOLVED that the Panel recommends that the Executive endorses the
recommendations in the report, at it is meeting on 7 February 2022.
This item was considered at item 11(2) on the agenda.
Licensing & Regulatory Affairs Committee – 25 January 2022
MINUTE 9 - GAMBLING REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health
which presented the revised draft Gambling Statement of Principles, together
with Consultation responses, for approval and recommendation to the
Executive before being presented to Council for adoption.
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee;

Page 25

Executive

7 February 2022

(a) considered the draft document, any amendments resulting from the
statutory consultation exercise and whether any substantive
amendments are required; and
(b) recommends to the Executive that the final draft Gambling Act 2005
Statement of Principles 2022-2025, as attached as Appendix A to the
report, be recommended for adoption by the Council.
This item was considered at item 11(3) on the agenda.
8.

HOUSING
(1)

Extension of Void Property Works and Component Improvement
Package Works Contract 2019/2022

Resolved that the Executive agrees that the existing contract with Mountjoy
Ltd be extended for a further 2 years from its existing expiry date of 30 April
2022.
9.

HEALTH AND PUBLIC PROTECTION
(1)

Renewal of Environmental Health Partnership Agreement

RESOLVED that the Executive agrees to delegate authority to the Chief
Executive Officer, following consultation with the Executive Member for Health
and Public Protection, to renew the Environmental Health Partnership
Agreement with Gosport Borough Council on an open-ended basis with
appropriate clauses to allow for future reviews and/or termination.
10.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
(1)

Fareham Coastal Defence Study (Fareham Quay and Alton Grove to
Cador Drive)

At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillor R H Price, JP addressed
the Executive on this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) approves commencement of the Fareham Coastal Defence Study; and
(b) agrees that the Director of Planning and Regeneration is given
delegated authority to procure and deliver the works, subject to the
award of contract being made through an Individual Decision of the
Executive Member for Planning and Development.
11.

POLICY AND RESOURCES
(1)

Finance Strategy, Capital Programme, Revenue Budget and Council
Tax 2022/23

A revised page 46 of the agenda pack was tabled at the meeting in respect of
this item to provide the net rates payable from National Non-Domestic rates for
2022/23 (after Transitional arrangements and reliefs).
Page 26

Executive

7 February 2022

The comments of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel were taken into
account in considering this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive approves and recommends to the meeting of
the Council to be held on 25 February 2022:
(a) the capital programme and financing of £44,990,900;
(b) an overall revised revenue budget for 2012/22 of £10,494,800;
(c) a revenue budget for 2022/23 of £10,788,000;
(d) a council tax for Fareham Borough Council for 2022/23 of £175.22 per
band D property, which represents a £5.00 per year increase when
compared to the current year and is within referendum limits; and
(e) an unchanged Council Tax Support scheme for 2022/23
(2)

Housing Revenue Account 2022/23

The comments of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel were taken into
account in considering this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive approves and recommends to the meeting of
the Council to be held on 25 February 2022 that:
(a) rents be approved for Council Dwellings as set out in paragraph 23 with
effect from 01 April 2022;
(b) rents for Council garages be increased by 3.8% with effect from 01 April
2022;
(c) the revised budget for 2021/22 be approved; and
(d) The base budget for 2022/23 be approved.
(3)

Gambling - Review of Statement of Principles

The comments of the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee were taken
into account in considering this item.
RESOLVED that having considered the revised Gambling Policy, as detailed
in Appendix A to the report, the Executive recommends the policy to Council
for adoption.
(4)

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23

RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) endorses the draft Treasury Management Strategy and Investment
Strategy for 2022/23, attached as Appendix A to the report; and
(b) agrees to submit the report to Council for approval.
Page 27

Executive

(5)

7 February 2022
Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022/23

The comments of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel were taken into
account in considering this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) endorses the draft Capital Strategy for 2022/23, attached as Appendix
A to the report;
(b) approves the capital programme for the period 2021/22 to 2025/26,
amounting to £73.8million as set out in Annex 1 of the Capital Strategy;
and
(c) agrees to submit the Capital Strategy for 2022/23 to Council for
approval.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.35 pm).

Page 28

Agenda Item 10(3)


SCHEDULE OF EXECUTIVE MEMBER
& OFFICER DELEGATED
DECISIONS

The following decisions have been made by individual Executive Members since those
reported at the meeting of Council on 16 December 2021:

Executive Member for Leisure and Community –
09 February 2022

Decision 2021/22 - 2348

Community Funding Application – Dinky Tinkers

RESOLVED that:
(a) the application for £2,880.67 from Fareham Borough Council’s Community Fund,
submitted by Dinky Tinkers, towards the set up of their child and toddler group at
Broadlaw Walk, Fareham be approved; and
(b) the award is subject to the condition that the Dinky Tinkers group is widely
publicised across the Fareham South area.

Page 29

Agenda Item 11(1)

Minutes of the
Planning Committee
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

N J Walker (Chairman)

Councillor

I Bastable (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

F Birkett, Miss J Bull, T M Cartwright, MBE, P J Davies,
M J Ford, JP, Mrs C L A Hockley and R H Price, JP

Also
Present:

Councillor Mrs K K Trott (Item 6 (5))

Page 31

Planning Committee

1.

15 December 2021

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies of absence.

2.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee held on 24 November
2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements made at this meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
The Committee received a deputation from the following in respect of the
applications indicated and were thanked accordingly.

Name

Spokespe
rson
representi
ng
the
persons
listed

Subject

Supporting
or
Opposing
the
Application

Item
No/
Application
No/Page No

Dep
Type

LOCKS HEATH
SHOPPING CENTRE
CENTRE WAY –
RECONFIGURATION OF
EXISTING CENTRE
WAY ACCESS ROAD,
BUS LANE & SHOPPING
CENTRE CAR PARK
LAYOUT TO PROVIDE:
A NEW ROUNDABOUT
JUNCTION ON CENTRE
WAY TO PROVIDE
ACCESS TO MAIN CAR
PARKS, ALTERATION
TO THE PUBLIC CAR
PARK LAYOUT TO
ALLOW THE FUTURE
DEVELPOMENT OF
AREAS 1 AND 2, A
ZEBRZ CROSSING,

Opposing

P/21/0148/FP 6(1)
Pg 11

In
person
(3 mins)

ZONE 1 –
2.30pm

Mr John
Gorrod

Page 32

Planning Committee

15 December 2021
PROVISION OF A MEW
BUS TURNING
FACILITY PROVIDED
ON CENTRE WAY AT
THE WESTERN END OF
THE SHOPPING
CENTRE , PROVISION
OF A DECKED CAR
PARK WITHIN THE
STAFF PARKING AREA
AND ASSOCIATED
LANDSCAPE AND
PUBLIC RELAM
IMPROVEMENTS
CONNECTED WITH THE
PROPOSALS
-DITTO-

-ditto-

-ditto-

Written

-DITTO-

-ditto-

-ditto-

Written

-DITTO-

Supporting

-ditto-

In
person
(3 mins)

Supporting

P/21/1642/VC
6(4)
Pg 35

In
person
(3 mins)

Ms
Freya
Derrick

67 THE AVENUE
FAREHAM – VARIATION
OF CONDITION 17 OF
P/18/0260/FP TO
ENABLE
UNRESTRICTED
CHILDREN NUMBERS
IN GARDEN BETWEEN
HOURS OF 10:00 –
17:30 (RETAINING
CURRENT
RESTRICTIONS OF
MAX 16 CHILDREN
OUTSIDE OF THOSE
HOURS) & VARIATION
OF CONDITION 5 OF
P/11/0312/FP TO
EXTEND OPENING
HOURS TO BETWEEN
HOURS OF 07:30 –
18:30 (ADDITIONAL 30
MINS PM)

Mr
Nick
Gregory

-Ditto-

-Dito-

-Ditto-

In
Person
(3 mins)

Mr
Bob
Marshall
Amanda
Strand
Michelle
Roland
Edith
Monfires
(Agent)

The
Fareham
Society

&

ZONE 2 –
3.30pm

Page 33

Planning Committee

Mr
Martyn
Murray

Vicky Harper

Bob Marshall
Philip Dudley
(Agent)

15 December 2021
Opposing

-ditto-

-DITTOLAND TO THE EAST
AND WEST OF THE
RED LION CAR PARK –
ERECTION OF 18 NO. 2
AND 3 BED DWELLINGS
WITH 40%
AFFORDABLE
Opposing
PROVISION (7
DWELLINGS)
TOGETHER WITH CAR
PARKING. ACCESS VIA
EXISTING ROAD ONTO
BATH LANE
-DITTO-DITTO-

In
person
(3 mins)

P/20/1359/FP
– 6(5)
Pg 43

Video

-ditto-

Written

-ditto-

In
person
(3 mins)

P/20/1080/FP
– 6(6)
Pg 67

Written

-ditto-

In
person
(3 mins)

-dittoSupporting

ZONE 3 –
4.30pm

Mrs Maureen
Rawlings

Kerry Futter
(Agent)

6.

LAND AT WINNHAM
DRIVE TO REAR OF 64
& 66 PORTCHESTER
ROAD – ERECTION OF
DETACHED 3-BED
CHALET BUNGALOW &
GARAGE WITH
ACCESS FROM
WINNHAM DRIVE
-DITTO-

Opposing

Supporting

PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
AND
MISCELLANEOUS
INCLUDING AN UPDATE ON PLANNING APPEALS

MATTERS

The Committee noted a report by the Director of Planning and Regeneration
on the development control matters, including information regarding new
appeals and decisions.
(1)

P/21/0148/FP - LOCKS HEATH SHOPPING CENTRE WAY LOCKS
HEATH SO31 6DX

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: -

Page 34

Planning Committee

15 December 2021

An additional 4 objection comments from local residents have been received.
The objection comments received do not raise any new issues that have not
been addressed in the officer’s committee report.
An additional 3 support comments have been received from local residents
and the Manager of Locks Heath Centre. The additional comments raised are:
a) Parking figures sent through from Horizon Parking suggest that there
are always 100 + car parking spaces available at any given hour
b) Additional staff parking will help recruit more staff
In addition to the other conditions stated in the Committee report the below
conditions will also be included:
7. No development shall commence until a landscaping scheme identifying all
existing trees to be retained, together with species, planting sizes, planting
distances, density, numbers and future maintenance of all new planting to be
undertaken, has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing.
REASON: In order to secure the satisfactory appearance of the development;
in the interests of the visual amenities of the locality.
8. The landscaping scheme, submitted under Condition 7 shall be
implemented and completed in accordance with the approved phasing details
agreed under condition 9 and shall be maintained in accordance with the
agreed schedule. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years from
first planting, are removed, die or, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced, within
the next available planting season, with others of the same species, size and
number as originally approved.
REASON: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a
standard of landscaping.
9. No development shall commence on site until a phasing plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
phasing plan shall show the following;
a) How and when the permitted parking and associated access works will
be delivered
b) What areas of car parking will be made available during the works,
including provision for temporary car parking during the course of the
works
c) Timescales for the completion and making available of the permitted
parking areas (including the parking deck on the western side of the
Centre)
d) Timescales for tree planting
The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved
phasing plan unless any variation to it is first submitted to and approved in
writing with the local planning authority.

Page 35

Planning Committee

15 December 2021

REASON: To ensure adequate parking provision within Locks Heath District
Centre during construction works.
No development shall commence on site until a Construction Management
Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority (LPA). The Construction Management Plan shall address
the following matters:
a) How provision is to be made on site for the parking and turning of
operatives/contractors’/sub-contractors’ vehicles and/or construction
vehicles;
b) The measures the develop will be implementing to ensure that
operatives’/contractors/sub-contractors’ vehicles and/or construction
vehicles are parking within the approved areas;
c) The measures for cleaning the wheels and underside of all vehicles leaving
the site;
d) A scheme for the suppression of any dust arising during construction or
clearance works;
e) The measures for cleaning Centre Way to ensure that it is kept clear of any
mud or other debris falling from construction vehicles, and
f) The areas to be used for the storage of building materials, plant, excavated
materials and huts associated with the implementation of the approved
development.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP
and areas identified in the approved CMP for specified purposes shall
thereafter be kept available for those uses at times during the construction
period, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority. No construction vehicles shall leave the site unless the measures for
cleaning the wheels and underside of construction vehicles are in place and
operational, and the wheels and undersides of the vehicles have been
cleaned.
REASON: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that the occupiers
of nearby residential properties are not subjected to unacceptable noise and
disturbance during the construction period. The details secured by this
condition are considered essential to be agreed prior to the commencement of
development on the site so that appropriate measures are in place to avoid the
potential impacts described above.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission, subject to: a) The applicant/owner first entering into a planning obligation under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on terms
drafted by the Solicitor to the Council to secure:
 The monitoring of the pedestrian and vehicular movements towards
the installation of the zebra crossing;
Page 36

Planning Committee

15 December 2021

b) The conditions in the report; and
c) The conditions in the Update Report
Was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 8 in Favour; 1 against)
RESOLVED that, subject to: a) The applicant/owner first entering into a planning obligation under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on terms
drafted by the Solicitor to the Council to secure:
 The monitoring of the pedestrian and vehicular movements towards
the installation of the zebra crossing:
b) The conditions in the report; and
c) The conditions in the Update Report
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(2)

P/21/1691/FP - 6 ANGLERS WAY LOWER SWANWICK SO31 7JH

Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(3)

P/21/1720/TO - 230 BOTLEY ROAD BURRIDGE SO31 1BL

Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
consent, subject to the conditions in the report, was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that, subject to the conditions in the report, CONSENT be
granted.
(4)

P/21/1642/VC - 67 THE AVENUE FAREHAM PO14 1PE

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee were advised that Councillor N Gregory, had a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest in this item as he is the owner of the property. He left the
meeting after making his deputation and was not present for the debate or
vote on the application.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to refuse
planning permission, was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that PLANNING PERMISSION be REFUSED.

Page 37

Planning Committee

15 December 2021

Reason for Refusal
The proposal is contrary to Policies DSP2 of the Adopted Local Plan Part 2:
Development Sites and Policies, and is unacceptable in that:
i)

(5)

The proposed variation of Condition 17 of P/18/0260/FP (to enable
unrestricted children numbers in the outdoor play area between the
hours of 10:00-17:30) would be likely to result in unacceptable levels
of noise and disturbance which would have a significant adverse
impact upon the living conditions of occupants of neighbouring
properties.
P/20/1359/FP - LAND TO THE EAST AND WEST OF THE RED LION
HOTEL BATH LANE FAREHAM PO16 0BP

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor Mrs K K Trott addressed the
Committee on this item.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: Amendments to condition no. 2 as follows:
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in accordance
with the following drawings/documents:




















Location plan Drawing 2 A
Overall site plan (including location of affordable housing and cycle
storage details) Drawing no. 3 C
Site plan 1-8 Drawing 4 B
Site plan 9-18 Drawing 5 B
Proposed ground floor plans 1-8 Drawing 6 B
Proposed first floor plans 1-8 Drawing 7 B
Proposed second floor plans 1-8 Drawing 8 A
Proposed ground floor plans 9-18 Drawing 11 C
Proposed first floor plans 9-18 Drawing 12 C
Proposed second floor plans 9-18 Drawings 13 B
Proposed elevations 9-18 Drawing no. 15 C
Proposed roof plans 1-8 Drawing no. 9 A
Proposed roof plans 9-18 Drawing no. 14 A
Proposed streetscenes Drawing no. 16 B
Proposed streetsecnes Drawing no. 17 A
Location of acoustic barriers Drawing no. 18
Survey Report and Management Plan for Japanese Knotweed Report
No. 1962
Highways Report produced by Nick Culhane dated June 2021
(including Drawing no. NJC-001)
Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy ref TB/435064/eg dated 7 th July 2021

REASON: To avoid any doubt over what has been permitted.

Page 38

Planning Committee

15 December 2021

Upon being proposed and seconded, the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission subject to: i) the conditions in the report;
ii) the amended condition 2 in the Update Report,
iii) consideration being given to any comments received from Natural
England relating to the consultation on the Appropriate Assessment;
iv) receipt of the appropriate financial contribution towards the Solent
Recreational Mitigation Partnership Strategy; and
v) completion of a s106 legal agreement to secure a financial contribution
towards off-site affordable housing (of the equivalent to 0.2 dwelling)
was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that subject to: i) the conditions in the report;
ii) the amended condition 2 in the Update Report,
iii) consideration being given to any comments received from Natural
England relating to the consultation on the Appropriate Assessment;
iv) receipt of the appropriate financial contribution towards the Solent
Recreational Mitigation Partnership Strategy; and
v) completion of a s106 legal agreement to secure a financial contribution
towards off-site affordable housing (of the equivalent to 0.2
dwellling).
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(6)

P/20/1080/FP - LAND AT WINNHAM DRIVE (REAR OF 64 AND 66
PORTCHESTER ROAD) FAREHAM PO16 8QJ

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission, subject to the conditions in the report, and an additional
condition to secure the installation of 1.8m fencing along the eastern site
boundary, was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that subject to, the conditions in the report, and an additional
condition to secure the installation of 1.8m fencing along the eastern site
boundary, PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(7)

Planning Appeals

The Committee noted the information in the report.
(8)

UPDATE REPORT

The Update Report was circulated at the meeting and considered along with
the relevant agenda item.

Page 39

Planning Committee

7.

15 December 2021

TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS
The Committee considered the confirmation of the following Fareham Tree
Preservation Order(s), which have been made under delegated powers and to
which no formal objection has been received.
Fareham Tree Preservation Order 770 – 74 Warsash Road, Warsash
Order serviced on 21 May 2021 and covers one individual oak tree, to which
no formal objection has been received.
RESOLVED that Fareham TPO 770 be confirmed, without modification, as
made and served.

(The meeting started at 2.30 pm
and ended at 5.32 pm).

Page 40

Agenda Item 11(2)

Minutes of the
Planning Committee
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Wednesday, 19 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

N J Walker (Chairman)

Councillor

(Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Miss J Bull, T M Cartwright, MBE, P J Davies, M J Ford, JP,
Mrs C L A Hockley, S Dugan (deputising for I Bastable),
Mrs K Mandry (deputising for F Birkett) and Mrs K K Trott
(deputising for R H Price, JP)

Also
Present:

Page 41

Planning Committee

1.

19 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies of absence were received from Councillors I Bastable, F Birkett and
R H Price, JP.

2.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 15
December 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements made at this meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
In accordance with Standing Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct,
Councillor Miss J Bull declared a Personal Interest in item 9 (5) – Brookfield
Community School, as she has a child at this school.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
The Committee received a deputation from the following in respect of the
applications indicated and were thanked accordingly.

Name

Spokesp
erson
represen
ting the
persons
listed

Subject

Supporting
or
Opposing
the
Application

Minute
No/
Application
No/Page No

Dep
Type

BROOK LANE
WARSASH –
RESERVED MATTERS
APPLICATION
RELATING TO LAYOUT,
SCALE, APPEARANCE
AND LANDSCAPING
FOR THE
CONSTRUCTION OF 85
DWELLINGS AND
ASSOCIATED
INFRASTRUCTURE,
OPEN SPACE,
LANDSCAPING AND
OTHER ASSOCITAED
DEVELOPMENT
WORKS, PURSUANT

Supporting

9 (1)
P/19/0313/RM
Pg 44

In
person
3
Minutes

ZONE 1 –
2.30pm

Mr S Packer
(Agent)

Page 42

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

TO OUTLINE PLANING
PERMISSION
P/16/1049/OA
Jeff Nolan, LAND TO THR REAR OF
Dave
274 BOTLEY ROAD
Holland
BURRIDGE –
Andrew &
DISCHARGE OF
Pamela
CONDITIONS
Dinsdale
PURSUANT TO
OUTLINE PLANNING
Mr
S
PERMISSION
Browning
P/17/0257/OA (CHALET
BUNGALOW):
CONDITION 5
(CONSTRUCTION
METHOD PLAN) AND 6
(ARBORICULTURAL
IMPACT ASSESSMENT)
-DITTOMr E Allsop
(Agent)

Mr P Barry
(Agent)

Natalee
Lindsey

Michael Lunn

Toby
Dickenson

Melanie
Lush,
Doreen
Gregson,
Elizabeth
Kirby,
Suzanne
Gillingham

Melanie
Lush,
Doreen
Gregson,
Elizabeth
Kirby,
Suzanne
Gillingham
Melanie
Lush,

Opposing

9 (2)
P/17/0257/DP/A
Pg 63
&
9 (3)
P/20/0507/RM
Pg 72

In
Person
12
Minutes

Supporting

-Ditto-

200 BRIDGE ROAD
SOUTHAMPTON SO31
7ED –
REDEVELOPMENT
COMPRISING 9 NO.
FLATS TOGETHER
WITH ASSOCIATED
WORKS
BROOKFIELD
COMMUNITY SCHOOL
SARISBURY GREEN
SO31 7DU – CREATION
OF 3G ARTIFICIAL
GRASS PITCH (AGP)
WITH PERIMETER
FENCING,
FLOODLIGHTING,
MACADAM
HARDSTANDING
AREAS, STORAGE
CONTAINER & SOIL
BUNDS
-DITTO-

Supporting

9 (4)
P/20/1313/FP
Pg 85

In
Person
6
Minutes
In
Person
3
Minutes

Opposing

6 (5)
P/21/0693/FP
Pg 106

In
Person
2
Minutes

-Ditto-

-Ditto-

In
Person
2
Minutes

-DITTO-

-Ditto-

-Ditto-

In
Person

Page 43

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

Doreen
Gregson,
Elizabeth
Kirby,
Suzanne
Gillingham

2
Minutes

-DITTO-

Supporting

-Ditto-

-DITTO-

-Ditto-

-Ditto-

In
Person
2
Minutes
Written

-DITTO-

-Ditto-

-Ditto-

Written

231A SWANWICK LANE
LOWER SWANWICK –
CHANGE OF USE
FROM A BEAUTY
SALON (SUI GENERIS
USE) TO A BARBER
SHOP (CLASS E USE)
-DITTO-

Supporting

6 (6)
P/21/1738/CU
Pg 132

In
Person
3
Minutes

-Ditto-

-Ditto-

In
person
3
Minutes

Stuart
Parkes
David Rich
Wesley Bugg

Mr Ian West

Mrs Louise
Whitemore

ZONE 2 –
2.30pm
ZONE 3 –
4.30pm

Russell
Grant Say

6.

MEON VIEW FARM OLD
STREET PO14 3HQ –
ERECTION OF FOUR
DWELLINGS
FOLLOWING
DEMOLITION OF
Opposing
EXISTING BUILDINGS
AND CESSATION OF
THE EXISTING
COMMERCIAL VEHICLE
STORAGE USE

6 (7)
P/20/0092/FP
Pg 139

ACTUAL REVENUE EXPENDITURE
The Committee considered a report by the Director of Planning and
Regeneration on the Actual Revenue Expenditure for 2020/21.
RESOLVED that the Committee note the content of the report.

7.

SPENDING PLANS 2022-23
The Committee considered a report by the Director of Planning and
Regeneration on the Spending Plans for 2022-23.

Page 44

Written

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

RESOLVED that the Committee: (i) agrees the revised budget for 2021/22;
(ii) agrees the base budget for 2022/23;
(iii) agrees the revised discretionary planning charges for 2022/23 as set
out at Appendix B; and
(iv) recommends the budget to Full Council for approval.
8.

FIVE YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY POSITION
The Committee considered a report by the Director of Planning and
Regeneration on the Five Year Housing Land Supply Position.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information; The results of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) were published on 14 th
January. The Test Results showed that the number of dwellings delivered over
the preceding 3 years represented 62% of the number required against the
Government’s requirements.
The table below provides a more detailed breakdown of our results, showing
the annual number of dwellings required each year against the actual number
delivered.
2018-19
347

Annual
requirement
No of homes 290
delivered
%
of
requirement
delivered

2019-20
428*

2020-21
342*

Total
1,117

285

117

692
62%

*For years 2019/20 and 2020/21, the Government reduced the need requirement which
authorities were required to meet by 1 month and 4 months respectively in recognition of the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.

When the HDT result falls below 75%, the presumption in favour of sustainable
development must be applied by the Council when deciding planning
applications. In these situations, paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF states that the
authority should grant planning permission unless one of the two scenarios
apply:




the application of polices in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of
particular importance (for example, protected sites, Green Belt, Local
Green Space, AONB or National Park, designated heritage assets or
areas at risk of flooding or coastal change) provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed,
or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the NPPF
taken as a whole.

As the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing land supply,
the Council already applies paragraph 11 d) (known as the ‘tilted balance’)
Page 45

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

when making decisions on planning applications. The publication of the HDT
results do not change how the Council is required to make planning decisions.
The Council is required to continue applying a 20% buffer to the five-year
housing land supply calculations and have an HDT Action Plan. The Council’s
HDT Action Plan was published in June 2021.
The next HDT results are expected around this time next year. It is only on the
publication of a result higher than 75% that the Council can stop applying the
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The Council must achieve
a HDT result of higher than 85% before it can apply a buffer of 5%, rather than
20%, to the five-year housing land supply requirement.
RESOLVED that the Committee: (i) note the content of the report and the current 5-Year Housing Land
Supply position;
(ii) note that the 5-Year Housing Land Supply Position set out in the
attached report (which will be updated regularly as appropriate) is a
material planning consideration in the determination of planning
applications for residential development.
9.

PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
AND
MISCELLANEOUS
INCLUDING AN UPDATE ON PLANNING APPEALS

MATTERS

The Committee noted a report by the Director of Planning and Regeneration
on the development control matters, including information regarding new
appeals and decisions.
(1)

P/19/0313/RM - BROOK LANE WARSASH

The Committee received the deputation referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: Brook Lane
1. Amended plans
Amended plans have been received in response to the highways objection.
The amended plans update the tracking of vehicles on the roads to
demonstrate that cars and refuse vehicles can navigate the site without
encroaching onto the pavement. The amended plans also amend the
proposed surfacing of the roads with areas containing pavements surfaced
with tarmac and the shared surface areas (that is the areas without
pavements) surfaced with block paving.
2. Updated Consultee response
Hampshire County Council Highways have reviewed the amended plans and
have confirmed no objection subject to a condition ensuring the vehicular
access to the south is built to adoptable standards.

Page 46

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

The following comments were also provided:


The shared use area is now clearing defined using block paving
consistently throughout the secondary shared surface street network.
The revised design makes the different intended use of the internal
roads clear to users.



No significant safety concerns are raised at this stage however a Stage
1 Road Safety Audit will be required at the detailed design stage.



The amended tracking shows that all required manoeuvres can be
carried out without overrunning of the footways.



The additional pedestrian link in the south east will improve
connectivity.

3. Additional Representation
An additional objection has been received. The following issues are to be
considered in addition to those summarised in the officer report:










The homes should be carbon neutral
Housing numbers should be reviewed in light of revised central
government housing figures
Access by emergency services may be compromised by congested
roads
Lack of pavements
The site has been allocated as CS12 employment
Loss of trees
The roads are too narrow
The plans may result in anti-social behaviour
Will the flats include adequate sound proofing?

Officer Comment:
-There is no policy requirement for homes to be carbon neutral.
-The principle of development was secured at the outline stage.
-There are shared surface areas where there are no pavements. These areas
have been designed to give priority to pedestrians. The amended plans have
been assessed by HCC Highways who raise no objection.
-The landscaping plan contains details of a number of new trees which will add
to the character of the area. The tree officer has endorsed this proposal.
-The plans have been carefully designed to ensure areas of car parking and
public open space are overlooked to discourage anti-social behaviour.
-The construction of the buildings, including sound proofing would be subject
to Building Regulations.
4. Financial Contributions and Updated Recommendation
Page 47

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

The applicant has now paid the contribution towards the council’s interim
solution regarding the impact of recreational disturbance on the New Forest
and payment of the SRMP contribution is secured within a unilateral legal
agreement. The recommendation is therefore updated as follows:
A) DELEGATE to the Head of Development Management in consultation
with the Solicitor to the Council to consider any comments received
from Natural England relating to the consultation in the Appropriate
Assessment and to make any minor modifications to the proposed
conditions, addition of conditions or any other subsequent minor
changes arising as a result of Natural England’s comments regarding
the Appropriate Assessment
And subject to
B) Completion of an Allocation Agreement to secure nitrate mitigation
credits from Whitewool Farm
then
GRANT RESERVED MATTERS APPROVAL, subject to the conditions in
the officer report, Condition number 1 to be amended as follows to include
amended plans):
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in
accordance with the following drawings/documents:
Location plan Drawing no. 1001 Rev A
Dwelling design pack ref UP00108/DDP/01G
Streetscenes 1 UP0018-08-E-1
Streetscenes 2 UP0018-08-E-2
UP00108-03 Rev L Land Use Plan
UP00108-04 Rev Z (3) Site Layout Plan
UP00108-06 Rev I Materials Distribution Plan
UP00108-07 Rev J Affordable Housing Plan
UP00108-09 Rev I Building Heights Plan
UP00108-10 Rev I Parking Distribution and Refuse Collection Plan
JSL3218_200M Hard Landscape Plans
JS3218_500L Soft Landscape Plans
JS3218_501L Soft Landscape Plans
Page 48

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

JS3218_502L Soft Landscape Plans
JS3218_550G Typical Tree and Shrub Palette
Tree pit detail
Tree Protection and Removal Plan Drawing no. 702 Rev D
5006804-RDG-XX-ST-PL-C-2201 Rev L Refuse Vehicle Tracking and
Refuse Collection Strategy
5006804-RDG-XX-ST-PL-C-2202 Rev D Vehicle Tracking Review
5006804-RDG-XX-ST-PL-C-0701 Rev H Highway widths and radii
5006801-RDG-XX-ST-PL-C-0702 Rev G Section 38 Agreement Plan
RPS Ecology Survey Report ref OXF10206_872
Ecosupport ecology addendum dated June 2021
Lighting Drawing no. 2019_01_18-1-A
Landscape management plan RPS ref JSL 3218
Proposed layout vehicle tracking review Drawing no. RDG XX ST PL C
2201 Rev M
Section 38 agreement plan Drawing no. RDG XX ST PL C 0702 Rev H
REASON: To avoid any doubt over what has been permitted.
The following additional condition to be included (as requested by
Hampshire County Council Highways):
21. The main spine road from Brook Lane to the southern boundary of
the site (between plots 54-57 and 58) shall be designed and built to
adoptable standards and shall be retained in accordance with the
approved details thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the main road through the site is of an appropriate
construction.
Upon being proposed and seconded, the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission, subject to the conditions in the report and the update
report, was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 7 in favour; 2 against)
RESOLVED that, subject to the conditions in the report and the update report,
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.

Page 49

Planning Committee

(2)

19 January 2022

P/17/0257/DP/A - LAND TO THE REAR OF 274 BOTLEY ROAD
BURRIDGE SO31 1BQ

The Committee received the two deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to approve
the details pursuant to Condition 5 (Construction Method Plan) and Condition
6 (Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement), was voted on
and CARRIED.
(Voting: 5 in favour; 4 against)
RESOLVED that the details pursuant to Condition 5 (Construction Method
Plan) and Condition 6 (Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method
Statement) be APPROVED.
(3)

P/20/0507/RM - LAND TO THE REAR OF 274 BOTLEY ROAD
BURRIDGE SO31 1BQ

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: Since the publication of the Committee Report, the Council has received a
response from Natural England to the updated Habitat Regulations
Assessment/Appropriate Assessment. Natural England has raised no
objection, subject to the appropriate mitigation being secured and conditions
imposed.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
reserved matters approval, subject to: a) Regard being given to any representations made by Natural England in
response to the consultation on the Council’s Appropriate Assessment;
and
b) The conditions in the report.
Was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 7 in favour; 2 against)
RESOLVED that subject to: a) Regard being given to any representations made by Natural England in
response to the consultation on the Council’s Appropriate Assessment;
and
b) The conditions in the report.
RESERVED MATTER APPROVAL be granted.
(4)

P/20/1313/FP - 200 BRIDGE ROAD SOUTHAMPTON SO31 7ED

The Committee received the deputation referred to in Minute 5 above.
Page 50

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: 1. Impact on Heritage Assets
The application site is adjacent to the Sarisbury Green Conservation Area.
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF and policy DSP5 state that great weight should be
given to the conservation of designated heritage assets. The report explains
that the proposed development will because of its position, existing vegetation
and the gradient within the site, only be partially visible from the public realm.
Notwithstanding the limited visibility of the development from within the public
realm, the development is considered to be of a high quality of design that will
preserve the character of the Sarisbury Green Conservation Area in
accordance with the NPPF and Policy DSP5.
2. Updated response from Natural England
No objection subject to the proposed mitigation being secured.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission, subject to the conditions in the report, was voted on and
CARRIED.
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that, subject to the conditions in the report, PLANNING
PERMISSION be granted.
(5)

P/21/0693/FP - BROOKFIELD COMMUNITY SCHOOL BROOK LANE
SARISBURY GREEN SO31 7DU

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee Officer read out a statement on behalf of Councillor S D
Martin.
Councillor Miss J bull declared a Personal Interest in this item as she has a
child at this school.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: Representations:
Two further letters of objection have been received:


The 5 sites identified for a 3G pitch through consultation in The
Fareham Borough Playing Pitch Strategy 2020 are:
o Cams Alder Sports Ground
o Fareham Leisure Centre
o Wicor Recreation Ground
o Crofton School
o Seafield Park
Page 51

Planning Committee









19 January 2022

I suggest that these sites were selected through consultation, due to
their suitable locations that will not impose unnecessary disturbance to
local residents.
Brookfield Community School was identified as having opportunities to
improve the grass pitches.
I suggest that the 5 original sites are the best locations for the 3G
pitches and Brookfield Community School is best placed for youth
provision in the form of multiple youth size grass pitches with secured
provision.
Placing the 3G pitch at Brookfield Community School does not meet the
Playing Pitch Strategy, it will cause a noise nuisance to neighbours who
would be exceptionally close to the pitch, even after limiting the
operating hours.
Fareham’s own pitches only open until 8pm presumably to keep the
noise down so why does the school need the pitch till 9pm when that
isn’t suitable for Council-run pitches.

Consultations:
Hampshire County Council (Highways):
 No further comments to make on the amendments.
Environmental Health (Pollution):
 No objection to the amended documents subject to conditions.
Planning Considerations:
The additional third party comments refer to the fact that the site is not
identified in the Playing Pitch Strategy. The five sites listed in the
representation are listed in the Strategy as potential opportunities to address
the identified need; It does not read as an exhaustive list. Furthermore the
Strategy continues, after these opportunities are identified, to refer to the FA
produced Local Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) for Fareham which similarly
concludes on the deficit of Artificial Grass Pitches and lists Brookfield
Community School as an option in the west of the Borough.
The Strategy concludes with recommendations; These recommendations set
out the Brookfield Community School is one location where a pitch could be
provided.
The Environmental Health consultation response to the amended documents
continues to raise no objection subject to:




The pitch closing at 21:00 – as per condition 07;
A restriction on the use of whistles after 20:00 – as per condition 12;
and
That the Noise Management Plan should also, within its review
provisions, provide a mechanism for the school to engage with the
Council on any further noise mitigation measures should it be deemed
necessary in the future as a result of the Review process or the receipt
of complaints.

Page 52

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

As a result of the Environmental Health comments it is considered appropriate
to secure the Noise Management Plan as a standalone document, the subject
of its own condition, rather than as part of the Community Use Agreement
(Condition 11). The recommendation is adjusted accordingly.
Recommendation:
Condition 11 is amended as follows:
11. Prior to first use of the Artificial Grass Pitch a community use
agreement prepared in consultation with Sport England must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The agreement shall apply to the Artificial Grass Pitch, any ancillary
accommodation and the car park, and include details of pricing policy,
hours of use, access by non-educational establishment users,
management responsibilities, a noise management plan and a
mechanism for review. The development shall not be used otherwise
than in strict compliance with the approved agreement.
REASON: To secure well managed safe community access to the
sports facility, to ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport
and to accord with development plan policy.
Additional condition 13 as follows:
13. Prior to first use of the Artificial Grass Pitch a Noise Management
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Noise Management Plan shall include:
o A method to inform users of unacceptable language not being
tolerated and such behaviour will result in users being asked to
leave and even banned;
o A reporting facility for neighbours to report excessive noise or antisocial behaviour to enable complaints to be dealt with quickly;
o Noise investigation processes / action plan so that complaints are
dealt with swiftly;
o A complaints log;
o Maintenance regime to ensure that fence panels do not become
loose and rattle excessively;
o A review mechanism; and
o To engage with the relevant department(s) of the Council on any
further mitigation measures should it be deemed necessary as a
result of the review mechanism or noise complaints received by the
Council.
The development shall not be used otherwise than in strict compliance
with the approved management plan.
REASON: In the interest of the amenity of neighbouring properties.

The Planning Officer also provided the following verbal update: There has been a second meeting held between the school and neighbouring
properties. At this meeting the school gave the undertaking that they would
continue to engage with the neighbours should any further issues arise in the
future.
Page 53

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission, subject to the conditions in report and the update report,
was voted on and declared LOST.
(Voting: 4 in favour; 5 against)
A motion was then proposed and seconded to refuse the application due to
the noise impact of the development on neighbouring properties and the
environmental impact of the rubber crumb used as part of the surface of the
3G pitch, was voted on and declared LOST.
(Voting: 2 in favour; 4 against; 3 abstentions)
A further motion was proposed and seconded to accept the officer
recommendation to grant planning permission, subject to the conditions in the
report and update report, was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 5 in favour; 1 against; 3 abstention)
RESOLVED that, subject to the conditions in the report and update report,
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(6)

P/21/1738/CU - 231A SWANWICK LANE SWANWICK SO31 7GT

The Committee received the deputations referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: Since the publication of the Committee Report, the Council has received a
further comment from a third party relating to concerns about highways safety
along Swanwick Lane.
A further response has been received from Environmental Health who raised
no objections to the proposed development.
Councillor Mrs C L A Hockley left the meeting at the start of this item and was
not present for the debate or vote on this item.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 8 in favour; 0 against)
RESOLVED that PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(7)

P/20/0092/FP - MEON VIEW FARM OLD STREET PO14 3HQ

The Committee received the deputation referred to in Minute 5 above.
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained
the following information: The applicant has now paid the contribution towards the council’s interim
solution regarding the impact of recreational disturbance on the New Forest.
The recommendation is therefore updated as follows:
Page 54

Planning Committee

19 January 2022

GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, subject to
i) The following conditions;

Councillor Mrs C L A Hockley had left the meeting before this item was
considered and was not present for the debate or vote on the application.
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant
planning permission, subject to the conditions in the report and the update
report, was voted on and CARRIED.
(Voting: 5 in favour; 4 against – The Chairman used his casting vote and
supported the Officer recommendation following the Committee being tied at 4
in favour and 4 against the proposal.)
RESOLVED that, subject to the conditions in the report and update report,
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted.
(8)

Planning Appeals

The Committee noted the information in the report.
(9)

UPDATE REPORT

The Update Report was circulated at the meeting and considered along with
the relevant agenda item.
(The meeting started at 2.30 pm
and ended at 7.52 pm).

Page 55

Agenda Item 11(3)

Minutes of the
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs
Committee
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

M J Ford, JP (Chairman)

Councillor

T M Cartwright, MBE (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

I Bastable, Mrs S M Bayford, Mrs P M Bryant, T Davies,
Mrs P Hayre, Mrs J Kelly, Ms S Pankhurst, Mrs K K Trott,
Mrs S M Walker and J S Forrest (deputising for R H Price, JP)

Also
Present:

Page 57

Licensing and Regulatory
Affairs Committee

1.

25 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J M Englefield, L
Keeble and R H Price, JP.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs
Committee held on 23 November 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct
record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairman announced that he was pleased to confirm that following the
submission of the Council Size report to the Local Government Boundary
Commission as part of the Electoral Review work, the Commission has agreed
to the Council’s suggestion of 32 Elected Members for Fareham Borough
Council. The next phase of the Electoral Review has now begun, and the
consultation is open until 4 April for comments and suggestions on warding
arrangements for the Borough. A link to the Commission’s consultation has
been added to the Council’s website consultation page and the page includes
an interactive map for reviewing existing warding arrangements and creating
new proposals.
The Chairman reported that he had been advised by the Head of Democratic
Services that plans are being created to gather thoughts and opinions from
Members on the new warding arrangements and a draft proposal will be put
together on behalf of the Council which will be submitted as part of the
consultation. Members are welcome to submit their own views via the
consultation pages if they so wish.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

ACTUAL REVENUE EXPENDITURE 2020/21
The Committee received a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer which
detailed the actual revenue expenditure for 2020/21 in respect of the services
for which the Committee is responsible.
In response to a query raised by members in respect of the actuals figures for
2020/21 as outlined on pages 10 and 14 of the report pack it was confirmed
that the figure of £873 should read as ‘Premises Related Expenditure’ not
‘Transport Related Expenditure’. This should then mean that the two
Premises figures added together equal the -£1,522 as shown in the table at
paragraph 1 on page 10 of the report. A copy of the revised table shown at
page 14 of the agenda pack is attached to these minutes as Appendix A.
Page 58

Licensing and Regulatory
Affairs Committee

25 January 2022

In response to a query raised by members in respect of the credit figure of
minus £2,395 for elections Premises Related Expenditure on page 14, it was
confirmed that this relates to a number of refunds received from polling station
bookings made for the May 2019 elections which were later cancelled due to
the elections being postponed.
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee notes the
content of the report.
7.

SPENDING PLANS 2022/23
The Committee considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer
which detailed the overall level of revenue spending on the Committee’s
services and sought agreement for the revised revenue budget for 2021/22
and the base budget for 2022/23 before being recommended to Council for
approval.
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee:
(a) agrees the revised budget for 2021/22;
(b) agrees the base budgets for 2022/23; and
(c) recommends the budget to Council for approval.

8.

FEES AND CHARGES 2022/23
The Committee considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer
which detailed the level of Fees and Charges for the Committee’s services and
sought agreement for them before being recommended to Council for
approval.
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee:
(a) agrees the Fees and Charges for 2022/23; and
(b) recommends the Fees and Charges to Council for approval.

9.

GAMBLING - REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health
which presented the revised draft Gambling Statement of Principles, together
with Consultation responses, for approval and recommendation to the
Executive before being presented to Council for adoption.
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee;
(a) considered the draft document, any amendments resulting from the
statutory consultation exercise and whether any substantive
amendments are required; and

Page 59

Licensing and Regulatory
Affairs Committee

25 January 2022

(b) recommends to the Executive that the final draft Gambling Act 2005
Statement of Principles 2022-2025, as attached as Appendix A to the
report, be recommended for adoption by the Council.
10.

PRELIMINARY REVIEW OF COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22
AND DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health
which detailed the position in respect of the Committee’s existing Work
Programme for the current year in order to allow an early assessment of
progress. It also gave background information to assist members in drawing
up the Work Programme for 2022/23.
At the request of members, it was agreed that the item entitled ‘Review of Taxi
and Private Hire Licensing requirements’, scheduled for consideration at the
next meeting, should include an opportunity for members to view the training
that is given to taxi drivers to help them assist disabled passengers.
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee:
(a) notes the progress on actions arising from the meeting of the
Committee held on 23 November 2021, attached as Appendix A to the
report;
(b) agrees that, having reviewed the Work Programme for 2021/22,
attached as Appendix B to the report, the item entitled ‘Review of Taxi
and Private Hire Licensing requirements’, scheduled for consideration
at the next meeting, should include an opportunity for members to view
the training that is given to taxi drivers to help them assist disabled
passengers; and
(c) gave initial consideration to the draft Work Programme for 2022/23,
attached as Appendix C to the report.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.32 pm).

Page 60

Agenda Item 12(1)

Minutes of the
Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Tuesday, 11 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Mrs C L A Hockley (Chairman)

Councillor

Mrs L E Clubley (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Mrs S M Bayford, M J Ford, JP, Mrs K K Trott and
Miss T G Harper

Also
Present:

Page 61

Leisure and Community
Scrutiny Panel

1.

11 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
No apologies of absence were received at the meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel
meeting held on the 18 October 2021 be signed and confirmed as a correct
record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements made by the Chairman.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

ONE COMMUNITY
The Chairman welcomed Hayley Hamlett, Fareham One Community Manager
and Debra Clothier, One Community Chief Executive, who had been invited by
the Panel following a scoping report which had been agreed by Members.
The presentation allowed the Panel to scrutinise the services provided by One
Community across the Borough and to provide details how the funds received
from Fareham Borough Council as part of the Service Level Agreement (SLA)
have been utilized to benefit the Borough’s voluntary and community groups
and organisations.
The presentation, which is appended to these Minutes, provided a
comprehensive overview of the One Community services. The Panel agreed
that the objectives set out in the scoping report had been answered and
thanked One Community for an excellent presentation.
The Chairman commented on the outstanding work that has been carried out
by volunteers and charities, including One Community, during the Covid-19
pandemic. It has been an incredibly challenging time, but the spirit of Fareham
residents has been remarkable.
RESOLVED that the Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel note the contents
of the presentation.

Page 62

Leisure and Community
Scrutiny Panel

7.

11 January 2022

Y-SERVICES
The Panel received a report by Y-Services providing answers to questions set
out in the scoping report agreed by Members at the 29 September 2021
Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel meeting.
At the agreement of the Chairman Y-Services were not required attend the
meeting in person, as they had recently attended a Panel meeting in March
2021. A report, set out as Appendix A was instead prepared by Y-Services for
Members of the Panel.
Members asked that it be noted that Y-Services also attend the One
Community shop within the Fareham Shopping Centre weekly. This
information had not been included within the Y-Services report.
RESOLVED that the Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel note the contents
of the Y-Services report at Appendix A.

8.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
(1)

Review and Community Buildings

No comments were received.
(2)

Community Fund Application - 1st Warsash Sea Scout

No comments were received.
(3)

The Falklands 40th Anniversary Proposals

No comments were received.
9.

LEISURE AND COMMUNITY SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
The Chairman invited Members of the Panel to consider the Leisure and
Community Scrutiny Priorities.
RESOLVED that the Leisure and Community Scrutiny Panel considered the
Leisure and Community Scrutiny Priorities.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 7.07 pm).

Page 63

Agenda Item 12(2)

Minutes of the
Health and Public Protection Scrutiny
Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Tuesday, 18 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Miss J Bull (Chairman)

Councillor

Ms S Pankhurst (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Mrs P M Bryant, Mrs T L Ellis, J M Englefield, Miss T G Harper
and G Kelly

Also
Present:

Councillor T M Cartwright, MBE, Executive Member for Health
and Public Protection

Page 65

Health
and
Public
Protection Scrutiny Panel

1.

18 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence received at this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
An amendment to the minutes of the meeting held on 18 August 2021 was
agreed to note that apologies were received from Councillor G Kelly.
RESOLVED that, subject to the amendment above, the minutes of the meeting
of the Health and Public Protection Scrutiny Panel held on 18 August 2021 be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OR ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
Councillor J M Englefield declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of item 7
as he works for the NHS.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
(1)

Draft Agreement with English Heritage regarding charging at the
Council's Portchester Castle car parks

There were no questions or comments for clarification in respect of this item.
7.

EXECUTIVE MEMBER UPDATE
Councillor J M Englefield declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of this
item as he works for the NHS.
The Panel received a verbal update from Councillor T M Cartwright MBE, the
Executive Member for Health and Public Protection, on matters relating to the
Health and Public Protection portfolio.
Local Health Matters
Councillor Cartwright reported that the position with local health matters
appears to be rather dismal at the moment with no improvement in tackling
ongoing issues. Disappointingly, Covid-19 is being used as an excuse for the
lack of progress. Sovereign Healthcare is the biggest concern at present, with
unacceptable levels of service being reported by many residents. Meetings
that were arranged in January and February to consider how improvements
can be made have all now been postponed until March. Councillor Cartwright
Page 66

Health
and
Public
Protection Scrutiny Panel

18 January 2022

reported that he has received a letter from Sarah Tiller, Associate Director for
Community and Engagement for the Fareham & Gosport Clinic
Commissioning Group (CCG) which talks about the support that the CCG is
providing to Sovereign Healthcare and reports that they believe the practice is
showing dedication in trying to move forward.
Councillor Cartwright advised the Panel that he would be attending the
Portsmouth City Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting on
Thursday. The agenda includes updates from the Portsmouth Hospital
University Trust, the Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust and Public
Health.
Councillor Cartwright gave an update on the South Central Ambulance
Service, reporting that Sir Keith Willett has been appointed as the new
Chairman of the Service. Councillor Cartwright was sad to report that the
Service has received over 2,000 Hoax calls over the last 2 years.
Police and Crime Panel
Councillor Cartwright advised that Jason Kenney, the old District Commander
for Fareham & Gosport has been appointed as the Chief Executive of the
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. Mark Lewis, the current District
Commander, will be leaving Fareham & Gosport to take up a Superintendent
role in charge of the Response Team in Hampshire. A replacement District
Commander appointment has yet to be made.
The Police and Crime Panel has asked to see baseline police officer figures
since 2010 in order to verify whether the promised increase in numbers is
being achieved. Councillor Cartwright was pleased to report that base line
numbers are indeed increasing and are currently ahead of requirements. The
Police and Crime Panel intends to ensure that this continues to be the case.
Councillor Cartwright advised members that there had recently been a series
of thefts from cars in the Fareham area and was pleased to report that a local
man was arrested on the 9th January this year and is now serving a 4-month
custodial sentence.
At the instigation of the new Police and Crime Commissioner, Hampshire
Constabulary has been renamed as Hampshire and Isle of Wight
Constabulary. There has not been any active re-branding and changes will
take place over time to avoid any costs.
Councillor Cartwright advised that the next meeting of the Police and Crime
Panel will be held on Friday 28 January and that the precept for 2022/23 will
be discussed. The consultation process has been completed in order that the
Commissioner can request the maximum increase, and this is likely to be
awarded.
Applications for grants from the Safer Communities Fund for 2022/23 have
been received and there are 12 applications in this area, 3 of which will be
supported by Fareham’s Community Safety Manager as they are very helpful
to the Community Safety Partnership.
Page 67

Health
and
Public
Protection Scrutiny Panel

18 January 2022

RESOLVED that Councillor Cartwright, Executive Member for Health and
Public Protection, be thanked for providing the update.
8.

AVAILABILITY OF BURIAL PLOTS IN THE COUNCIL'S CEMETERIES
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor T M Cartwright, MBE addressed
the Panel on this item.
The Panel received a presentation by the Head of Streetscene which outlined
the availability of burial plots in the Council’s cemeteries. A copy of the
presentation is attached to these minutes as Appendix A.
Members raised concern that the new community at Welborne will erode the
current provision at Wickham Road cemetery much more quickly than
expected as there is no provision for burial plots made within the Welborne
plans. As there is nothing in Planning Regulations that requires burial plot
provision, it was agreed that this may be something to be considered further.
RESOLVED that having considered the presentation and asked questions for
clarification, the Health and Public Protection Scrutiny Panel notes the content
of the presentation.

9.

HEALTH AND PUBLIC PROTECTION SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
In considering the Scrutiny Priorities for the Panel, it was agreed that a
representative from the Portchester Crematorium be invited to attend the next
meeting of the Panel to provide members with the opportunity to scrutinise
how the Crematorium will move towards achieving zero carbon and to assess
the level of resilience at the Crematorium in maintaining services if one of the
burners malfunctions. The Panel agreed that the Director of Leisure and
Community be authorised to complete the scoping report for inclusion in the
invitation to the Crematorium so that as much notice as possible can be
provided.
RESOLVED that the Health and Public Protection Scrutiny Panel agrees that:
(a) the Director of Leisure and Community be authorised to prepare a
scoping report based on the items outlined above; and
(b) a representative of the Portchester Crematorium be invited to the next
meeting of the Panel to answer the points raised on the scoping report.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 7.15 pm).

Page 68

Agenda Item 12(3)

Minutes of the
Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Thursday, 20 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Mrs S M Bayford (Chairman)

Councillor

N J Walker (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Miss J Bull, M R Daniells, Miss T G Harper, Mrs C L A Hockley
and G Kelly

Also
Present:

Councillor S D T Woodward, Executive Member for Policy and
Resources

Page 69

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

1.

Resources

20 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies of absence.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel held
on 6 October 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements made at this meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTION
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME & CAPITAL STRATEGY 2022-23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022-23.
Councillor Kelly enquired as to whether any of the Council’s commercial
tenants have had issues paying their rent as a result of the Pandemic. The
Finance Manager acknowledged that the Pandemic had left some tenants in
difficulties and that the Council is working with them to minimise any impact for
the Council, and that they would continue to closely monitor them.
Councillor Walker enquired as to whether the Council’s Commercial Assets
have been affected by the Pandemic. The Finance Manager confirmed that by
the end of 2021 the nominal value of the Council’s commercial investment
portfolio had dropped, but she explained that the actual value of an investment
isn’t known until the point of sale, and that it is expected for values to fluctuate
over time.
RESOLVED that the Panel request that the Executive note the Panel’s
comments above, at its meeting on 7 February 2022.

7.

FEES AND CHARGES 2022-23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Fees and Charges for 2022-23.
Councillor Miss Bull enquired as to whether there were any proposed
increases to the Coastal Parking Charges that were introduced last year. The
Finance Manger confirmed that for 2022-23 there are no proposed changes to
these. He explained that the scheme was being monitored and it was not
Page 70

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

Resources

20 January 2022

possible to understand the overall financial position for these charges until
they have been in operation for a full year, at which point he anticipated a
review could take place to inform the budget setting process for the following
financial year.
RESOLVED that the Panel request that the Executive note their comments
above, at its meeting on 7 February 2022.
8.

FINANCE STRATEGY, REVENUE BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX 2022-23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Finance Strategy, Revenue Budget and Council Tax 2022-23.
Councillor Mrs Bayford enquired about the Council’s need to put money into
the reserves and commented that some residents have identified that this
adding to the current shortfall. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer explained
that the revenue contributions to capital funding is used to replace Council
vehicles, IT equipment, park facilities and bus shelters and without these
reserves the Council would not be able to undertake these necessary
purchases when they are needed. He also explained that in relation to the
future forecast surplus of capital resources, this is not guaranteed and it is
important that the Council put money aside for when it may be needed in the
future.
Members also asked questions about the new Garden Waste collection
service, and that there have been comments made about the profit that the
Council will be making from it. The Panel were advised that while sone
individual activities may make surpluses, the Council is unable to make a profit
from its broader discretionary service portfolio. The income from garden waste
forms part of the broader range of services for the Streetscene portfolio and
that this income can be used across any services within that area.
RESOLVED that the Panel request that the Executive note the comments
above, at its meeting on 7 February 2022.

9.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET AND CAPITAL PLANS 2022-23
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
Housing Revenue Account Budget and Capital Plans 2022-23.
RESOLVED that the Panel recommends that the Executive endorses the
recommendations in report, at it is meeting on 7 February 2022.

10.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
The Panel considered the Executive items of business which falls under the
remit of the Policy and Resources Portfolio, including Executive Member
decisions and Officer delegated decisions, that have taken place since the last
meeting of the Panel on 6 October 2021.
The Panel considered the decisions at items 10(1) to 10(17) of the agenda.

Page 71

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

Resources

20 January 2022

RESOLVED that the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel considered the
following items of Executive Business.
(1)

The Council's Approach to the Pandemic - A Review

No comments were received.
(2)

Agency Staff Recruitment

No comments were received.
(3)

Citizens of Honour Award - Special Group Achievement Category

No comments were received.
(4)

Citizens of Honour Award Scheme - Special Achievement Category

No comments were received.
(5)

Covid Heroes Award Nominations

No comments were received.
(6)

Disposal of Trinity Street Public Conveniences

No comments were received.
(7)

Proposal for a New Way of Working

No comments were received.
(8)

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 and Local
Service Agreements 2020-2021

No comments were received.
(9)

Medium Term Finance Strategy

No comments were received.
(10)

Irrecoverable Debts

No comments were received.
(11)

Finance Monitoring Report 2021-22

No comments were received.
(12)

Treasury Management and Capital Monitoring Report 2021-22

No comments were received.

Page 72

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

(13)

Resources

20 January 2022

Virtual Briefing Meetings

No comments were received.
(14)

Fees and Charges 2022-23

No comments were received.
(15)

Finance Strategy, Revenue Budget & Council Tax 2022-23

No comments were received.
(16)

Member IT Review

No comments were received.
(17)

Welborne Delivery - Disposal of Residential Property

No comments were received.
11.

SCRUTINY PRIORITIES
The Deputy Chief Executive Officer addressed the Panel on this item and
confirmed the items that had been previously agreed upon that will be coming
forward to the next meeting of the Panel. He offered Members the opportunity
the put forward any new suggestions of items that the Panel would like to add
to the priorities.
No suggestions were put forward.

(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.44 pm).

Page 73

Agenda Item 12(4)

Minutes of the
Climate Change Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 24 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Mrs T L Ellis (Chairman)

Councillor

Ms S Pankhurst (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

M R Daniells, T Davies, J S Forrest, N R Gregory and
Mrs J Kelly

Also
Present:

Page 75

Climate Change Scrutiny
Panel

1.

24 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies of absence received at the meeting from Panel
Members.
Councillor S Martin, Executive Member for Planning and Development
tendered apologies.

2.

MINUTES
It was AGREED that the Minutes of the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel held
on the 12 October 2022 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairman made no announcements at the meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
A written deputation was received from Anne Stephenson for items 6, 7, 8, 9
and 10.
At the agreement of the Chairman, the relevant sections of the written
statement were read out as appropriate at each agenda item.

6.

CLIMATE CHANGE UPDATE
The Panel received the deputation as referred to at Minute 5 above.
The Panel received a presentation from the Policy, Engagement and Research
Manager providing an overview of the main areas of progress that have been
made since the last meeting. The presentation included the projected potential
carbon savings from current projects, feedback from the recent Senior
Managers’ Workshop and an overview of the carbon footprint calculation for
the whole of the Borough. A copy of the presentation is appended to these
Minutes.
Members enquired about the size of the potential opportunity for a Solar Farm
at Hook tip and how this compared with Solar Farms in the Borough. Officers
confirmed that the Hook site is smaller. Officers agreed to provide Members
with accurate data on how the sizes compare outside of the meeting.
Members also enquired about the proposed switch to a Renewable Electricity
Tariff by the Council specifically around what guarantees are offered by the
energy provider in the terms of this type of tariff. Officers agreed to look into
this further and provide this information to Panel Members in due course.
Page 76

Climate Change Scrutiny
Panel

24 January 2022

RESOLVED that the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel note the contents of the
presentation.
7.

ENVIRONMENTAL UPGRADES TO THE COUNCIL HOUSING STOCK
The Panel received the deputation as referred to at Minute 5 above.
The Panel received a presentation from the Housing Policy and Development
Officer detailing the progress that the Housing team has made in making its
housing stock more environmentally friendly. A copy of the presentation is
appended to these Minutes.
Members enquired as to the percentage of Council houses that are registered
as EPC (energy performance certificate) E or lower. Officers explained that
EPC ratings are not available on all properties as this the certificate is only
obtained on vacant properties and some Council houses have not been empty
for many years. The Housing Policy and Development Officer agreed to
analysis that data that is available and provide this to Members for information.
RESOLVED that the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel note the contents of the
presentation.

8.

SUSTAINABLE WARMTH SCHEME OVERVIEW
The Panel received the deputation as referred to at Minute 5 above.
The Panel received a presentation from the Policy, Engagement and Research
Manager providing an overview of the Sustainable Warmth Scheme, including
the role the Council has and details on how residents can apply for funding.
RESOLVED that the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel note the contents of the
presentation.

9.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
The Panel received the deputation as referred to at Minute 5 above.
There were no items of Executive Business for the Panel to consider.
The Director of Planning and Regeneration addressed the Panel to remind
members that the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel sits within the Planning &
Development executive portfolio. All relevant decisions pertaining to the
Climate Change Action Plan (performance, monitoring, review and updates)
would therefore be brought directly to this Panel for scrutiny.
However, Officers will additionally ensure that all Executive decisions relating
to projects associated with the delivery of the Climate Change Action Plan, for
example the recent Executive decision - Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO)
Fuel Pilot, will be highlighted to Members of the Panel within the presentation
update at each meeting of the Panel. This will allow Panel Members to
discuss these topics by way of an update, rather than in a formal scrutiny role
which will be the function of other Scrutiny Panels.
Page 77

Climate Change Scrutiny
Panel

10.

24 January 2022

CLIMATE CHANGE SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
The Panel received the deputation as referred to at Minute 5 above.
The Chairman asked Members of the Panel to consider the scrutiny priorities
for the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel.
Members asked that Officers consider the impact that the real Christmas Tree
collection service has on the Council’s carbon footprint and if this could be
brought to the Panel by way of an update. Officers explained that this matter is
already being explored by the Streetscene Service. Once the data has been
gathered this will be brought to the Panel through a Climate Change Action
Plan Update as appropriate.
Members enquired about the Solent Airport’s progress on reducing its carbon
footprint and asked that further details be brought to the Panel. The Director of
Planning and Regeneration explained that the Council is in active dialogue
with RCA (Regional City Airports) who run the Solent Airport on their plans to
reduce their carbon footprint. The Daedalus Scrutiny Panel will receive
updates and officers will include this through a Climate Change Action Plan
Update as appropriate.
RESOLVED that the Climate Change Scrutiny Panel considered the priorities
for the Panel.
(The meeting started at 6.03 pm
and ended at 7.58 pm).

Page 78

Agenda Item 12(5)

Minutes of the
Streetscene Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Thursday, 27 January 2022

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Miss T G Harper (Chairman)

Councillor

Mrs L E Clubley (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Mrs T L Ellis, Mrs P Hayre, L Keeble, Mrs K Mandry and
R H Price, JP

Also
Present:

Councillors M J Ford, JP, Mrs C L A Hockley, Ms S Pankhurst,
Mrs K K Trott and I Bastable

Page 79

Streetscene Scrutiny Panel

1.

27 January 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence given at this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Streetscene Scrutiny Panel meeting held
on 18 November 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairman announced that she attended the meeting of the Health and
Public Protection Scrutiny Panel held on 18 January 2022 where an item on
the agenda provided a presentation which outlined the provision of burial plots
in the Council’s cemeteries. A copy of the slides for the presentation have
been forwarded to all members of the panel for information.
The Chairman also welcomed members of the Leisure and Community
Scrutiny Panel who were in attendance for item 7 on the agenda.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
(1)

Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) Fuel Pilot

There were no questions or comments in respect of this item.
7.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC ON THE HIRE OF SPORTS PITCHES
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillors Mrs Hockley, Mrs Trott and Ms
Pankhurst addressed the Panel on this item.
The Panel received a presentation by the Public Spaces Operations Manager
which provided members with an overview of the impact of the Covid-19
pandemic on the hire of Council owned sports pitches across the Borough and
the effect on bookings since the return to normal of pitch hire availability. The
presentation also provided members with information on the recently adopted
Playing Pitch Strategy. A copy of the presentation is attached to these minutes
as Appendix A.
Members discussed the possibility of providing facilities for additional types of
sport, such as athletics, cycling and petanqe. The Public Spaces Operations
Manager advised that additional facilities can be considered but would be

Page 80

Streetscene Scrutiny Panel

27 January 2022

subject to community demand, the availability of suitable land and the
appropriate level of funding being available.
Members also discussed the Section 106 contributions that developers often
make in lieu of providing sporting facilities as part of a new planning
application. Concerns were raised that even if funding is provided to meet the
increased demand for facilities, the Council does not have large areas of land
that it can make available to provide them.
The construction of 3G sports pitches in the Borough was discussed by the
Panel and concerns were raised in respect of the impact the plastic material
used in their construction may have on the environment. The potential
environmental impact of any new facilities on Fareham Borough Council land
will be considered as part of any proposals brought forward to the Executive
for decision.
RESOLVED that the Streetscene Scrutiny Panel notes the content of the
presentation.
8.

STREETSCENE SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
Members considered and discussed the scrutiny priorities for the Streetscene
Panel and noted that at the next meeting there would be a presentation to
provide an update on the roll out of the new Garden Waste Strategy. There
will also be information and discussion on the implications of the new
Environment Bill.
RESOLVED that the Priorities for the Streetscene Scrutiny Panel be noted.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 7.05 pm).

Page 81

Agenda Item 12(6)

Minutes of the
Planning and Development Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Tuesday, 1 February 2022

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

M R Daniells (Chairman)

Councillor

(Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

T Davies, J S Forrest, L Keeble, N J Walker and Mrs T L Ellis
(deputising for P J Davies)

Also
Present:

S D Martin

Page 83

Planning and Development
Scrutiny Panel

1.

1 February 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Davies and N
Gregory.

2.

MINUTES
With reference to item 6 on the agenda of the previous minutes, members
enquired whether there has been any response to the letters that the Council
has sent to Central Government relating to the advice provided by Natural
England in respect of recreational disturbance on the New Forest. The
Director of Planning and Regeneration confirmed that a response has recently
been received and would be made available to all members of the Panel.
It was noted that on page 6 of the agenda pack, the final sentence of item 6
should read ‘The pragmatic solution that has been developed’, not
‘development’.
Subject to the amendment above, it was RESOLVED that the Minutes of the
Planning and Development Scrutiny Panel meeting held on the 25 November
2021 be signed and confirmed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements made by the Chairman.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations received from Members of the Panel.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations received at this meeting.

6.

PLANNING STRATEGY UPDATE - PRESENTATION
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor S D Martin, Executive Member for
Planning and Development, addressed the Panel on this item.
The Panel received a presentation from the Head of Planning Strategy and
Economic Development on prevailing planning strategy matters, including the
Local Plan examination, the latest Authority Monitoring report and
Infrastructure Funding Statement 2020/21. A copy of the presentation is
attached to these minutes as Appendix A.
There was a discussion about the number of environmental mitigation
schemes affecting development in the Borough and concerns were expressed
by some Panel Members about the impact of multiple schemes on the viability
pf development and house prices. The Director of Planning and Regeneration
provided reassurance about the degree to which viability concerns are
assessed at a plan making stage and can be taken into account in the setting
Page 84

Planning and Development
Scrutiny Panel

1 February 2022

of policy, for example affordable housing levels. Councillor Martin addressed
the Panel, at the invitation of the Chairman, and offered Panel Members the
view that the need to find environmental mitigation solutions was both a
product of the value of Fareham’s natural environment on a national scale, but
also can result in the protection of more land for nature in perpetuity.
During the discussion on the Housing Delivery Test and the suggestion that
empty properties should be included in its calculation, it was agreed that the
Head of Planning Strategy and Economic Development would investigate to
see if it was possible to determine the number of empty properties across the
Borough.
RESOLVED that the Planning and Development Scrutiny Panel notes the
contents of the presentation.
7.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
(1)

Fareham Borough Solent Waders and Brent Geese Mitigation
Solution

There were no questions or comments for clarification in respect of this item.
(2)

Implications of Natural England advice on New Forest Recreational
Disturbance

With reference to the suggestion within the report of further survey evidence
about the impact from residents of Fareham recreating in the New Forest,
members enquired whether there had been any progress. The Head of
Planning Strategy and Economic Development confirmed that this was being
taken forward.
(3)

Council Owned Trees - Ash Dieback Disease

In response to discussion regarding whether the programme of tree work and
felling from Ash Dieback will include provision for planting replacement trees,
the Director of Planning and Regeneration confirmed appropriate opportunities
for replanting will be undertaken as part of the programme of work, with the
costs met from existing budgets.
8.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
Members of the Panel were invited to consider the Scrutiny Priorities for the
Planning and Development Scrutiny Panel.
In discussing the Scrutiny Priorities, it was confirmed that an item will be
brought to the first meeting of the Panel in the new municipal year which will
provide members with an update on Coastal Management work, including
advice on prevailing sea level rise projections as previously requested by
Councillor Walker.
In response to a request that an update be provided in respect of the
Hampshire County Council funding bid to Central Government to help improve
Page 85

Planning and Development
Scrutiny Panel

1 February 2022

transport facilities, it was agreed that if an opportunity arises, an invitation will
be issued to the County Council to attend and advise the Panel accordingly.
RESOLVED that the Panel considered the Scrutiny Priorities for the Planning
and Development Scrutiny Panel.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 7.50 pm).

Page 86

Agenda Item 12(7)

Minutes of the
Housing Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Thursday, 3 February 2022

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Mrs K Mandry (Chairman)

Councillor

(Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

S Dugan, Mrs C L A Hockley, Ms S Pankhurst, Mrs K K Trott
and Mrs L E Clubley (deputising for N R Gregory)

Also
Present:

Councillor Mrs T L Ellis

Page 87

Housing Scrutiny Panel

1.

3 February 2022

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Fazackarley and
Councillor Gregory.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Panel
held on 28 October 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
(1)

Fareham Borough Council Shared Ownership Policy

There were no comments or questions for clarification in respect of this item.
(2)

Fareham Housing Disposals at 12 Hartlands and development of
land adjacent to 51 Bellfield

There were no comments or questions for clarification in respect of this item.
(3)

Local Authority Delivery 2 (LAD2) Funding Scheme for energy
efficiency measures to Council homes - Update

There were no comments or questions for clarification in respect of this item.
(4)

Fareham Borough Council Interim First Homes Policy

There were no questions or comments for clarification in respect of this item.
(5)

Conversion works at 92 Gordon Road, 1 Arundel Drive and 1A
Arundel Drive

A query was raised in respect of this item with regard to proposed use of the
property acquired by the Council at 92 Gordon Road. It was noted that this
would be clarified at item 7 on the agenda which would provide an update on
Housing delivery.
7.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING UPDATE
Page 88

Housing Scrutiny Panel

3 February 2022

The Panel received a presentation by the Head of Housing Delivery which
provided members with an update on progress with Fareham Housing sites
and other relevant strategic housing matters. A copy of the presentation slides
is attached to these minutes as Appendix A.
The Head of Housing Delivery clarified that the recently acquired property at
Gordon Road will provide emergency accommodation for individuals/families
who become unexpectedly homeless and who need temporary
accommodation whilst alternative arrangements can be made. It is not
intended to be used to house rough sleepers.
The Head of Housing Delivery provided information about a review of the
Housing Register which will shortly be complete. The review is intended to
ensure the information held on the Housing Register is up to date. At this
stage it is expected to show a significant reduction (from approximately 1,000
to 650) in households on the Register. As a result of this there is expected to
be a review of the Affordable Housing Strategy during 2022/23 to reflect
updated information around need.
Concerns were raised by the Panel that the rising cost of living may push
many people into fuel poverty which could result in an increase in demand for
Council owned accommodation due to people losing their homes.
Members thanked the Head of Housing Delivery for a very interesting and
informative presentation.
RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel notes the content of the
presentation.
8.

DRAFT HOMELESSNESS
ADOPTION

AND

ROUGH

SLEEPING

STRATEGY

-

At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor Mrs T L Ellis addressed the Panel
on this item.
The Panel received a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer which
presented the Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and
accompanying Delivery Plan for members consideration following completion
of a period of public consultation. The report set out the key findings of the
consultation and asked that the Panel consider the Strategy prior to referral to
the Executive at its forthcoming meeting on 07 March 2022.
Members raised concern that there may be an increase in homelessness and
rough sleeping as a result of people losing their homes through fuel poverty
and the rising cost of living. The Head of Housing and Benefits advised that
the Delivery Plan aims to assess data to provide an understanding of future
needs so that a more strategic approach can be taken to ensure people in
need ask for assistance at an early stage so that they can be signposted to
organisations who can help. The Panel discussed the need to ensure that
services and assistance are well publicised and suggested that in addition to

Page 89

Housing Scrutiny Panel

3 February 2022

information being provided on the website, Council noticeboards and local
community hubs could be used to raise awareness of help that is available.
RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel:
(a) considered the Draft Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy
attached at Appendix B to the report;
(b) considered the Draft Delivery Plan attached at Appendix C to the report;
and
(c) recommends to the Executive that they adopt the Draft Homelessness
& Rough Sleeping Strategy and Draft Delivery Plan at their forthcoming
meeting on 07 March 2022.
9.

TENANCY MANAGEMENT, REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE OF COUNCILOWNED PROPERTIES
Councillor Mrs L E Clubley left the meeting at the start of this item.
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor Mrs T L Ellis addressed the Panel
on this item.
An addendum was tabled at the meeting to provide revised figures at Table 2:
Disabled Modifications/Adaptations by Year as provided on page 83 of the
agenda pack.
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer which
provided members with information about the housing management and
maintenance services provided by the Neighbourhood Team and the Repairs
and Maintenance Team.
Councillor Mrs K K Trott asked that it be put on record that the Council is lucky
to have such a caring and empathic Housing Team which recognises the
difficulties that people face and works very hard to achieve excellent results.
RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel notes the content of the report.

10.

UPDATE ON PROGRESS WITH MAKING COUNCIL-OWNED HOMES
MORE ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor Mrs T L Ellis addressed the Panel
on this item.
The Panel received a presentation which provided an update on progress
made in respect of making Council-owned properties more environmentally
friendly. A copy of the presentation slides is attached to these minutes as
Appendix B.
Members thanked officers for a very interesting and informative presentation.
RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel notes the content of the report.

Page 90

Housing Scrutiny Panel

11.

3 February 2022

HOUSING SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
Members considered and discussed the Scrutiny Priorities for the Panel and
agreed that an update be provided later in the year to see what progress has
been made with the Greening Campaign.
RESOLVED that, subject to the addition of the item outlined above, the
priorities for the Housing Scrutiny Panel be agreed.
(The meeting started at 6.01 pm
and ended at 7.30 pm).

Page 91

Agenda Item 15(2)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 February 2022
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:
Report of:

Finance Strategy, Capital Programme, Revenue
Budget and Council Tax 22-23
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priorities:

A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report seeks final confirmation of the recommendations to be made to Council,
on 25 February 2022, in respect of the revenue budget, capital programme and
council tax for 2022/23.

Executive summary:
On 10 January 2022, the Executive reviewed the Council’s overall finance strategy
and considered proposals relating to the revenue budgets and the council tax for
2022/23. This report updates the Council’s budgets to reflect the decisions taken
and other known changes since 10 January 2022.
The capital programme for the years 2021/22 to 2025/26 will be £44,990,900.
The revenue budget for 2022/23 will be £10,788,000. With retained business rates
and grants estimated to be £3,117,262 and a payment to the collection fund of
£39,398, the total amount due from the council tax payers will be £7,710,136.
Taking these changes into consideration, the council tax for 2022/23 will be £175.22
per Band D property. This represents an increase of £5 per year from the council tax
set for 2021/22 but would be within the referendum limit set by the Government.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
It is recommended that the Executive approves and recommends to the meeting of
the Council to be held on 25 February 2022:
(a) the capital programme and financing of £44,990,900;
(b) an overall revised revenue budget for 2021/22 of £10,494,800;
(c)

a revenue budget for 2022/23 of £10,788,000;

Page 93

(d) a council tax for Fareham Borough Council for 2022/23 of £175.22 per band
D property, which represents a £5.00 per year increase when compared to
the current year and is within referendum limits; and
(e) an unchanged Council Tax Support scheme for 2022/23.

Reason:
To allow the Council to approve the Council Tax for 2022/23.

Cost of proposals:
Not applicable

Appendices:

A: Overall Total Budget for 2022/23

Background papers: None

Reference papers:

None

Page 94

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

07 February 2022

Subject:
Briefing by:

Finance Strategy, Capital Programme, Revenue Budget and Council
Tax 2022/23
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1.

On 10 January 2022 the Executive reviewed the Council’s overall finance
strategy and considered proposals relating to:
 The revised revenue budget for 2021/22;
 Fees and charges for 2022/23;
 The revenue budget for 2022/23; and
 The council tax for 2022/23.

2.

The purpose of this report is to update the Council’s spending plans to take
account of the decisions taken by the Executive in relation to these various
issues.

THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 TO 2025/26
3.

The capital programme for the General Fund for the period 2021/22 to 2025/26 is
being reported elsewhere on this agenda as part of the Capital Strategy Report
and totals £44,990,900.

4.

The updated programme is shown in the following table:
£000s
40
437
18,513
3,774
684
21,543
44,991

Health and Public Protection
Streetscene
Leisure and Community
Housing
Planning and Development
Policy and Resources
TOTAL

Page 95

5.

It is anticipated that the programme will be financed from the following sources:
£000s
1,354
16,951
4,435
3,561
18,690
44,991

Capital Receipts
Grants and Contributions
Capital Reserves
Revenue
Borrowing
TOTAL
6.

The programme and projected resources indicate that, by 31 March 2026, there
could be a small surplus of capital resources of £6 million, which represents a
contingency of 13% on the overall capital programme.

7.

Importantly, the surplus assumes an estimate of future capital receipts as well as
continued revenue contributions towards capital investment, totalling £16 million.
In the event that these resources do not materialise, the programme will become
partly unfunded.

REVISED BUDGET 2021/22
8.

In January, the Executive considered in detail the revised budget for 2021/22,
which totalled £10,494,800 which is £222,900 higher when compared to the base
budget for the current year. However, to achieve this figure there is a contribution
from reserves (£404,200) and COVID grants (£1,179,000) from central
government totalling almost £1.6million.

SERVICE BUDGETS 2022/23
9.

The following table shows the service budgets resulting from the decisions of the
Executive on 10 January 2022.
Base Budget
2022/23
£
574,400
439,500

Committees
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs
Planning
Executive - Portfolio Budgets
- Leisure and Community
- Housing
- Planning and Development
- Policy and Resources
- Health and Public Protection
- Streetscene

-17,500
2,083,000
1,636,600
44,400
662,400
4,897,400

Accounting Adjustments in Service Portfolios
SERVICE BUDGETS

3,147,200
13,467,400

Page 96

OTHER BUDGETS 2022/23
10. Following decisions made at the January Executive and further information being
available a minor change has been made to the Other Budgets total which will
now be -£2,679,400.
THE OVERALL BUDGET POSITION FOR 2022/23
11. Taking account of the information referred to in the preceding paragraphs, the
overall total budget for 2022/23, detailed in Appendix A, is confirmed as
£10,788,000 which is £516,100 above the base budget for 2021/22.
12. Although the situation with COVID-19 remains unclear going into the new
financial year it is anticipated that there will be no further support from central
government relating to the pandemic.
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE SETTLEMENT AND GOVERNMENT SUPPORT
13. The Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 16 December
2021 and confirmed that it would again be a one year settlement for 2022/23.
14. The statement also announced the Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG) which was
new for 2021/22 would continue for another year into 2022/23 albeit without an
increase to the grant. There would also be a one-off services grant that together
with the LTSG will be worth around £219,500 to Fareham next financial year.
15. In the Local Government Finance Settlement 2021 the referendum limits for local
authorities were set out and council tax increases that exceed 2% would trigger a
referendum. However, the government has also allowed shire districts to raise
their council tax by a maximum of £5 when compared to the previous level,
before a referendum is triggered.
16. As this settlement was for one year only there remains the details of the Fair
Funding Review which as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic has been delayed
further until at least 2023/24. With the outcome of this review unclear, it is
important that the Council continues to identify and secure cash-releasing
efficiencies each year in order to maintain the high level of service currently
provided and continue to achieve its corporate priority to minimise council tax
increases.
SPENDING RESERVE
17. The spending reserve exists to cover unforeseen changes in revenue
expenditure.
18. The current balance on the reserve stands at £5,987,800 which is £3,569,800
over the minimum required balance of 5% of Gross Expenditure as set out in the
approved Medium Term Finance Strategy.
19. It is important to note that due to the COVID-19 pandemic the revised budget for
2021/22(£404,000) and base budget for 2022/23(£1,103,100) will require some
of the surplus to be used to offset the additional cost to the council of the
pandemic.
Page 97

20. As well as the requirement to use reserves to balance the budget for 2022/23,
the Finance Strategy covers the period through to 2025/26 and is showing a
projected shortfall of £1.1m in the final 3 years of the strategy that could use a
further proportion of the remainder of the surplus leaving a balance of £962,700.
21. There remains the unknown of the finance position after the outcome of the Fair
Funding Review so any further use of reserves must be carefully considered.
COUNCIL TAX AND NATIONAL NON-DOMETIC RATE BASE
22. The council tax base for 2022/23 is 44,002.6 Band D equivalent properties.
23. The net rates payable from National Non-Domestic Rates for 2022/23 (after
Transitional arrangements and reliefs) is £41,196,636.
COUNCIL TAX FOR 2022/23
24. With a net budget for 2022/23 of £10,788,000 and government funding of
£3,117,262 along with a contribution to the collection fund of £39,398 this will
leave an amount due from council tax payers of £7,710,136. This is shown in the
following table:

Base
Budget
2021/22
£
10,271,900

Base
Budget
2022/23
£
10,788,000

Variation
£
516,100

-2,731,105

-3,117,262

-386,157

-84,393
7,456,402
43,804.5

39,398
7,710,136
44,002.6

123,791
+253,734

Council Tax (Band D)

£170.22

£175.22

Cash Increase (per year)

+ £5.00

+ £5.00

Total Budget
Less:
Government Funding
Collection Fund deficit
Total due from Council Tax Payers
Council Tax base

25. The proposed council tax increase is within government referendum limits.
26. The proposed council tax of £175.22 is for Band D properties only and the
Fareham element of the council tax for all bands is shown in the table below:

Page 98

2021/22

2022/23

Increase

Band A

£113.48

£116.81

£3.33

Band B

£132.39

£136.28

£3.89

Band C

£151.31

£155.75

£4.44

Band D

£170.22

£175.22

£5.00

Band E

£208.05

£214.16

£6.11

Band F

£245.87

£253.10

£7.23

Band G

£283.70

£292.03

£8.33

Band H

£340.44

£350.44

£10.00

27. The overall income from taxpayers of £7,710,136 represents approximately 16%
of the gross revenue budget for the council for 2021/22 of £46.7million.
ASSURANCE STATEMENT BY THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (CFO)
28. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 states that when the Council sets a
budget for the forthcoming financial year, the CFO must report to the authority on
the robustness of the budgets and the adequacy of the financial reserves.
29. The CFO is able to confirm that the Council’s co-ordinated finance strategy
allows the availability of resources to finance both capital and revenue
expenditure to be considered at the same time. It provides the necessary
flexibility to allow resources to be allocated to both capital and revenue and this
has enabled the delivery of balanced budgets for both capital and revenue.
30. The CFO can also confirm the robustness of the approved budgets and therefore
major variations in expenditure and income are not anticipated. However, a risk
assessment has been carried out to highlight the impact of possible variations in
the level of expenditure and income and by maintaining the spending reserve at a
minimum of 5% of gross expenditure, resources should be in place to meet any
variations that cannot be met from within the Council’s overall budget.
COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT 2022/23
31. Legislation requires that Local Council Tax Support schemes are considered by
Full Council on an annual basis even if no major changes are to be made. In
previous years and following public consultation, the Council has agreed and
implemented a scheme based on the following principles:


Every working-age claimant should pay something towards their council tax

Page 99



The amount of Council Tax Support to be capped to a Band C for those
claimants living in larger properties



All non-dependents (such as adult sons or daughters living in the claimant’s
property) should pay something towards the household’s council tax bill



Provide additional financial support to the most vulnerable claimants (such as
those receiving a War Pension or who are severely disabled)

32. For 2022/23, it is proposed to retain these key principles and to administer an
unchanged scheme.
33. There are currently 3,941 households in the borough receiving Council Tax
Support. The caseload and expenditure for the current financial year can be seen
below:
Number of claimants

Cost of Council Tax Support

Pension-age caseload

1801

£1,929,008

Working-age caseload
(vulnerable group)

974

£1,085,104

Working-age caseload
(employed)

209

£109,072

Working-age caseload (not
employed)

957

£804,379

Total

3941

£3,927,563

*In receipt of an out-of-work benefit such as Job Seekers Allowance, Income Support or Universal Credit

34. It is anticipated that an unchanged Council Tax Support scheme for 2022/23,
which provides the same level of assistance and protection to claimants as the
current scheme, will continue to be contained within available resources.
RISK ASSESSMENT
35. While all spending plans can be met from within existing resources including use
of reserves, growing financial pressures increase the risk that spending plans
exceed desirable levels.
36. With the Fair Funding review being delayed until the 2023/24 financial year the
future funding support for Fareham remains uncertain. Any changes as a result of
the review and the Business Rate Reset are very likely to affect the Council's
finances and it remains an important part of the overall Medium Term Finance
Strategy to retain sufficient balances to cater for the unexpected in these
uncertain times.
37. The council will continue to explore opportunities to increase income sources for
the Council as well as review other opportunity plans in order that balanced
budgets can be made in future years.
Page 100

CONCLUSION
38. In making a recommendation to Council on the council tax for 2022/23, the
Executive has evaluated the Council’s overall financial position in relation to
existing commitments, the level of resources(including reserves) and the
projected financial position in the future; not just the overall budget position for
next year.
Enquiries: For further information on this report please contact Neil Wood. (Ext 4506)

Page 101

APPENDIX A
ACTUAL REVENUE BUDGET
Budget
2021/22
£

Revised
2021/22
£

Budget
2022/23
£

Committees
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs
Planning
Executive - Portfolio Budgets
- Leisure and Community
- Housing
- Planning and Development
- Policy and Resources
- Health and Public Protection
- Streetscene

552,700
482,000

479,800
854,800

574,400
439,500

1,641,400
1,856,500
1,659,500
-705,100
557,100
5,399,300

851,000
1,800,100
1,588,900
-1,007,900
818,000
5,603,200

-17,500
2,083,000
1,636,600
44,400
662,400
4,897,400

Accounting Adjustments in Service Portfolios

3,249,300

3,147,200

3,147,200

SERVICE BUDGETS

14,692,700

14,135,100

13,467,400

Capital Charges
Direct Revenue Funding
Minimum Revenue Position
Bad Debt Provision
Interest on Balances
Portchester Crematorium Contribution
New Homes Bonus
Contribution from Reserves
OTHER BUDGETS

-3,466,100
1,475,000
1,315,300
300,000
-695,700
-165,000
-239,800
-378,000
-1,854,300

-3,385,900
1,475,000
1,132,300
300,000
-695,700
-170,000
-239,800
-473,000
-2,057,100

-3,385,900
1,475,000
1,490,900
150,000
-678,800
-170,000
-108,800
-1,451,800
-2,679,400

BUDGET TOTAL before COVID Funding

12,838,400

12,078,000

10,788,000

Funding From Reserves and COVID Grants

-2,566,500

-1,583,200

0

NET BUDGET

10,271,900

10,494,800

10,788,000

Page 102

NET BUDGET

Budget
2021/22
£

Revised
2021/22
£

Budget
2022/23
£

10,271,900

10,494,800

10,788,000

153,700
2,577,405
0
2,731,105

153,700
2,800,305
0
2,954,005

219,500
2,897,762
0
3,117,262

-84,393

-84,393

39,398

7,456,402

7,456,402

7,710,136

EXTERNAL SUPPORT
Lower Tier Services Grant
Non-Domestic Rates
Revenue Support Grant

COLLECTION FUND BALANCE
AMOUNT DUE FROM COUNCIL TAX
PAYERS
COUNCIL TAX BASE

43,804.5

44,002.6

COUNCIL TAX PER BAND D PROPERTY

£170.22

£175.22

CASH INCREASE(per year)

£5.00

£5.00

PERCENTAGE INCREASE

3.22%

2.94%

Page 103

Agenda Item 16

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 February 2022
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Housing Revenue Account 2022/23

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priorities:

Providing Housing Choices

Purpose:
This report seeks Executive approval for the revised budget for the Housing
Revenue Account for 2021/22, the base budgets and rent increases for 2022/23.

Executive summary:
The Executive recommended, and the Council approved, in February 2021, the
base budget and rent increase for 2021/22, for Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
services.
This report sets out some revisions to the Housing Revenue Account revised budget
for 2021/22 and base budget for 2022/23 along with the capital programme and
financing for the years 2021/22 to 2025/26. The report examines the issues
affecting the Housing Revenue Account including rent changes with effect from 1
April 2022.
Council budgets are susceptible to change in the level of expenditure and income
caused by factors inside and outside the Council’s control. A risk assessment has
been carried out to indicate the effect on housing balances of changes in the level of
expenditure and income. This can be used to estimate the account balances
needed to provide a prudent level of reserves and a working balance.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
It is recommended that the Executive approves and recommends to the meeting of
the Council to be held on 25 February 2022 that:
(a) rents be approved for Council Dwellings as set out in paragraph 23 with
effect from 1 April 2022;

Page 105

(b) rents for Council garages be increased by 3.8% with effect from 1 April 2022;
(c) the revised budget for 2021/22 be approved; and
(d) the base budget for 2022/23 be approved.

Reason:
To allow the Council to approve the Housing Revenue Account budgets for 2022/23.

Cost of proposals:
As detailed in the report.

Appendices:

A: Capital Programme and Financing
B: Examples of Rent
C: Fees and Charges
D: Detailed Revenue Budgets

Background papers: None

Reference papers:
(a) Executive 1 February 2021 – Housing Revenue Account 2021/22
(b) Executive 7 June 2021 – Town Centre Property Acquisition
(c) Executive 5 July 2021 – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Outturn
2020/21
(d) Executive 7 December 2021 – Local Authority Delivery phase 2 (LAD2)
Funding Scheme for energy efficiency measures to Council Homes – Update
(e) Executive 7 December 2021 – Fareham Housing Disposal at 12 Hartlands
Road and development of land adjacent to 51 Bellfield
(f) Executive 10 January 2022 – Finance Strategy, Capital Programme, Revenue
Budget and Council Tax – Appendix A Medium Term Finance Strategy
(g) MHCLG - Guidance on Rents for Social Housing February 2019

Page 106

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

07 February 2022

Subject:

Housing Revenue Account 2022/23

Briefing by:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

1.

This report brings together the revenue and capital spending plans for the Housing
Revenue Account for 2021/22 and 2022/23 for the Executive to consider. On 10
January 2022, the Executive approved the Council’s Finance Strategy for 2022/23 and
later years. The budget guidelines contained within the Strategy have been used as a
basis for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) spending plans along with Rent
Standard 2019 and the Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing from 1 April 2020
onwards.

2.

Work to configure the Civica housing system is well underway with testing currently
being undertaken for system rollout over the coming financial year.

3.

Together these have informed revisions to the 2022/23 revenue and capital budgets
and those for future financial years as part of Business Planning for the HRA.
CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.

The five-year capital programme has been updated and is summarised in the following
table. More details of the capital schemes and its financing can be found in Appendix A.
Year
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Total

£’000
6,762
7,898
5,587
4,320
4,250
28,817

5.

The capital programme was included in the Capital Strategy that was approved at the
10 January 2022 Executive.

6.

During the current financial year, the major scheme of 18 new flats at Highlands Road
was completed in July 2021. A tender process has been completed for 16 new
sheltered housing flats at Station Road; and for 11 houses for Shared Ownership at

Page 107

Stubbington Lane. Although start of construction works on site has been delayed due to
delays arising from the Highway S278 Agreement completion by Hampshire County
Council works commenced at Station Road in December 2021. It is anticipated that
work at Stubbington Lane will be underway by February 2022.
7.

Tender preparation / feasibility work is being undertaken for two new houses at Queens
Road and a new house at both Crossfell Walk and Bellfield, along with nine new
affordable home ownership flats on the former Coldeast Scout Hut site on Montefiore
Drive.

8.

There are currently three further development sites as set out in the table below. These
have been reported to the Executive and approved in principle for further feasibility and
preliminary actions to be undertaken before final schemes and the appropriate funding
sources are presented for approval. Consultation with residents is well underway at
Assheton Court and will inform further work on this development.
Site
Assheton Court redevelopment (Portchester)
Sheltered housing scheme to provide 60 – 70 sheltered flats
Wynton Way (Fareham North West)
Menin House regeneration (Fareham North West)

9.

In addition to the capital programme approved in January, town centre property
acquisitions for housing were approved at the 7 June 2021 Executive. These have
been included in the HRA and General Fund Capital programmes and will be financed
by existing Housing Capital Receipts and a small contribution from the Capital
Development Fund.

10. The financing of the capital programme is from the Major Repairs Reserve, Housing
Capital Receipts, Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay, the Capital Housing
Development Fund and 1-4-1 capital receipts from Right to Buy sales and borrowing.
The most appropriate form of borrowing will be established by the Council’s Finance
Team in consultation with the Deputy Chief Executive Officer in order to fund the
development schemes at Stubbington Lane, Station Road and the former Scout Hut
site, Montefiore Drive, Park Gate.
11. In addition to these internal resources, grant bids of £484,000 have been approved by
Homes England in respect of the Stubbington Lane development (£44,000 per shared
ownership property) and £172,000 (£86,000 per social rent property) in respect of the
Queens Road development. A grant bid for the 9 flats for Shared Ownership flats at the
former Coldeast Scout Hut site on Montefiore Drive is in the process of being prepared
and will be submitted at the earliest opportunity.
12. Future developed design reports will detail estimated cost and funding arrangements
along with the process toward the appointment of an appropriate contractor. New build
Fareham Housing homes could be funded from a combination of the following: a)
b)
c)
d)

Capital Development Fund
Right to Buy initial receipts and Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts;
Other Housing Capital receipts (not combined with Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts)
Section 106 monies for the purpose of affordable housing provision; (not
combined with Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts)
e) Homes England grant funding (not combined with Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts);
and/or
Page 108

f) Additional borrowing on the Housing Revenue Account.
13. Although the opportunity for borrowing to enable future development is positive there
needs to be caution highlighted. Any additional debt will need to be serviced without
undermining the financial stability of the Council’s HRA. Careful consideration of the
borrowing implications along with flexibility in how the various funding sources are used
will be required.
14. At its meetings of the 11 October and 7 December 2021, the Executive discussed the
LAD2 funding opportunity to improve Council owned homes. LAD2 is the second phase
of the Government Local Authority Delivery scheme. The intention of LAD is to improve
the household energy efficiency for those on low incomes. The funding and contract
mechanisms were also approved at this meeting to enable the Council to improve the
energy efficiency in more if its housing stock.
15. The LAD2 scheme stipulates that the Council will be required to contribute towards
improvement costs. This contribution will typically be up to £5,000 or 1/3 of the works,
per property. The Executive has approved a total budget of £500,000 to contribute
towards the costs of the scheme, over the next 2-3 financial years to ensure this funding
opportunity can be utilised. This also allows for a small contingency / flexibility to best
use the grant opportunity available. This cost to the HRA will utilise existing budgets for
improvements to Council stock rather than any new budgetary provision. In many
instances it will allow us to access grant funding toward work that would have already
fallen within our planned maintenance programme.
REVENUE BUDGETS
16. The following table summarises the Housing Revenue Account base and revised
budgets for 2021/22, and the base budget for 2022/23. A more detailed breakdown is
provided in Appendix D.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Base
Budget
2021/22
£’000

Revised
Budget
2021/22
£’000

Base
Budget
2022/23
£’000

Income

-12,353

-12,510

-12,983

Tenancy Management & Running Costs

3,515

3,724

3,825

Net Interest

1,697

1,697

1,697

1,140
-6,001

1,140
-5,949

1,140
-6,321

2,600

2,784

2,818

2,706

2,765

3,103

695

400

400

0

0

0

Transfer to Debt Repayment Fund
Revenue Repairs Expenditure
Depreciation set aside into the Major Repairs
Reserve
Revenue Contribution to Capital Programme

Transfer to(-)/from HRA Reserve

17. The income budget has been increased to reflect proposed increases in rent and
service charges. Changes in circumstances and financial stability for some of our
tenants continue to impact on rent being paid, however, the Housing Rents Arrears
Officer works closely with customers and in the year to date the level of arrears has
largely remained constant. Service Charge actuals have been completed for 2020/21
and were slightly higher than budgeted, this additional income has been included in the
revised budget for 2021/22 as these are realised.
Page 109

18. Within Tenancy Management and Running Costs increases have been made for
employee costs and for communal heating and lighting costs. A budget provision has
also been made to reflect the overlap of housing systems as we move to full reliance on
a new system.
19. The property repairs and maintenance area has seen a return to operations at full
capacity and efforts have been made to address backlogs where they have arisen. A
budget increase for this area is proposed to reflect the employment costs of our building
maintenance team as well as higher costs that our suppliers face and that are inevitably
passed on to us.
20. The Revenue Contribution to Capital programme budget has been reduced as we do
not anticipate such a high number of former council homes being bought back in the
current financial year.
21. The proposed budgets also include a clear set aside of reserves to repay the £49 million
housing debt taken on in 2012 when the government changed the national subsidy
scheme to a self-financing scheme. These loans become repayable in 30 to 39 years.
22. A summary of all the reserves projected to the end of 2021/22 is set out below:

Reserve

Purpose of Reserve

HRA Revenue
Reserve

To fund unexpected
operating costs
To fund any
exceptional demands
upon expenditure

Exceptional
Expenditure Reserve
Debt Repayment
Fund

2020/21
Closing
Balance
£’000

2021/22
Transfers
In
£’000

2021/22
Transfers
Out
£'000

2021/22
Closing
Balance
£'000

579

0

0

579

1,500

0

0

1,500

4,560

1,140

0

5,700

361

0

0

361

7,000

1,140

0

8,140

2,318

2,765

2,760

2,323

1,285

0

748

537

1,539

0

600

939

12,142

3,905

4,108

11,939

To repay debt

To fund major repairs
on blocks containing
leasehold properties
Total Revenue Reserves
To fund capital
Major Repairs
expenditure on HRA
Reserve
assets
Housing Capital
To fund new
Development Fund
developments
To fund 40% of costs
of new acquisitions
1:4:1 Receipts
and Station Road
development
Leaseholder Reserve

Total Reserves

RENTS
23. In February 2019, after a consultation exercise, the Government issued a Direction to
the Rent Standard 2019 along with a Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing from
1 April 2020 onwards. This permits annual rent increases on both general needs and
sheltered housing properties at social and affordable rent of up to CPI (at September of
the previous year) + 1 percentage point from April 2020 for a period of at least five
years. This rent charge increase will also continue to apply to shared-ownership
properties. This means the Council is now able to increase rents, with CPI being at
Page 110

3.1% in September 2021 and an increase of 4.1% to be achieved from April 2022
24. Rents for Council garages are not covered by the Government’s Direction applying to
dwellings, but a similar principle is applied. It is proposed that garage rents for 2022/23
increase by 50p per week (3.8%) slightly below that of rent increases.
25. Examples of proposed rents can be seen in Appendix B and the effect on the total rents
collected can be seen in Appendix D.
FEES AND CHARGES
26. The current fees and charges for the HRA and the charges for 2022/23, approved at the
10 January 2022 Executive, are set out in Appendix C.
27. The statutory charge is subject to the control and advice of Government. The current
level of charge has been set at the maximum allowed.
RISK ASSESSMENT
28. The following list of potential risks indicates that it is essential to preserve the account
balance held for the Housing Revenue Account. Reserves are held so the Council can:







Continue to manage and maintain homes
Improve and redevelop estates
Cover any unexpected expenditure
Take advantage of new opportunities to meet housing needs
Repay the debt
Meet the challenges of any change in Government policy

29. Key risks include changes to the rent policy, an increase in arrears, and other increases
in void properties and in the cost of repairs. In particular, if the Government amend their
current rent policy so that rents will reduce post 2022, this will put further pressure on
the HRA finances.
Examples of Potential and Actual Changes

Change in rent policy to decrease rents by 1% beyond
2023
Loss of income if void rate rises to 5% from 4%
Increase of 10% on supplies and service costs
Increase of 10% in the depreciation charge
Increase on rent arrears by 10%
Increase of 20% in cost of responsive repairs

Effect on
Expenditure
in Year
£’000

Effect on
Income in
Year
£’000
122
122

46
270
60
520

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Caroline Hancock (Ext 4589)

Page 111

APPENDIX A
CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND FINANCING
Housing Capital Programme
Improvements to Existing
Stock
Improvements

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£

£

£

£

£

1,842,000

2,000,000

2,193,200

2,210,000

2,400,000

Voids

643,000

719,000

720,200

798,000

800,000

Modifications

275,000

281,000

286,600

292,000

300,000

750,000

750,000

750,000

Vehicles

40,000

Acquisitions and New Builds
Acquisitions
New Build – Highlands Road
New Build – Station Road
New Build – Assheton Court

1,247,000

500,000

540,000

537,000

1,000,000

1,149,000

423,000

100,000

100,000

1,000,000

1,072,000

378,000

New Build – Queens Road

50,000

514,000

105,000

New Build – Crossfell Walk

15,000

255,000

New Build – Coldeast Scout Hut

50,000

731,000

731,000

270,000

6,762,000

7,898,000

5,587,000

4,320,000

4,250,000

-2,760,000

-3,000,000

-3,200,000

-3,300,000

-3,500,000

New Build – Stubbington Lane

TOTAL CAPITAL
EXPENDITURE
Funded by:
Improvements to Existing
Stock
Major Repairs Reserve
Vehicles – RCCO
Acquisitions and New Builds

-40,000

RCCO

-400,000

-400,000

-450,000

-450,000

-450,000

1-4-1 Capital Receipts

-600,000

-660,000

-469,000

-300,000

-300,000

Capital Receipts

-612,000

-255,000

Capital Development Fund

-748,000

-537,000

Homes England Grants

-306,000

-764,000

-37,000

-50,000

-342,000

-105,000

Borrowing – Station Road

-600,000

-689,000

-254,000

Borrowing – Stubbington Lane
Borrowing – Coldeast Scout Hut
TOTAL FUNDING

-686,000

-830,000

-378,000

-6,762,000

-381,000
-7,898,000

-694,000
-5,587,000

Other Grants and Contributions

Page 112

-270,000

-4,320,000

-4,250,000

APPENDIX B
HRA EXAMPLES OF RENT

2021/22
Actual
Rent £

2022/23
Proposed
Rent £

Change
per week
£

84.85
110.21
103.57
92.43

88.33
114.73
107.82
96.22

3.48
4.52
4.25
3.79

Change
per
week
%
4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1

82.8

86.19

3.39

4.1

89.67

93.35

3.68

4.1

107.41

111.81

4.40

4.1

93.63

97.47

3.84

4.1

122.74

127.77

5.03

4.1

Average for total stock

93.43

97.26

3.83

4.1

Garages

13.20

13.70

0.50

3.8%

Property
Type
Rose Court
Grebe Close
Collingwood Court
Foxbury Grove
Garden Court
Sicily House
Fairfield Avenue
Churchill Close
Jubilee Court

1 Bed Flat
2 Bed Bungalow
1 Bed Flat
2 Bed Flat
1 Bed
Maisonette
2 Bed
Maisonette
3 Bed House
3 Bed House
(shared owner)
4 Bed House

Page 113

APPENDIX C
FEES AND CHARGES
Notes

Fee
2021/22
£

Fee
2022/23
£

% Increase

Sales of Council Houses
Maximum legal and administration fees
in connection with granting a service
charge loan

Statutory Charge

100.00

100.00

NIL

Recharge of Officer time in agreeing
any consent to freeholders

Fee per occurrence

100.00

100.00

NIL

50.00

50.00

NIL

Repairs to Council Houses
Abortive visit by Officer, Surveyor or
Tradesman

Charge per visit

Rechargeable works

These will be assessed individually at the time the work is carried out.

Sheltered Accommodation for the Elderly – Guest Room Charges
Single occupancy per night

Inclusive of VAT

10.00

10.40

4.0

Per couple per night

Inclusive of VAT

15.00

15.60

4.0

Collingwood Court per room

Inclusive of VAT

25.00

26.00

4.0

Sylvan Court per room

Inclusive of VAT

25.00

26.00

4.0

5.20
8.35

5.40
8.70

4.0
4.2

0.65
0.55

0.70
0.60

7.7
9.1

Sheltered Accommodation for the Elderly – Other Charges
Keys – Key
Keys – Fob

Inclusive of VAT

Wash Cards (where applicable)
Wash
Dry

Inclusive of VAT

Page 114

APPENDIX D
DETAILED REVENUE BUDGET
Base
2021/22
£’000

Revised
2021/22
£’000

Base
2022/23
£’000

-10,766
-331
-20
-643
-185
-114
-61
-233
-12,353

-10,918
-335
-20
-628
-172
-120
-41
-276
-12,510

-11,332
-348
-20
-632
-185
-126
-61
-279
-12,983

1,853
69
83
20
115
35
186
240
235
544
50
50
35
3,515

1,982
74
78
20
130
45
206
240
267
547
50
50
35
3,724

2,047
76
88
20
145
55
186
242
267
564
50
50
35
3,825

Long Term Debt Management
Interest Payable
Interest Earned on Internal Balances
Transfer to Debt Repayment Fund

1,795
-98
1,140

1,817
-120
1,140

1,817
-120
1,140

Property Repairs and Maintenance
Revenue Repairs Expenditure
Depreciation
Revenue Contribution to Capital Programme

2,600
2,706
1,278

2,784
2,765
1,148

2,818
2,826
937

Contribution from Capital Development Fund
Surplus(-)/Deficit for Year

-583
0

-748
0

-537
-277

Income
Rents – Dwellings
Rents – Garages
Rents – Other
Service Charges (Wardens, Extra Assistance, Heating)
Cleaning
Grounds Maintenance
Other Fees and Charges
Leaseholder Service Charges and Insurance
Expenditure
Tenancy Management & Running Costs
General Administrative Expenses
Corporate and Democratic Core
Corporate Management
Corporate Management
Communal Heating Services
Communal Lighting
Rents, Rates and Other Taxes
Communal Cleaning
Grounds Maintenance
Sheltered Housing Service
Bad Debts Provision
Bad Debts Written off
Debt Management Expenses

Page 115

Agenda Item 17

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 February 2022
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priorities:

A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report considers the draft Treasury Management Strategy and Investment
Strategy for 2022/23, prior to its submission to the Council for approval.

Executive summary:
Regulations require the Council to prepare and formally approve both an annual
Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy. The document for
2022/23 is attached as Appendix A to this report for consideration by the Executive
before being submitted to Council for approval. There have been no significant
changes proposed to the strategies.
CIPFA published revised versions of its Treasury Management Code of Practice
and the Prudential Code in late December 2021. Due to the late publications,
CIPFA recognises that changes may not be fully implemented until 2023/24 due to
the lead-in time to produce the strategy. Therefore, this strategy is based on the
2017 version of both Codes.
In the past 12 months, the Council’s investment balance has ranged between £16
million and £25 million and similar levels are expected to be maintained in the
forthcoming year. The majority of the Council’s investments is expected to be
invested in short-term unsecured bank deposits and money market funds with
approximately £16 million available for longer-term investment.
Borrowing levels are expected to increase to a projected £72.7 million at the end of
2022/23 to fund the capital programme. The Council has previously raised all of its
long-term borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) but will consider
long-term loans from other sources. PWLB loans are no longer available to local
authorities planning to buy investment assets primarily for yield.
Recognising the Council’s commitment to climate change mitigation, a new
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Policy identifying investment
considerations has been added.

Page 117

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the Executive:
(a) endorses the draft Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy
for 2022/23, attached as Appendix A to this report; and
(b) agrees to submit the report to Council for approval.

Reason:
In accordance with the Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public
Services and guidance from the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG), the Treasury Management Strategy and Investment
Strategy have to be approved by full Council.

Cost of proposals:
Not applicable

Appendices:

A: Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy 2022/23

Background papers: None

Reference papers:
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice for
Treasury Management in the Public Services 2017
CIPFA The Prudential Code 2017
Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments issued under section 15(1)(a) of the
Local Government Act 2003 from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG)
Template for Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy 2022/23 provided by
Arlingclose (the Council’s Treasury Advisers)

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Caroline Hancock (Ext 4589)

Page 118

APPENDIX A


TREASURY MANAGEMENT
STRATEGY
AND
INVESTMENT STRATEGY
2022/23

Borrowing

Page 119

Lending

Page 120

INTRODUCTION
WHAT IS TREASURY MANAGEMENT?
1.

Treasury Management is defined as:
The management of the organisation’s cash flows, its banking, money
market and capital market transactions;
the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.

2.

The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during
the year will meet its cash expenditure. There are two aspects to the treasury
management service:
a) To ensure the cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available
when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or
instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing
adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.
b) To ensure the cash flow meets the Council’s capital plans. These capital plans
provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council. Essentially this is the
longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital
spending requirements. The management of longer term cash may involve
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses.
On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council
risk or cost objectives.

CONTENT OF THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT STRATEGIES
3.

These strategies set out the expected approach to treasury management and
investment activities for 2022/23. It covers two main areas:

Treasury
Management

Investment
Strategy

• Investments
• Borrowing
• Treasury Indicators
• Interest Rate Forecast

• Commercial Investments
• Investment Indicators
• Capacity and Skills

Page 121

4.

The content of the Strategies is designed to cover the requirements of the Local
Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury
Management Code and the MHCLG Investment Guidance.

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
5.

6.

The Council receives and approves three main reports each year in relation to
Treasury Management, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and
actuals. The three reports are:
Treasury
Management &
Investment
Strategy

Mid-Year Treasury
Management
Monitoring
Report

February

November

Treasury
Management
Outturn Report
July

The Executive Commmittee is responsible for the implementation and monitoring
of these reports whilst the Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for the
effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

Page 122

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
INVESTMENTS
Current Portfolio Position
7.

The Council holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. In the past 12 months, the Council’s
investment balance has ranged between £16 million and £25 million and similar
levels are expected to be maintained in the forthcoming year.

Treasury Investment Strategy
8.

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest
rate of return, or yield.

Security

Liquidity

Yield

9.

The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and
the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are
expected to be invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a
total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to
maintain the spending power of the sum invested.

10. Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank
investments, the Council has diversified into more secure and/or higher yielding
asset classes. This is the case for the estimated £16 million that is available for
longer-term investment. The Council’s surplus cash remains invested in short-term
unsecured bank deposits and money market funds. This diversification represents
a continuation of the strategy adopted in 2018/19.
11. Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on
the Council’s business model for managing them. The Council aims to achieve
value from its treasury investments by a business model of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will
continue to be accounted for at amortised cost.

Approved Counterparties
12. The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in the
table below, subject to the limits shown.

Page 123

Sector

Time Limit

UK Government
Local authorities and other
government entities
Secured investments*
Banks (unsecured)*
Building Societies
(unsecured)*
Money market funds*
Strategic pooled funds

50 years

Counterparty
Limit
Unlimited

25 years

£4m

Unlimited

25 years
13 months

£4m
£2m

Unlimited
Unlimited

13 months

£2m

£4m

n/a
n/a

£4m
£5m

Unlimited
£20m

Sector Limit
n/a

13. Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made with
entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-.
Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of
investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However,
investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other
relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.
14. For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be either (a) where
external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a maximum
of £2 million per counterparty as part of a diversified pool.
15. Summary of counterparty types:
a) Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national
governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks.
These investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk
of insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK
Government are deemed to be zero risk due to its ability to create additional
currency and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.
b) Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which
limits the potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of
the security will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds and
reverse repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are exempt
from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher
of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used. The
combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not exceed
the cash limit for secured investments.
c) Banks and Building Societies (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates
of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other
than multilateral development banks. These investments are subject to the risk
of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing
or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to operational bank
accounts.

Page 124

d) Money Market Funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice
liquidity and very low or no price volatility by investing in short-term money
markets. They have the advantage over bank accounts of providing wide
diversification of investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional
fund manager in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to money
market funds, the Council will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a
variety of providers to ensure access to cash at all times.
e) Strategic Pooled Funds: Bond, equity and property funds that offer enhanced
returns over the longer term but are more volatile in the short term. These allow
the Council to diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to
own and manage the underlying investments. Because these funds have no
defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their
performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment
objectives will be monitored regularly.
16. The Council may also invest its surplus funds in corporates (loans, bonds and
commercial paper issued by companies other than banks), registered providers
(loans to, and bonds issued or guaranteed by, registered providers of social housing
or registered social landlords, formerly known as housing associations) and real
estate investment trusts, subject to meeting the minimum credit rating criteria and
time limits recommended by the Council’s treasury advisers.

Operational Bank Accounts
17. The Council may incur operational exposures, for example though current accounts,
collection accounts and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit
ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion. These are not
classed as investments but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances
will therefore be kept below £4 million per bank. The Bank of England has stated
that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely
to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council
maintaining operational continuity.

Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings
18. Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, who
will notify changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating agencies in current
use are listed in the Treasury Management Practices document. Where an entity
has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment
criteria then:




no new investments will be made,
any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing
investments with the affected counterparty.

19. Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for
possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch
negative”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only
investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made with that

Page 125

organisation until the outcome of the review is announced. This policy will not
apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than
an imminent change of rating.

Other Information on the Security of Investments
20. The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect predictors of
investment default. Full regard will therefore be given to other available information
on the credit quality of the organisations, in which it invests, including credit default
swap prices, financial statements, information on potential government support
and reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Council
treasury management adviser. No investments will be made with an organisation
if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise
meet the above credit rating criteria.
21. When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in
credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances,
the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit
quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the
required level of security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with
prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient
commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s
cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK Government, or with
other local authorities. This will cause investment returns to fall but will protect the
principal sum invested.
22. The following internal measures are also in place:



Investment and borrowing decisions formally recorded and endorsed using a
Counterparty Decision Document.
Monthly officer reviews of the investment and borrowing portfolio and quarterly
reviews with the Chief Executive Officer.

Investment Limits
23. The Council’s revenue reserves available to cover investment losses are forecast
to be £5 million on 31st March 2022. In order to minimise risk, in the case of a
single default, the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than
the UK Government) will be £5 million. A group of entities under the same
ownership will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.
24. Limits are also placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee
accounts and foreign countries as in the table below. Investments in pooled funds
and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for any single
foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Any group of pooled funds under the same management
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account
Foreign countries

Page 126

Cash limit
£10m per manager
£10m per broker
£4m per country

Liquidity Management
25. The Council uses a purpose-built cash flow forecasting spreadsheet to determine
the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed. The forecast is
compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to
borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on longterm investments are set by reference to the Council’s medium-term financial plan
and cash flow forecast.
26. The Council will spread its liquid cash over at least four providers (e.g. bank
accounts and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in
the event of operational difficulties at any one provider.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Policy
27. The Council will seek to move towards investments that improve the environment,
bring wider social benefits, and are with organisations with good governance.
28. The Council will give weight to the environmental, social and governance elements
of credit ratings in making investment decisions, provided that the overall risk
profile of the investment portfolio (including liquidity risk) is not compromised, and
that decisions remain consistent with responsible financial management and
stewardship.

BORROWING
Current Portfolio Position
29. The Council’s borrowing position at 31 March 2021, with forward projections are
summarised below.
£'000

2021/22
Revised
55,967

2022/23
Estimate
72,700

2023/24
Estimate
77,700

2024/25
Estimate
78,700

2025/26
Estimate
76,700

Expected change in debt

7,000

5,000

1,000

(2,000)

(2,000)

Gross Debt at 31 March

62,967

77,700

78,700

76,700

74,700

Debt at 1 April

30. Debt at 31 March 2022 is projected to be lower than originally estimated last year
due to the use of internal borrowing rather than borrowing externally to fund the
capital programme.

Borrowing Strategy
31. The Council’s main objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of
those costs over the period for which funds are required. The flexibility to
renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary
objective.

Page 127

32. Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local government
funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of
affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio.
33. With short-term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely
to be more cost effective in the short term to either use internal resources, or to
borrow short-term loans instead.
34. By doing so, the Council can reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. The benefits of internal
borrowing or short-term borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential
for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when longterm borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.
35. Our treasury advisers will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven
analysis. Its output may determine whether the Council borrows additional sums at
long-term fixed rates in 2022/23 with a view to keeping future interest costs low,
even if this causes additional cost in the short-term.
36. The Council has previously raised all of its long-term borrowing from the PWLB but
will consider long-term loans from other sources including banks, pensions and local
authorities, and will investigate the possibility of issuing bonds and similar
instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-reliance on one source
of funding in line with the CIPFA Code.
37. PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment
assets primarily for yield.
38. Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans, where the interest rate
is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This would enable
certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry in the intervening
period.
39. In addition, the Council may borrow further short-term loans to cover unexpected
cash flow shortages.

Sources of Borrowing
40. The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:


HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan Board).



Any institution approved for investments.



Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK.



Any other UK public sector body.



UK public and private sector pension funds (expect the Hampshire County
Council Pension Fund).



Capital market bond investors.



UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies
created to enable local authority bond issues.

Page 128

41. In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:
 Leasing
 Hire purchase
 Private Finance Initiative
 Sale and leaseback
42. Municipal Bonds Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in
2014 by the Local Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB. It
issues bonds on the capital markets and lends the proceeds to local authorities.
This is a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons:
borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a guarantee
to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason;
and there will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and
knowing the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will
therefore be the subject of a separate report to full Council.
43. Short-Term and Variable Rate Loans: These loans leave the Council exposed
to the risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the interest
rate exposure limits in the treasury management indicators below.
44. Debt Rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity
and either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on
current interest rates. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some
loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected to
lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk.
45. Borrowing Limits: These have been set as part of the Capital Strategy for 2022/23.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS
46. The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks
using the following three treasury management indicators.
47. Treasury Management Indicator 1 - Principal sums invested for longer than a year:
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The limits on the
long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the year end will be:
£M
Limit on principal invested
beyond year end

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
14

15

16

17

18

48. Treasury Management Indicator 2 - Maturity structure of borrowing: This treasury
indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and
lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will be:

Page 129

Upper
Limit %
50

Lower
Limit %
0

- Loans maturing within 1 - 2 years

50

0

- Loans maturing within 2 - 5 years

50

0

- Loans maturing within 5 - 10 years

50

0

100

100

Maturity structure of borrowing
- Loans maturing within 1 year

- Loans maturing in over 10 years

49. Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.
50. Treasury Management Indicator 3 - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) ratios: As a
result of the HRA Reforms in 2012, the Council moved from a subsidy system to
self-financing and was required to take on £49.3 million of debt. The table below
shows additional local indicators relating to the HRA in respect of this debt.

HRA debt £’000
HRA revenues £’000

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
49,268
49,268
49,268
49,268
49,268
12,510

12,983

13,104

13,638

14,062

Number of HRA dwellings

2,422

2,422

2,414

2,406

2,398

Ratio of debt to revenues %

3.94:1

3.79:1

3.76:1

3.61:1

3.50:1

£20,340

£20,340

£20,407

£20,475

£20,543

£5,700

£6,840

£7,980

£9,120

£10,260

Debt per dwelling £
Debt repayment fund £’000

INTEREST RATE FORECAST
51. The Council’s treasury management adviser, Arlingclose, assist the Council to
formulate a view on interest rates. The latest detailed economic and interest rate
forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at Annex 1.
52. The following graph and commentary gives the Arlingclose’s central view on interest
rates.

Page 130

53. Arlingclose is forecasting that Bank Rate will continue to rise in calendar Q1 2022
to subdue inflationary pressures and the perceived desire by the Bank of England
to move away from emergency levels of interest rates.
54. Investors continue to price in multiple rises in Bank Rate over the next forecast
horizon, and Arlingclose believes that although interest rates will rise again, the
increases will not be to the extent predicted by financial markets. In the near-term,
the risks around Arlingclose’s central case are to the upside while over the
medium-term the risks become more balanced.
55. Yields are expected to remain broadly at current levels over the medium-term, with
the 5, 10 and 20 year gilt yields expected to average around 0.65%, 0.90%, and
1.15% respectively. The risks around for short and medium-term yields are initially
to the upside but shifts lower later, while for long-term yields the risk is to the
upside. However, as ever there will almost certainly be short-term volatility due to
economic and political uncertainty and events.

Other Items
56. The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its Treasury
Management Strategy.
57. Policy on Apportioning Interest to the HRA: On 28 March 2012, the Council
borrowed £40 million from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) to buy itself out
the of the HRA subsidy System. The monies were borrowed by the General Fund
on behalf of the HRA. The interest on these loans is charged to the HRA on a halfyearly basis at the rate charged by PWLB. A further £9.268 million was lent by the
General Fund to the HRA to complete the buyout. Interest on this element is
charged at the average weighted rate of the PWLB loans.
58. The unfunded HRA capital financing requirement is also charged to the HRA at the
average weighted rate of the PWLB loans.
59. The General Fund credits the HRA with interest earned on HRA credit balances
calculated on the monthly movement in reserve balances and applied at year end.
The rate used is the weighted interest rate on General Fund investments and cash
balances.
Page 131

60. Markets in Financial Instruments Directive: The Council has opted up to
professional client status with its providers of financial services, including advisers,
banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a greater range of
services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to individuals and
small companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury management
activities, the Chief Financial Officer believes this to be the most appropriate status.

Financial Implications
61. The budget for net interest received in 2022/23 for the General Fund is £678,800
and the budget for net interest paid in 2022/23 for the HRA is £1,697,300. If actual
levels of investments and borrowing, and actual interest rates differ from that
forecast, performance against budget will be correspondingly different.

Other Options Considered
62. The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy
for local authorities to adopt. The Chief Financial Officer believes that the above
strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk management and cost
effectiveness.
Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk
management implications, are listed below.
Impact on income and
expenditure

Impact on risk
management

Invest in a narrower
range of counterparties
and/or for shorter times

Interest income will
be lower

Invest in a wider range of
counterparties and/or for
longer times

Interest income will
be higher

Borrow additional sums
at long-term fixed interest
rates

Debt interest costs
will rise; this is
unlikely to be offset
by higher investment
income
Debt interest costs
will initially be lower

Lower chance of losses
from credit related
defaults, but any such
losses may be greater
Increased risk of losses
from credit related
defaults, but any such
losses may be smaller
Higher investment balance
leading to a higher impact
in the event of a default;
however long-term interest
costs may be more certain
Increases in debt interest
costs will be broadly offset
by rising investment
income in the medium
term, but long-term costs
may be less certain
Reduced investment
balance leading to a lower
impact in the event of a
default; however long-term
interest costs may be less
certain

Alternative

Borrow short-term or
variable loans instead of
long-term fixed rates

Reduce level of
borrowing

Saving on debt
interest is likely to
exceed lost
investment income

Page 132

INVESTMENT STRATEGY
63. The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:
 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury
management investments),
 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other
organisations (service investments), and
 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is
the main purpose).
64. This investment strategy meets the requirements of statutory guidance issued by
the Government in January 2018 and focuses on the third of these categories.
65. The Council does not currently have any service investments.

COMMERCIAL INVESTMENTS
66. The Council invests in local and some regional UK commercial property with the
intention of making a profit that will be spent on local public services.
67. Since the Executive approval of a Commercial Property Investment Acquisition
Strategy in January 2013, the Council has purchased commercial investment
properties currently valued at £32.3 million and expected to generate rental
income of £2.7 million during 2022/23.
Property Type
Retail
Commercial

Current
Value
£’000
19,545
10,665

Other

2,130

Total

32,340

68. The Council’s total Commercial property portfolio, shown below, is valued at £61.5
million and includes Fareham Shopping Centre, Faretec and industrial estates at
Palmerston Business Park and Newgate Lane.
Property Type
Retail
Commercial

Current
Value
£’000
30,672
19,675

Other

4,645

Office

4,000

Leisure

2,533

Total

61,525

69. A fair value assessment of the Council’s more recent commercial property

Page 133

purchases has been made within the past twelve months, and the underlying
assets provide security for capital investment.
70. The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding
property investments. These risks are managed by ensuring:
 funds available for new purchases are disaggregated to limit the overall
impact that any single investment would have on the Council’s finances;
 there is a mix of property types in the portfolio e.g. retail, industrial, etc.;
 new purchases are only considered with existing tenants of “high quality”
and sufficiently long tenancy term;
 appropriate checks are carried out to ascertain the tenant's reliability;
 other “due diligence” is undertaken to protect the Councils investment as far
as possible such as checks on planning conditions, land contamination
issues and planning policy issues.

Proportionality
71. The Council is dependent on profit generating investment activity to achieve a
balanced revenue budget. The table below shows the extent to which the
expenditure planned to meet the service delivery objectives is dependent on
achieving the expected net profit from investments over the lifecycle of the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy.
£'000
Gross service
expenditure
Investment income

2020/21
Actual

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

46,686

45,620

45,198

46,588

47,197

47,322

4,645

5,779

5,477

5,432

5,427

5,427

9.9%

12.7%

12.1%

11.7%

11.5%

11.5%

Proportion

INVESTMENT INDICATORS
72. The Council has set the following three investment indicators to assess the Council’s
total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions.
73. Investment Indicator 1 - Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Council’s
total exposure to potential investment losses.

Treasury Management Investments

2020/21
Actual
18,625

2021/22
Revised
15,000

2022/23
Estimate
15,000

Commercial Investments

61,525

61,525

61,525

Total

80,150

76,525

76,525

£’000

74. Investment Indicator 2 - How investments are funded: Government guidance is that
these indicators should include how investments are funded. Since the Council
does not normally associate particular assets with particular liabilities, this guidance
is difficult to comply with. However, the following investments could be described as
being funded by borrowing. The remainder of the Council’s investments are funded
by usable reserves and income received in advance of expenditure.

Page 134

Treasury Management Investments

2020/21
Actual
0

2021/22
Revised
0

2022/23
Estimate
0

Commercial Investments

31,042

30,272

29,479

Total

31,336

30,272

29,479

£’000

75. Investment Indicator 3 - Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment
income received less the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where
appropriate, as a proportion of the sum initially invested.
2020/21
Actual
3.3%

2021/22
Revised
3.5%

2022/23
Estimate
2.7%

Commercial Investments

5.2%

5.6%

5.4%

Total

4.7%

5.1%

4.7%

Treasury Management Investments

CAPACITY AND SKILLS
Training
76. The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury
management. This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.
77. Treasury management officers regularly attend training courses, seminars and
conferences provided by the Council’s treasury management advisers and CIPFA.
78. Property services officers also regularly attend training courses, seminars and
conferences provided RICS (Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors)
accredited/approved providers.

Use of Treasury Management Consultants
79. The Council has appointed Arlingclose as treasury management advisers and
receives specific advice on investment, debt and capital finance issues.
80. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not
placed upon our external service providers.
81. It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and
subjected to regular review.

Page 135

ANNEX 1

ARLINGCLOSE ECONOMIC AND INTEREST RATE FORECAST
Economic Background – December 2021
The ongoing impact on the UK from coronavirus, together with higher inflation, higher
interest rates, and the country’s trade position post-Brexit, will be major influences on
the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2022/23.
The Bank of England (BoE) increased Bank Rate to 0.25% in December 2021 while
maintaining its Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion. The Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC) voted 8-1 in favour of raising rates, and unanimously to maintain the
asset purchase programme.
Within the announcement the MPC noted that the pace of the global recovery was
broadly in line with its November Monetary Policy Report. Prior to the emergence of the
Omicron coronavirus variant, the Bank also considered the UK economy to be evolving
in line with expectations, however the increased uncertainty and risk to activity the new
variant presents, the Bank revised down its estimates for Q4 GDP growth to 0.6% from
1.0%. Inflation was projected to be higher than previously forecast, with CPI likely to
remain above 5% throughout the winter and peak at 6% in April 2022. The labour market
was generally performing better than previously forecast and the BoE now expects the
unemployment rate to fall to 4% compared to 4.5% forecast previously but notes that
Omicron could weaken the demand for labour.
UK CPI for November 2021 registered 5.1% year on year, up from 4.2% in the previous
month. Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose to 4.0% y/y
from 3.4%. The most recent labour market data for the three months to October 2021
showed the unemployment rate fell to 4.2% while the employment rate rose to 75.5%.
In October 2021, the headline 3-month average annual growth rate for wages were 4.9%
for total pay and 4.3% for regular pay. In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay
growth was up 1.7% while regular pay was up 1.0%. The change in pay growth has
been affected by a change in composition of employee jobs, where there has been a fall
in the number and proportion of lower paid jobs.
Gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 1.3% in the third calendar quarter of 2021
according to the initial estimate, compared to a gain of 5.5% q/q in the previous quarter,
with the annual rate slowing to 6.6% from 23.6%. The Q3 gain was modestly below the
consensus forecast of a 1.5% q/q rise. During the quarter activity measures were
boosted by sectors that reopened following pandemic restrictions, suggesting that wider
spending was flat. Looking ahead, while monthly GDP readings suggest there had been
some increase in momentum in the latter part of Q3, Q4 growth is expected to be soft.
GDP growth in the euro zone increased by 2.2% in calendar Q3 2021 following a gain
of 2.1% in the second quarter and a decline of -0.3% in the first. Headline inflation has
been strong, with CPI registering 4.9% year-on-year in November, the fifth successive
month of inflation. Core CPI inflation was 2.6% y/y in November, the fourth month of
successive increases from July’s 0.7% y/y. At these levels, inflation is above the
European Central Bank’s target of ‘below, but close to 2%’, putting some pressure on
its long-term stance of holding its main interest rate of 0%.

Page 136

The US economy expanded at an annualised rate of 2.1% in Q3 2021, slowing sharply
from gains of 6.7% and 6.3% in the previous two quarters. In its December 2021 interest
rate announcement, the Federal Reserve continue to maintain the Fed Funds rate at
between 0% and 0.25% but outlined its plan to reduce its asset purchase programme
earlier than previously stated and signalled they are in favour of tightening interest rates
at a faster pace in 2022, with three 0.25% movements now expected.

Credit Outlook – December 2021
Since the start of 2021, relatively benign credit conditions have led to credit default swap
(CDS) prices for the larger UK banks to remain low and had steadily edged down
throughout the year up until mid-November when the emergence of Omicron has caused
them to rise modestly. However, the generally improved economic outlook during 2021
helped bank profitability and reduced the level of impairments many had made as
provisions for bad loans. However, the relatively recent removal of coronavirus-related
business support measures by the government means the full impact on bank balance
sheets may not be known for some time.
The improved economic picture during 2021 led the credit rating agencies to reflect this
in their assessment of the outlook for the UK sovereign as well as several financial
institutions, revising them from negative to stable and even making a handful of rating
upgrades.
Looking ahead, while there is still the chance of bank losses from bad loans as
government and central bank support is removed, the institutions on the Authority’s
counterparty list are well-capitalised and general credit conditions across the sector are
expected to remain benign. Duration limits for counterparties on the Authority’s lending
list are under regular review and will continue to reflect economic conditions and the
credit outlook.

Underlying assumptions – December 2021


The global recovery from the pandemic has entered a more challenging phase.
The resurgence in demand has led to the expected rise in inflationary pressure,
but disrupted factors of supply are amplifying the effects, increasing the
likelihood of lower growth rates ahead. The advent of the Omicron variant of
coronavirus is affecting activity and is also a reminder of the potential downside
risks.



Despite relatively buoyant activity survey data, official GDP data indicates that
growth was weakening into Q4 2021. Other data, however, suggested
continued momentum, particularly for November. Retail sales volumes rose
1.4%, PMIs increased, and the labour market continued to strengthen. The end
of furlough did not appear to have had a significant impact on unemployment.
Wage growth is elevated.



The CPI inflation rate rose to 5.1% for November and will rise higher in the near
term. While the transitory factors affecting inflation are expected to unwind over
time, policymakers’ concern is persistent medium term price pressure.

Page 137



These factors prompted the MPC to raise Bank Rate to 0.25% at the December
meeting. Short term interest rate expectations remain elevated.



The outlook, however, appears weaker. Household spending faces pressures
from a combination of higher prices and tax rises. In the immediate term, the
Omicron variant has already affected growth – Q4 and Q1 activity could be
weak at best.



Longer-term government bond yields remain relatively low despite the more
hawkish signals from the BoE and the Federal Reserve. Investors are
concerned that significant policy tightening in the near term will slow growth and
prompt the need for looser policy later. Geo-political and coronavirus risks are
also driving safe haven buying. The result is a much flatter yield curve, as shortterm yields rise even as long-term yields fall.



The rise in Bank Rate despite the Omicron variant signals that the MPC will act
to bring inflation down whatever the environment. It has also made clear its
intentions to tighten policy further. While the economic outlook will be
challenging, the signals from policymakers suggest their preference is to tighten
policy unless data indicates a more severe slowdown.

Forecast – December 2021


The MPC will want to build on the strong message it delivered this month by
tightening policy despite Omicron uncertainty.



Arlingclose therefore expects Bank Rate to rise to 0.50% in Q1 2022, but then
remain there. Risks to the forecast are initially weighted to the upside but
becoming more balanced over time. The Arlingclose central forecast remains
below the market forward curve.



Gilt yields will remain broadly flat from current levels. Yields have fallen sharply
at the longer end of the yield curve, but expectations of a rise in Bank Rate
have maintained short term gilt yields at higher levels.



Easing expectations for Bank Rate over time could prompt the yield curve to
steepen, as investors build in higher inflation expectations.



The risks around the gilt yield forecasts vary. The risk for short and medium
term yields is initially on the upside but shifts lower later. The risk for long-term
yields is weighted to the upside.

Page 138

Agenda Item 18

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 February 2022
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022/23

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priorities:

A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report considers the Capital Strategy for 2022/23, prior to its submission to the
Council for approval.

Executive summary:
Regulations require the Council to prepare and formally approve a Capital Strategy.
The document for 2022/23 is attached as Appendix A to this report for consideration
by the Executive before being submitted to Council for approval.
The Capital Strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital
financing, asset management and treasury management activity contribute to the
provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and
the implications for future financial sustainability.
The main highlights in the Capital Strategy are:
i) The level of capital expenditure estimated for 2022/23 is £19.9 million. The
current estimate is that £9.8 million of this will be met by new borrowing.
ii) A new section about Environmental Sustainability has been added.
iii) A high-level review of future funding requirements has identified a capital
funding requirement of £229 million.
iv)The Council’s commercial property portfolio has an estimated value of £61.5
million.
A separate report proposing the Treasury Management Strategy and Investment
Strategy for 2022/23 is also presented at the February meeting of the Executive.

Page 139

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
It is recommended that the Executive:
(a) endorses the draft Capital Strategy for 2022/23, attached as Appendix A to
this report;
(b) approves the capital programme for the period 2021/22 to 2025/26,
amounting to £73.8 million as set out in Annex 1 of the Capital Strategy; and
(c) agrees to submit the Capital Strategy for 2022/23 to Council for approval.

Reason:
To allow the Council to approve the Capital Strategy in accordance with the
Prudential Code.

Cost of proposals:
As detailed in the report.

Appendices:

A: Capital Strategy 2022/23 (including 5-year capital programme as
Annex 1)

Background papers: None
Reference papers:

Fareham Borough Council Climate Change Action Plan, 7 June 2021
Executive
CIPFA Prudential Code 2017
Arlingclose Capital Strategy 2022-23 Template

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Caroline Hancock (Ext 4589)

Page 140

APPENDIX A


CAPITAL STRATEGY
2022/23

Capital
Strategy

Page 141

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ................................................................................... 3
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE ..................................................................... 4
CAPITAL FINANCING .......................................................................... 8
ASSET MANAGEMENT .......................................................................11
TREASURY MANAGEMENT ...............................................................12

2
Page 142

INTRODUCTION
WHAT IS THE CAPITAL STRATEGY?
1.

The Capital Strategy has been developed to meet the requirements of the
CIPFA Prudential Code.

2.

It gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing,
asset management and treasury management activity contribute to the
provision of local public services along with an overview of how associated risk
is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.

3.

Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have
financial consequences for the Council for many years into the future.

4.

The Capital Strategy covers:

Capital Expenditure

Capital Financing

Asset Management
Treasury
Management

5.

• Estimates of Capital Expenditure
• Major Capital Schemes
• Prioritisation
• External Sources
• Own Resouces
• Debt and MRP
• Asset Management
• Asset Disposals
• Borrowing Strategy
• Investment Strategy
• Commercial Activities

The capital strategy compliments other Council strategies, including those in
the diagram below:

3
Page 143

Medium
Term Finance
Strategy

Procurement
Strategy

Capital
Strategy

Corporate
Strategy

Treasury
Management
Strategy

Investment
Strategy

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
6.

The objectives of the CIPFA Prudential Code aim to ensure that capital
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice.

7.

To achieve these objectives, five prudential indicators are included in the capital
strategy:






Prudential Indicator 1 - Estimates of capital expenditure and financing
Prudential Indicator 2 - The Council's borrowing need
Prudential Indicator 3 - Gross debt and the capital financing requirement
Prudential Indicator 4 - Limits to borrowing activity
Prudential Indicator 5 - Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
8.

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as
property or vehicles, which will be used for more than one year. In local
government this also includes spending on assets owned by other bodies, and
loans and grants to other bodies enabling them to buy assets.

9.

The Council has some limited discretion on what counts as capital expenditure,
for example assets costing below £10,000 are not capitalised and are charged
to the revenue account in year.

4
Page 144

ESTIMATES OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
10. The Council agrees a rolling five-year capital programme each year consistent
with the Medium-Term Finance Strategy and the resources available, along
with any impact on the revenue budgets.
11. The capital programme for the period 2021/22 to 2025/26 has been updated to
take account of re-phased schemes and newly approved schemes such as
town centre property acquisitions for housing and the review of community
buildings.
12. The £8 million budget for the town centre hotel scheme has also be removed
from the capital programme as there are no prospects of this progressing at the
current time.
13. Total capital expenditure is one of the risk indicators required by the Prudential
Code. The Council is planning capital expenditure of £73.8 million in the 5-year
capital programme as summarised below (detailed schemes are in Annex 1):

Capital Spend by Financial Year

Millions

£30

£20

£10

£0
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Prudential Indicator 1 - Estimates of Capital Expenditure
Capital Expenditure

Health and Public Protection
Streetscene

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
40
0
0
0
0

Total
£’000
40

94

55

0

0

288

437

Leisure and Community

4,647

2,558

9,260

1,819

229

18,513

Housing

1,708

500

500

500

566

3,774

399

70

215

0

0

684

Policy and Resources

5,600

8,778

6,210

505

450

21,543

Total General Fund

12,488

11,961

16,185

2,824

1,533

44,991

6,762

7,898

5,587

4,320

4,250

28,817

19,250

19,859

21,772

7,144

5,783

73,808

Planning and Development

HRA
Total Expenditure

5
Page 145

MAJOR CAPITAL SCHEMES
14. The major General Fund capital schemes include Fareham Live, schemes at
Solent Airport at Daedalus and Osborn Road Multi-Storey Car Park.
15. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced account which ensures
that council housing does not subsidise, or is itself subsidised, by other local
services. HRA capital expenditure is therefore recorded separately and
includes new housing developments with 16 new sheltered housing flats at
Station Road and 11 houses for Shared Ownership properties at Stubbington
Lane.
16. Major schemes over £3 million are summarised in the table below:
Major Schemes
HRA Improvements to Existing Stock

£’000
15,760

Fareham Live

12,675

HRA New Builds

9,020

Solent Airport at Daedalus

8,953

Osborn Road Multi-Storey Car Park

5,500

Leisure Centres Capital Investment

4,922

HRA Stock Acquisitions

3,997

Civic Offices Improvements

3,699

Asset Replacement Programme (ICT, Vehicles etc.)

3,561

GOVERNANCE AND PRIORITIES
17. Capital programme expenditure is monitored through monthly officer monitoring
reports and half-yearly and annual outturn reports to the Executive.
18. All new potential capital schemes will only be considered if they make a clear
contribution to the Council’s objectives and priority actions or support the
Council's Asset Management Plan.
19. The following factors need to be considered before a decision is made to
include a new scheme in the capital programme:





On-going operational costs associated with the scheme;
Whole life costing implications of the scheme;
Cost of servicing the debt if the scheme is financed by borrowing;
Loss of investment interest if internal resources are used.

20. Where new capital schemes are included in the capital programme there will be
a need to ensure that the necessary resources are in place to meet the full
capital costs and the on-going revenue costs.

6
Page 146

21. Efforts will be made to secure external (non-borrowing) sources of funding
capital schemes. Internal capital resources will only be released to fund
schemes once external sources of funding (such as developers’ contributions,
lottery grants, etc.) have been explored and rejected.
22. Capital schemes will normally be financed by use of capital reserves or external
contributions. Borrowing will only be considered where there is a sound
economic business case (e.g. for spend to save schemes) whereby borrowing
costs are wholly offset by long term net revenue income or savings.
23. Resources allocated to particular capital projects but subsequently not required
are returned to meet future corporate priorities rather than be retained for use
by that service.
24. To ensure the Council is able to meet the financial challenges ahead, priority is
given to the following:
 Corporate priorities;
 Providing for future liabilities;
 Maintaining and protecting public assets;
 Investing in the future by ensuring assets are sustainable, encourage
economic growth and regeneration, and meet the needs of the
community.
25. This is achieved by:
 Building up finances for the future, such as the allocation of windfall
income to the Capital Fund Account;
 Maximising external funding opportunities to reduce the reliance on
internal resources;
 Effective project planning and management to ensure schemes are
completed on time and within budget.
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
26. At the June 2021 Executive, members adopted the Council’s Climate Change
Action Plan detailing the actions the Council is taking to reach carbon neutrality,
under the categories, Eliminate, Reduce and Offset.
27. The action plan highlights area that will require future capital funding for
projects such as:
 Energy efficiency improvements to Council properties and housing stock
 Electric vehicle charging points at the Depot
 Replacement vans and smaller vehicles that have exceeded their
working lifespan with electric versions
 Replacement of petrol-powered tools e.g., lawnmowers that have
exceeded their natural lifespans with electric versions

7
Page 147

28. External sources of funding will be sought where possible to contribute towards
priority environmentally sustainable projects and will be an area of spending
pressure in the future.

CAPITAL FINANCING
29. All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources
(government grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources
(revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or debt (borrowing and leases).
30.

The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:
Prudential Indicator 1 - Estimates of Financing
Capital Financing

Capital Receipts
Grants &
Contributions
Capital Reserves

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
2,500
915
469
570
366

Total
£’000
4,820

1,644

4,276

9,565

2,053

1,017

18,555

3,832

4,563

6,262

3,322

3,500

21,479

Revenue

1,459

1,312

1,125

955

900

5,751

Borrowing

9,815

8,793

4,351

244

0

23,203

19,250

19,859

21,772

7,144

5,783

73,808

Total Financing

31. Total resources of £79.8 million are estimated to be available over the life of
the capital programme and therefore there should be a surplus of approximately
£6 million in 2025/26.
32. The chart below shows the different funding types split between current and
future resources. Borrowing is the largest funding source financing 31% of the
programme.

Funding Types
£25

Millions

£20
£15
£10
£5
£0
-£5

Capital Receipts

Grants &
Contributions

Capital Reserves

Currrent Resources

Revenue

Borrowing

Future Resources

8
Page 148

33. The forecast surplus of resources is limited and relies partly on resources that
have not yet been secured (such as future capital receipts and grants as well as
continued revenue contributions towards capital investment), totalling £33
million.
34. In the event that these resources do not materialise, other funding options will
need to be investigated including borrowing, reliance on external funding or the
programme scaled back.
35. It must also be borne in mind that the implications of some of the Council’s
priority actions and emerging capital spending pressures have not yet been
quantified. Costs associated with approved schemes also remain provisional
until tenders have been received.
36. Spending pressures in this respect include repair and refurbishment or
replacement works to Council assets (for example, community and leisure
facilities, public conveniences, car parks etc.) that have yet to be added to the
capital programme.
DEBT AND MRP
37. Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be
repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually by
putting aside revenue resources to repay debt which is known as Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets
(known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance.
38. Planned MRP and use of capital receipts are as follows:

Minimum Revenue Provision
Future Capital Receipts

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
1,132
1,491
1,947
2,004
2,100
1,676

1,919

0

0

0

39. Borrowing costs (MRP and interest charges) for schemes funded by debt will be
covered by revenue generating assets.
40. The MRP budget provision reflects the capital costs relating to commercial
property purchases, and construction works at Solent Airport at Daedalus
including the Innovation Centre extension and new hangars.

9
Page 149

MRP Policy Statement
41. The Council is required to set an annual policy on the way it calculates the
prudent provision for the repayment of General Fund borrowing. The main
policy adopted is that MRP will be determined by charging the expenditure over
the expected useful life of the relevant assets on an annuity basis starting in
the year after the asset becomes operational. This calculation will be reviewed
on a case-by-case basis depending on the circumstances and with a view to
minimising the impact on the council tax payer.
42. Where expenditure is on an asset which will be held on a short-term basis (up
to 5 years), no MRP will be charged. However, the capital receipt generated by
the sale of the asset will be used to repay the debt instead.
43. No MRP will be charged in respect of assets held within the HRA, in
accordance with MHCLG Guidance. Capital expenditure incurred during
2022/23 will not be subject to an MRP charge until 2023/24.
44. The Council’s full MRP statement is available in the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy.
Capital Financing Requirement
45. The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is referred to as
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and is another prudential indicator.
The CFR increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces
when MRP and capital receipts are used to replace debt.
46. The CFR indicator is a measure of the Council's underlying need to borrow for a
capital purpose taken from the balance sheet. This indicator is set to ensure
that the level of proposed capital expenditure remains within sustainable limits.
47. The CFR is expected to increase by £7.3 million during 2022/23 mainly due to
capital expenditure at Solent Airport at Daedalus, Osborn Road Multi-Storey
Car Park and housing developments at Station Road and Stubbington Lane
funded by debt. The Council’s estimated CFR is as follows:
Prudential Indicator 2 - The Council's borrowing need
£’000

General Fund
HRA
Total CFR

2021/22
Revised
£’000
59,700

2022/23
Estimate
£’000
65,102

2023/24
Estimate
£’000
66,180

2024/25
Estimate
£’000
64,420

2025/26
Estimate
£’000
62,564

53,109

55,009

56,335

56,335

56,335

112,809

120,111

122,515

120,755

118,899

10
Page 150

ASSET MANAGEMENT
48. One of the Council’s corporate priorities is ‘a dynamic, prudent and progressive
Council’ and aims to ‘undertake a major review of all Council owned land and
buildings to ensure that we are making the best use of our assets’.
FUTURE FUNDING REQUIREMENTS
49. To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has
undertaken a high-level review of the future funding requirements for its land
and buildings, excluding Council dwellings. This review covers a 30-year time
frame and has identified a capital funding requirement of £229 million for
refurbishing/re-provisioning existing assets, improving existing assets and
aspirational investments as shown in the chart below:

50. The main funding source is self-funded borrowing supported by capital receipts,
capital reserves and the community infrastructure levy, as illustrated in the
following graph:

11
Page 151

51. The high-level review has identified a substantial capital funding requirement
and the following assets are currently under review:
 Civic Offices
 Depot
 Osborn Road Multi-Storey Car Park
 Community Centres and Halls
 Units 1 & 2 Southampton Road
52. The Council will put in place a Council-wide plan which will set out the overall
direction and framework for the management of its assets to help deliver the
Council's priority actions and service delivery needs, now and in the future.

ASSET DISPOSALS
53. When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds,
known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.
54. Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital
receipts. The Council plans to receive capital receipts as follows:
2021/22
Estimate
£’000
700

2022/23
Estimate
£’000
900

2023/24
Estimate
£’000
900

2024/25
Estimate
£’000
900

2025/26
Estimate
£’000
900

Other Housing Receipts

34

16

16

16

16

General Fund Property

348

4,669

0

0

0

1,082

5,585

916

916

916

Right to Buy Houses

Total

General Fund Property relates to property sold in West Street (2021/22) and IFA2 and Welborne
Cottages (2022/23). The table doesn’t take into account commercial property or Daedalus sales
for reinvestment.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT
55. Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive
cash available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks
involved. Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will
be met by borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the
bank current account.
56. The Council is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue income is
received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure
is incurred before being financed. The revenue cash surpluses are offset
against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing.

12
Page 152

57. At 31 March 2021, the Council had £56 million borrowing and £18.6 million
treasury investments.
58. The Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy for 2021/22 will
be presented separately at the February meeting of the Executive.
BORROWING STRATEGY
59. The Council’s main objective when borrowing is to achieve a low but sufficiently
certain cost of finance while retaining flexibility should plans change in future.
These objectives are often conflicting, and the Council therefore seeks to strike
a balance between cheap short-term loans (currently available at around
0.25%) and long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but higher
(currently 1.65 to 2.37).
60.

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt are shown below,
compared with the capital financing requirement.
Prudential Indicator 3 - Gross debt and the capital financing requirement

Debt at 1 April
Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR)

2021/22
Revised
£’000
62,967

2022/23
Estimate
£’000
77,700

2023/24
Estimate
£’000
78,700

2024/25
Estimate
£’000
76,700

2025/26
Estimate
£’000
74,700

112,809

120,111

122,515

120,755

118,899

61. Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing
requirement, except in the short-term. As can be seen from the table above,
the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term.
AFFORDABLE BORROWING LIMIT
62. The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed
the authorised limit for external debt) each year and a lower “operational
boundary” set as a warning level should debt approach the limit.
63. The operational boundary is based on the Council's estimate of the most likely
(i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for external debt. This is the limit
beyond which external borrowing is not normally expected to exceed.
64. The authorised limit represents the maximum amount of debt that the Council
can legally owe. The limit provides headroom over and above the operational
boundary for unusual cash movements.

13
Page 153

Prudential Indicator 4 - Limits to Borrowing Activity

Operational Boundary

2021/22
Revised
£’000
128,000

2022/23
Estimate
£’000
139,000

2023/24
Estimate
£’000
148,000

2024/25
Estimate
£’000
136,000

2025/26
Estimate
£’000
133,000

Authorised Limit

136,000

147,000

156,000

144,000

141,000

65. Further details on borrowing are in the Council’s Treasury Management
Strategy.

TREASURY INVESTMENT STRATEGY
66. The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for
example when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as
treasury management investments),


to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other
organisations (service investments), and



to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where
this is the main purpose).

67. The Council does not currently have service investments.

Treasury Investment Policy
68. The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity
over yield, which is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns.
Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example
with the government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to
minimise the risk of loss.
69. Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, currently in
property but could also include bonds and shares, to balance the risk of loss
against the risk of receiving returns below inflation.
70. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds,
where an external fund manager makes decisions on which investments to buy,
and the Council may request its money back at short notice.
71. Further details on treasury investments are set out in the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy.

14
Page 154

Treasury Investment Risk Management
72. The effective management and control of risk are prime objectives of the
Council’s treasury management activities. The treasury management strategy
therefore sets out various indicators and limits to constrain the risk of
unexpected losses.
Treasury Investment Governance
73. Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily
and are therefore delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and staff,
who must act in line with the treasury management strategy approved by Full
Council.
74. Half-yearly reports on treasury management activity are presented to the
Executive. The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for scrutinising
treasury management decisions and therefore is presented with the annual
Treasury Management Policy for comment, and a half yearly-report on
adherence to this Policy.

COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES
Commercial Investments Policy
75. With central government financial support for local public services declining, the
Council invests in commercial property to secure a financial gain. Total
commercial investments that have been purchased in accordance with the
Council’s Commercial Property Investment Acquisition Strategy are
summarised below and are currently valued at £32.3 million and expected to
generate rental income of £2.7 million during 2022/23.
Property Type
Retail
Commercial

Current Value
£’000
19,545
10,665

Other

2,130

Total

32,340

76. The Council’s total investment portfolio, shown below, is valued at £61.5
million and includes Fareham Shopping Centre, Faretec and industrial sites at
Palmerston Business Park and Newgate Lane.

15
Page 155

Property Type
Retail
Commercial

Current Value
£’000
30,672
19,675

Other

4,645

Office

4,000

Leisure

2,533

Total

61,525

77. With financial return being a key objective, the Council accepts higher risk on
commercial investment than with treasury investments. Investing in property is
not risk-free, so it is important that any acquisitions reflect the Council’s risk
appetite in terms of maintaining the capital value of the asset in the long term,
and extent to which rental income is guaranteed.
78. The principal risk exposures include vacancies and the resultant loss of income,
added costs of holding a vacant property and cost of marketing and re-letting
the property.
79. These risks are managed by ensuring:

funds available for new purchases are disaggregated to limit the overall
impact that any single investment would have on the Council’s finances;


there is a mix of property types in the portfolio e.g. retail, industrial, etc.;



new purchases are only considered with existing tenants of “high quality”
and sufficiently long lease terms;



appropriate checks are carried out to ascertain the tenant's reliability
before the investment is made and periodically afterwards;



other “due diligence” is undertaken to protect the Councils investment as
far as possible such as checks on planning conditions, land contamination
issues and planning policy issues.

80. The majority of investments will be held for a medium to long term in order to
achieve the required return and to justify the cost of the acquisition. However,
as part of the investment decision, consideration is also given to the potential
ways in which the Council could “exit” from the investment, such as sale to
another investor, sale for redevelopment, etc. An investment only proceeds
where there is a clear exit strategy, should it be required.

16
Page 156

Commercial Investments Governance
81. The Executive approved a Commercial Property Investment Acquisition
Strategy on 7th January 2013.
82. The steps taken before a decision to purchase a property are clearly
documented and tested via a challenge process involving the Head of Property
Services, Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the Executive portfolio holder for
Policy Strategy and Finance.
83. Decisions on commercial investments are made by the Executive in line with
the criteria outlined in the Commercial Property Investment Acquisition
Strategy.
84. Property and most other commercial investments are also capital expenditure
and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital
programme.
LIABILITIES
85. In addition to debt detailed above, the Council is committed to making future
payments to cover its pension fund deficit (valued at £71.1 million as at 31
March 2021). It has also set aside provisions of £2.4 million mainly to cover
business rate appeals.
86. Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are taken by service managers
in consultation with the Deputy Chief Executive Officer. The risk of liabilities
crystallising and requiring payment is monitored by Finance and reported as
necessary.
87. Further details on liabilities are given in the 2019/20 Statement of Accounts.
REVENUE BUDGET IMPLICATIONS
88. Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget,
interest payable on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any
investment income receivable.
89. The net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net
revenue stream i.e., the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and
general government grants.

17
Page 157

Prudential Indicator 5 - Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

General Fund Financing costs £
General Fund Proportion of net
revenue stream
HRA Financing costs £
HRA Proportion of net revenue
stream

2021/22
Revised
444,000

2022/23
Estimate
803,000

2023/24
Estimate
1,259,000

2024/25
Estimate
1,316,000

2025/26
Estimate
1,412,000

4%

7%

12%

13%

14%

1,697,000

1,981,000

2,200,000

2,199,000

2,197,000

14%

15%

17%

16%

16%

90. Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the
revenue budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will
extend for up to 30 years into the future. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer is
satisfied that the proposed capital programme is prudent, affordable and
sustainable.
KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS
91. The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior
positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and
investment decisions. The Council also supports junior staff to study towards
relevant professional qualifications including CIPFA.
92. Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made
of external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The
Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management
advisers and a number of property consultants. This approach is more cost
effective than employing such staff directly and ensures that the Council has
access to knowledge and skills commensurate with its risk appetite.

18
Page 158

Annex 1
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2025/26
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total

£

£

£

£

£

£

HEALTH AND PUBLIC PROTECTION
CCTV Cameras
HEALTH AND PUBLIC PROTECTION
TOTAL

40,000

40,000

40,000

0

0

0

0

40,000

288,300

309,300

STREETSCENE
Bus Shelters
Play Area Safety Equipment and Surface
Replacement

6,000

15,000

88,000

40,000

STREETSCENE TOTAL

94,000

55,000

0

0

288,300

437,300

50,000

1,920,600

8,922,600

1,552,800

229,400

12,675,400

4,291,900

110,800

275,000

243,800

4,921,500

337,300

62,300

22,400

422,000

128,000

LEISURE AND COMMUNITY
Buildings
Fareham Live
Leisure Centres Capital Investment
Community Buildings Review
Whiteley Community Centre
Refurbishment

40,000

40,000

4,341,900

2,408,700

9,259,900

1,819,000

229,400

18,058,900

205,000

82,600

287,600

50,000

50,000

Play Schemes
Play Area Improvement Programme
Fareham College Play Area
Abbey Meadows Play Area

100,000
305,000

100,000
132,600

0

0

0

437,600

Other Community Schemes
Allotment Improvements

LEISURE AND COMMUNITY TOTAL

16,300

16,300

0

16,300

0

0

0

16,300

4,646,900

2,557,600

9,259,900

1,819,000

229,400

18,512,800

700,000

500,000

500,000

500,000

500,000

2,700,000

65,900

65,900

565,900

2,765,900

HOUSING
Home Improvements
Disabled Facilities Grants
Empty Homes Strategy
700,000

500,000

500,000

500,000

Enabling
Gordon Road Acquisition
Sea Lane, Stubbington - Self Builds

HOUSING TOTAL

920,000

920,000

88,200

88,200

1,008,200

0

0

0

0

1,008,200

1,708,200

500,000

500,000

500,000

565,900

3,774,100

19
Page 159

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total

£

£

£

£

£

£

105,000

70,000

215,000

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Car Parks
Car Parks: Surfacing
Car Parks: New Machines and Control
Room Upgrade

273,900
378,900

Coastal Protection
Salterns Recreation Ground Seawall
Repairs

390,000
273,900

70,000

215,000

0

0

663,900

20,000

20,000

20,000

0

0

0

0

20,000

398,900

70,000

215,000

0

0

683,900

Replacement Programmes
Vehicles and Plant Replacement
Programme

505,800

400,000

400,000

400,000

400,000

2,105,800

ICT Development Programme

387,700

402,300

60,000

105,000

50,000

1,005,000

893,500

802,300

460,000

505,000

450,000

3,110,800

50,000

648,800

3,000,000

50,000

648,800

3,000,000

2,750,000

2,750,000

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
TOTAL
POLICY AND RESOURCES

Operational Buildings
Civic Offices Improvement Programme

3,698,800
0

0

3,698,800

Property Developments
Osborn Road Multi-Storey Car Park
Solent Airport at Daedalus Schemes

4,376,100

4,577,100

4,376,100

7,327,100

5,500,000
8,953,200

2,750,000

0

0

14,453,200

Land Acquisitions
Purchase of Land at Mill Lane

POLICY AND RESOURCES TOTAL
GENERAL FUND TOTAL

280,000

280,000

280,000

0

0

0

0

280,000

5,599,600

8,778,200

6,210,000

505,000

450,000

21,542,800

12,487,600

11,960,800

16,184,900

2,824,000

1,533,600

44,990,900

2,760,000

3,000,000

3,200,000

3,300,000

3,500,000

15,760,000

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Improvements to Existing Stock
Vehicles

40,000

40,000

Acquisitions

1,247,000

500,000

750,000

750,000

New Builds

2,755,000

4,358,000

1,637,000

270,000

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL

6,762,000

7,898,000

5,587,000

4,320,000

4,250,000

28,817,000

19,249,600

19,858,800

21,771,900

7,144,000

5,783,600

73,807,900

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME

750,000

3,997,000
9,020,000

20
Page 160

Agenda Item 19
ANNEX 2

FAREHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL PAY POLICY STATEMENT
FINANCIAL YEAR 2022 - 23

1.

Purpose

This Pay Policy Statement (“Pay Statement”) is provided in accordance with the
Localism Act 2011(“Localism Act”) and this will be updated in each subsequent
financial year.
This Pay Statement sets out Fareham Borough Council’s pay policies relating to its
workforce for the financial year 2022-23, including the remuneration of its Chief
Officers, lowest paid employees and the relationship between its Chief Officers and
that of its employees who are not Chief Officers.
2.

Definitions

For the purpose of this Pay Statement the following definitions apply:
includes base salary, charges, fees, allowances, benefits in kind,
increases in/enhancements to pension entitlements and termination
payments.
refers to the following roles within the Council:

Pay

Chief Officers

Deputy Chief
Officers
Lowest paid
employees
Employee who
is not a Chief
Officer

Statutory Chief Officers:
 Chief Executive Officer, as Head of Paid Service
 Director of Support Services, as Monitoring Officer
 Deputy Chief Executive Officer, as Section 151 Officer
Non Statutory Chief Officers:
 Director of Planning and Regulation
 Director of Leisure and Community
Heads of Service who report directly to/or accountable to a statutory or
non-statutory Chief Officer in respect of all or most of their duties.
refers to those employees employed within Grade1 of the Council’s
mainstream pay structure. This definition has been adopted because
Grade1 is the lowest grade on the Council’s mainstream pay structure.
refers to all employees who are not covered under the “Chief Officer”
group above. This includes the “lowest paid employees”. i.e. employees
on Grade1.

3.

Pay Framework and Remuneration Levels

3.1

General approach

The pay structure and pay scales have been designed to enable the Council to recruit
and retain suitably qualified employees at all levels who are dedicated to fulfilling its
corporate objectives and delivering services to the public whilst operating within an
acceptable financial framework.

Page 161

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

With a diverse workforce the Council recognises that its Pay Policy needs to retain
sufficient flexibility to cope with a variety of circumstances that may arise that might
necessitate the use of market supplements or other such mechanisms for individual
categories of posts where appropriate. The decision to apply a market premium or
similar mechanism will be approved by the Director of Support Services and endorsed
by the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chief Executive Officer, as Head of Paid Service, has delegated power to update
the pay policy in line with establishment changes.

3.2

Responsibility for decisions on pay structures

The outcome of reviews into the local pay and grading structures covering all jobs are
submitted to a meeting of Full Council for approval.
The Council’s locally determined pay structures are based on the outcome of a job
evaluated process and were implemented for the Chief Officers, Heads of Service and
all other employees in April 2008. This followed a national requirement for all Local
Authorities to review their pay and grading frameworks to ensure fair and consistent
practice for different groups of workers with the same employer to comply with
employment legislation.
The pay structure for the Chief Executive Officer was established in 2008 having
regard to the need to be fully competitive in the market and to be confident of attracting
and retaining the highest calibre of employee to reflect the high level of organisational
and corporate performance which the Council requires its Chief Executive Officer to
deliver. Relevant labour market and comparative remuneration data was considered.
This was reviewed in 2013.

3.3

Pay scales and grading framework

The mainstream pay structure for all employees below the level of Heads of Service
was determined through a local process based on the outcome of a job evaluation
scheme. The pay structure from 1 April 2020 consists of a pay spine of 44 points,
comprising 11 grades containing 5 spinal column points with the exception of grade1.
Grade 1 is the lowest grade and 11 the highest. Each employee will be on one of the
11 grades based on their job evaluated role.
The Chief Executive’s pay grade reflects the same principles as for all of the Council’s
pay structures consisting of 5 spinal column points.
The pay structure for Chief Officers and Heads of Service was determined through
a local process that took into account market alignment with District Councils in
Hampshire and the outcome of a job evaluated process. It followed the same
principles as applied for the mainstream pay structure and consists of one pay grade
for Chief Officers and three pay grades for Heads of Service with all grades containing
5 points.
2
Page 162

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

The National Minimum Wage applies to those under 25 but Fareham’s pay scales are
not aged biased.
Details of the Council’s pay structures are published on the Council’s website and a
copy as at 1st April 2020 is appended to this Statement (at Annex A).

3.4

Pay Awards and National Pay Awards

Pay awards are considered annually for all employees. The outcome of national
consultations by the Local Government Employers in negotiation with the Trade
Unions in relation to the settlement of the annual pay award is normally applied. The
pay award with effect from April 2021 is currently under negotiation with an offer of
1.75% having been rejected by the Unions. The outcomes of ballots on industrial
action are not yet know so there will be a delay in implimenting
If there is an occasion where the Council believes that the National Pay Settlement
would distort the local pay structures alternative proposals will be developed,
discussed with the trade unions and brought to Elected Members for formal approval.

4.

Remuneration – level and element

4.1

Salaries of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers

“Chief Officers” are identified at 2 above and constitute the Council’s Corporate
Management Team. They are all paid within the Council’s pay structures as follows:
a)

Chief Executive Officer, as Head of Paid Service will be paid a salary within the
grade range £117,773 to £136,312.

b)

Statutory and Non-Statutory Chief Officers will be paid a salary within the grade
range £83,567 to £95,981.

“Deputy Chief Officers” who are Heads of Service are all paid within the Council’s
pay structures and will be paid a salary within grade ranges £55,344 to £83,567.
Typically Chief Officers and Heads of Service have received the same percentage pay
award as for all other employees.
Details of Chief Officer and Heads of Service remuneration have been published since
2010 on the Council’s website.

4.2

“Lowest paid employees”

Each lowest paid employee will be paid a salary within the pay scales for Grade1
mindful of the need to meet the National Living Wage requirements.
A very detailed review of pay and grading was undertaken on this topic along with
other parts of the grading structure and the review and recommendations were
reported to Full Council in December 2014.
3
Page 163

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

4.3

Bonuses and Performance related pay

There is no provision for bonus payments or performance related pay awards to any
level of employee.
There is, however, an honorarium provision which may be awarded where an
employee performs duties outside the scope of their post over an extended period or
where the additional duties and responsibilities involved are exceptionally onerous.
All such payments are subject to approval by a Chief Officer (Member of Chief
Executive’s Management Team).

4.4

Other pay elements – Statutory Officers

The pay structure for Chief Officers does not take account of the clearly defined
additional responsibilities in respect of the Section 151 and Monitoring Officer roles.
Officers undertaking these roles receive payment equivalent to two spinal column
points based on the incremental pay progression from the penultimate to maximum
point of the pay grade for Chief Officers.
Provision for the recognition of the role of acting Head of Paid Service exists within the
Chief Officers pay structure for up to two spinal column points on the same payment
principle as for the Section 151 and Monitoring Officers.
These pay arrangements allow for flexibility in the allocation of the additional roles to
Chief Officers and for the responsibilities to be rotated.

4.5

Charges, fees or allowances

Allowances or other payments, for example shift working, standby, etc. may be
made to employees, below the level of Chief Officer, in connection with their role or
the pattern of hours they work in accordance with National or Local collective
agreements.
Expenses: The Council recognises that some employees incur necessary
expenditure in carrying out their responsibilities, for example travel costs.
Reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred on Council business are paid in
accordance with the Council’s collective agreement and subsequent amendments to
it.
Elections: The Chief Executive Officer has been appointed as the Council's Returning
Officer for elections and he has appointed the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Director
of Leisure and Community and Head of Democratic Services as his Deputy Returning
Officers. For performing elections duties the Returning Officer and Deputies receive
a fee payable according to a scale of costs, charges and expenses set by the
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Election Fees Working Party and allowed under the Local
Government Act 1972.
4
Page 164

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

Professional Subscriptions: The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Officers are
entitled to receive payment for one subscription to a relevant professional body.

4.6

Benefits in kind

Benefits in kind are benefits which employees receive from their employer during their
employment which are not included as part of their salary. Fareham has a technology
scheme and car leasing scheme that employees have a choice to sign up for in lieu of
salary. These benefits are reportable to HMRC and taxed accordingly.
4.7

Pension

All employees as a result of their employment are eligible to join the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS).

4.8

Severance payments

The Council already publishes its policy on discretionary payments on early
termination of employment and flexible retirement as well as publishing its policy on
increasing an employee’s total pension. These policies are applied in support of
efficient organisational change and transformation linked to the need for efficiencies
and expenditure reduction.
Details of the Council’s policies are published on the Council’s website.
Redundancy payments are calculated using the statutory weekly pay calculator which
gives the following entitlements:
0.5 week’s pay for each full year worked when you are under 22
1.0 week’s pay for each full year worked when you are between 22 and 41
1.5 week’s pay for each full year worked when you are 41 or older
The council will apply weekly pay to the number of entitled weeks and has a local
multiplier of 2.2 which is applied to the overall calculation.
No employee who has left the Council in receipt of a redundancy or severance
package will be re-employed by the Council, in any capacity, unless there are
exceptional business circumstances in which case approval is required from the Chief
Executive Officer.
The government has commenced the process to enforce a cap on exit payments of
£95,000 with the likely implementation date to be during 2021 following consultation.

4.9

New starters joining the Council

Employees new to the Council will normally be appointed to the first point of the salary
scale for their grade. Where the candidate’s current employment package would make
5
Page 165

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

the first point of the salary scale unattractive (and this can be demonstrated by the
applicant in relation to current earnings) or where the employee already operates at a
level commensurate with a higher salary, a different starting salary point within the
grade may be considered by the recruiting manager in consultation with HR Services.
The candidate’s level of skill and experience should be consistent with that of other
employees in a similar position on the salary scale within the grade.

5.
Relationship between remuneration of "Chief Officers" and "employees
who are not Chief Officers".
This relates to the ratio of the Council’s highest paid employee (falling within the
definition of “Chief Officers”) and the median earnings across the whole workforce as
a pay multiple. By definition, the Council's highest paid employee is the Chief
Executive Officer. The median average pay has been calculated on all taxable
earnings for the financial year 2020-21, including base salary, allowances, etc.
Highest paid employee

£136,312

Median earnings for remainder of workforce

£24,982

Ratio

5.46

6
Page 166

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

ANNEX A (to the Pay Policy Statement)

Fareham Borough Council - Pay Scales as at 01/04/2020

Chief Executive Grades & Salary

Directors Grades & Salary

Spinal Column Point

Annual Salary

Spinal Column Point

Annual Salary

1

£117,773

1

£83,567

2

£122,409

2

£86,250

3

£127,043

3

£89,379

4

£131,679

4

£92,620

5

£136,312

5

£95,981

Senior Management Grades & Salary scales
Grade

1

Spinal
Column
Point

Annual
Salary

Spinal
Column
Point

Annual
Salary

Spinal
Column
Point

Annual
Salary

1

£73,597

1

£63,822

1

£55,344

2

£76,174

2

£66,136

2

£57,352

3

£78,838

3

£68,535

3

£59,432

4

£81,197

4

£71,021

4

£61,588

5

£83,567

5

£73,597

5

£63,822

Grade

2

Grade

3

7
Page 167

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25

Local Pay Scales

GRADE

1

2

3

4

5

6

SPINAL
COLUMN
POINT

ANNUAL
SALARY
(APRIL
2020)

SPINAL
COLUMN
POINT

ANNUAL
SALARY
(APRIL
2020)

3

£17,842

4

£18,198

5

£18,562

5

£18,562

26

£32,747

6

£18,933

27

£33,732

7

£19,312

28

£34,750

8

£19,698

29

£35,796

9

£20,092

30

£36,863

9

£20,092

30

£36,863

10

£20,493

31

£37,972

11

£20,903

32

£39,105

12

£21,322

33

£40,282

13

£21,748

34

£41,390

13

£21,748

34

£41,390

14

£22,627

35

£42,533

15

£23,541

36

£43,694

16

£24,491

37

£44,898

17

£24,982

38

£46,003

18

£25,991

38

£46,003

19

£26,511

39

£47,171

20

£27,364

40

£48,352

21

£28,258

41

£49,555

22

£29,102

42

£50,167

22

£29,102

42

£50,167

23

£29,977

43

£51,303

24

£30,876

44

£52,454

25

£31,803

45

£53,632

26

£32,747

46

£54,843

GRADE

7

8

9

10

11

8
Page 168

Agenda Item 20

Report to Council
25 February 2022

Subject:

Gambling – Statement of Principles

Report of:

Head of Environmental Health

SUMMARY
To consider the draft Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005, which
the Council is required to review and publish every three years, for use relating to
applications/reviews under the Gambling Act 2005. The statutory consultation
exercise in respect of this Statement was completed December 2021.

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the final draft Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles
2022-2025, as attached as Appendix A to this report, be adopted by the Council.

Page 169

INTRODUCTION
1.

The Gambling Act 2005 introduced significant changes in the regulation of the
Gambling Industry. Most of these changes fell to the Gambling Commission to
implement. Local Authorities were required to act as the licensing authority in relation
to the licensing of premises and the issuing of permits for certain activities:






2.

casinos
betting offices and race tracks
bingo premises
adult gaming centres
family entertainment centres.

The Council is required to determine and publish, every three years, a Statement of
Principles in relation to the exercise of its functions under the Gambling Act 2005. The
three-year period to which the current Statement of Policy relates ended in January
2022.
REVISION OF STATEMENT OF GAMBLING PRINCIPLES

3.

The draft revised Statement of Principles can be seen at Appendix A to this report.

4.

The Statement has only had minor amendments from the previous version.

5.

Consultation with the bodies as per Appendix 1 of the revised draft Statement of
Principles was undertaken between October and December 2021. There were no
consultation responses received. Since the introduction of the Gambling Act 2005 there
has been no Gambling business for the Council’s Licensing Panel.

6.

The Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee approved the draft Statement on 25
January 2022 for recommendation to the Executive. The Executive approved the draft
Statement on 7 February 2022 for recommendation to Council.
RISK ASSESSMENT

7.

The Council is required by statute to review and publish every three years a reviewed
Gambling Act Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005. In the absence of
such a statement it may not be possible to consider applications for Premises Licences
made under the Act.
CONCLUSION

8.

This Council must adopt a three-yearly reviewed Gambling Act Statement of Principles
issued under the Gambling Act 2005. The reviewed Gambling Act Statement of
Principles must be adopted by the Council for the period 2022 – 2025.

9.

The reviewed Gambling Act Statement of Principles has been prepared for adoption in
compliance with guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.

Page 170

Appendices:
Appendix A:

Draft Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles

Background Papers:

None

Reference Papers:

None

Contact:

For further information please contact…. (Ext: 4773)

Page 171

Appendix A





Gambling Act 2005
Statement of Principles
February 2022 – January 2025

Page 173

Table of Contents
Item
1.

Introduction

Part A

The Gambling Act 2005

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

The Statement of Licensing Principles and Consultation
Licensing Framework
Declaration
Responsible Authorities
Interested Parties
Exchange of Information
Licensing Authority Functions
Fees

Part B

Promotion of the Licensing Objectives

10.

13.
14.
15.
16.

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder,
being associated with crime or disorder or being used to
support crime.
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being
harmed or exploited by gambling
Other Considerations
Local Area Profile
Money Laundering
Proceeds of Crime

Part C

Premises Licences

17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.

General Principles
Local Area Risk Assessments
Conditions on Premises Licences
Door Supervisors
Adult Gaming Centres (AGC)
Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FEC)
Casinos
Betting Machines
Bingo
Betting Premises
Tracks
Condition on Rules being Displayed
Application and Plans
Travelling Fairs
Provisional Statements

PART D

Permits, Notices and Lottery Registrations

32.

Unlicensed Family entertainment Centre – Gaming Machine
Permits

11.
12.

Page 2 of 40

Page 174

33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.

Gaming Machine Permits in Premises Licensed for the Sale
of Alcohol
Prize Gaming Permits
Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits
Temporary Use Notices
Occasional Use Notices (for Tracks)
Small Society Lottery Registrations

Part E

Enforcement

39.
40.

Enforcement Principles
Reviews

APPENDICES
Appendix A - CONSULTEES
Appendix B - RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES

Page 3 of 40

Page 175

1.

Introduction
1.1 This statement of principles was reviewed and updated in September
2021. It is a requirement for the Statement of Principles to be approved
by the Executive and the Full Council of Fareham Borough Council and be
reviewed every three years.
1.2 All references to the Gambling Commission's Guidance for local
authorities refer to the Guidance updated in May 2021 available from
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.
1.3 The Gambling Act 2005 has appointed Fareham Borough Council as a
Licensing Authority. The Authority will regulate gambling with integrity in
the public interest.
1.4 The council is committed to avoiding duplication with other legislation and
regulatory regimes as far as possible and will not replicate issues in this
statement of principles, which are already legal requirements under other
legislation such as health and safety and fire precautions.
1.5 This statement of principles has been developed after having regard to
the statutory guidance from the Gambling Commission and having given
appropriate weight to the views of persons and organisations consulted.
1.6 The council has delegated all functions under the Act to the Licensing
Committee, except those functions, which by law must be dealt with by
the council, such as the setting of fee levels and the approval of this policy
statement.
1.7 Section 349 of the Act requires the licensing authority to publish a
statement of principles that we will apply in exercising our functions under
the Act. This statement fulfils that statutory requirement.
1.8 This statement of Principles will be applied during the 3-year period from
when approved in February 2021 until 31st January 2025 and during that
time will be kept under review and revised when and if appropriate, during
that 3-year period.
1.9 This document should be read in conjunction with the Act, Regulations
made under the Act and Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.
This statement is designed to be a strategic gambling policy, not an
operational guide to the Act.
1.10 In exercising our functions under the Gambling Act 2005, Fareham
Borough Council as a licensing authority will have regard to the statutory
licensing objectives, which are.
a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder,
being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support
crime

Page 4 of 40

Page 176

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being
harmed or exploited by gambling.
1.11 It should be noted that that the Gambling Commission has stated, “The
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being
harmed or exploited by gambling “.
1.12 The Authority is aware that section 153 of the Act requires it, in making
decisions concerning premises licences and temporary use notices, to
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as we think fit In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
Gambling Commission
 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission
 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives above and
 In accordance with this Statement of Principles
1.13 Previous legislation required that the grant of certain gambling
permissions should take account of whether there was an unfulfilled
demand for gambling facilities. We acknowledge that under this
legislation, unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing authority in
considering an application.
1.14 We appreciate that gambling can be an emotive subject but acknowledge
that, in accordance with Gambling Commission Guidance for Local
Authorities, “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject
applications for premises licences “except in respect of a Casino
resolution in section 13, and that unmet demand is not a criterion for a
licensing authority.
1.15 We will therefore consider any application in accordance with the Act, on
its individual merits without regard to demand or moral objection to
gambling in general.

Page 5 of 40

Page 177

PART A -The Gambling Act 2005
2.

The Statement of Licensing Principles and Consultation
2.1 Fareham Borough Council is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to
publish a Statement of the Principles, which we propose to apply when
exercising our functions. This statement must be published at least every
three years. The statement must also be reviewed from “time to time”
and any amended parts re-consulted upon. The statement must be then
re-published.
2.2 This statement of principles has been published following extensive
consultation. A list of the persons we have sent this document to is
attached at Appendix A.
2.3 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties be consulted by
Licensing Authorities:
 The Chief Officer of Police
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the
authority’s area
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of
the authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005.
2.4 Our consultation took place between October 2021 and December 2021
and we have followed the Guidance to Licensing Authorities (GLA) on
consultations available at
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Licensingauthorities/Information-for-licensing-authorities/Guidance-to-licensingauthorities.aspx.
2.5 The full schedule of comments and amendments consequential to these
comments will be available by request to the Licensing Officer, Fareham
Borough Council.

2.6 This statement of principles will not override the right of any person to make an
application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of
a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the
statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.
3.

The Licensing Framework
3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 brought about changes to the way that gambling
is administered in the United Kingdom. The Gambling Commission is
the national gambling regulator and has a lead role in working with
central government and local authorities to regulate gambling activity.

Page 6 of 40

Page 178

3.2 The Gambling Commission issues operator licences and personal
licences. Any operator wishing to provide gambling at a certain
premises must have applied for the requisite personal licence and
operator’s licence before they can approach the council for a premises
licence. In this way the Gambling Commission can consider potential
applicants and organisations to ensure they have the correct credentials
to operate gambling premises.
3.3 The council’s role is to ensure premises are suitable for providing
gambling in line with the three licensing objectives and any codes of
practice issued by the Gambling Commission. The council also issues
various permits and notices to regulate smaller scale and/or ad hoc
gambling in various other locations such as pubs, clubs and hotels.
3.4 The council does not licence large society lotteries or remote gambling
through websites. These areas fall to the Gambling Commission. The
National Lottery is not licensed by the Gambling Act 2005 and from 1 st
October 2013 the Gambling Commission took over the responsibilities of
the National Lottery Commission to regulate the National Lottery Act.
4.

Declaration
In producing the final statement of principles, this licensing authority declares
that it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, and any responses from those
consulted on the statement of principles.

5

Responsible Authorities
5.1 Fareham Borough Council is required by regulations to state the
principles that we will apply in exercising our powers under section
157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body which is competent to
advise the authority about the protection of children from harm.
5.2

The principles we will use are:
 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the
whole of the licensing authority’s area
 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group etc

5.3

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing
Authorities, we intend to designate the Hampshire County Council
Safeguarding Childrens ’Board for this purpose.

5.4 This body has countywide responsibility, is subject to democratic
accountability and is currently the body that has become a responsible
authority under the Licensing Act 2003.

Page 7 of 40

Page 179

5.5 The Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are:
 Fareham Borough Council Licensing Authority
 The Gambling Commission.
 The Chief Constable, Hampshire Constabulary
 Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service
 Fareham Borough Council Planning and Environmental Services
Unit
 Safeguarding Children’s’ Board, Hampshire County Council Social
Services Section
 H.M. Revenue & Customs
Subject to any other person being prescribed in Regulations made by the Secretary
of State. The contact addresses for these authorities are attached at Appendix B.
6

Interested Parties
6.1

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications
or apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in
the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

6.2 “For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation
to an application for or in respect of, a premises licence if, in the opinion
of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the
applications are made, the person:
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by
the authorised activities,
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised
activities, or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”
6.3 We are required by regulations to state the principles we will apply in
exercising our powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine
whether a person is an interested party.
6.4 Our principles will be that we will adopt the principles of natural justice
and decide each case on its merits. We will not apply a rigid rule to our
decision making but will apply local knowledge and integrity to each
decision.
6.5 We will consider the examples of consideration provided in the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing. We will also consider the
Guidance that “has business interests “is given its widest possible
interpretation and should include partnerships, charities, faith groups and
medical practices.
6.6 The Gambling Commission has recommended that we state that
interested parties include trade associations, residents and tenants’
associations. We will not however generally view these bodies as

Page 8 of 40

Page 180

interested parties unless they have a member who can be classed as an
interested person under the provisions of the Act.
6.7 Interested parties under paragraph 6.2 (c) above can be persons who
are democratically elected such as a ward Councillor, M.P. etc. No
specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested party will be
required as long as the Councillor / MP. etc. represents the ward likely to
be affected. Other than this, we will require any other person acting
under paragraph 6.2 (c) above to be nominated in writing by the
appropriate interested parties at paragraph 6.2 (a) or (b) above.
6.8 When considering whether persons are interested parties in relation to
any individual application we will consider:








the size of the premises.
the nature of the premises.
the distance of the premises from the location of the person making
the representation.
the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes
likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment); and
the nature of the complainant. This is not the personal
characteristics of the complainant, but the interests of the
complainant, which may be relevant to the distance from the
premises. For example, it could be reasonable for us to conclude
that “sufficiently close to be likely to be affected” could have a
different meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school
for children with truanting problems and (c) a residential hostel for
vulnerable adults
persons with business interests that could be affected

6.9 If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their
views then care should be taken that the councillors are not part of the
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence application. Applicants
should contact the Head of Environmental Health, Fareham Borough
Council in the first instance rather than approach their councillor directly.
7.

Exchange of Information
7.1 We are required to include the principles to be applied by the authority in
exercising the functions under sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect
to the exchange of information between ourselves and the Gambling
Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act with the
respect to the exchange of information between it and the other persons
listed in schedule 6 to the Act.
7.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange
of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act
2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations 2016 will not be
contravened.

Page 9 of 40

Page 181

7.3 We will also have regard to the Guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission to Licensing Authorities, as well as any future relevant
regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided
in the Gambling Act 2005.
7.4 Should any protocol on information exchange be established in the
future, such protocols will be publicly available.
8.

Licensing Authority Functions
8.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:
 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling
activities are to take place by issuing Premises Licences
 Issue Provisional Statements
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish
to undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming
Permits and/or Club Machine Permits
 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines
at unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres
 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the
Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or fewer gaming machines
 Grant Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises
licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two
machines are required
 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds
 Issue Prize Gaming Permits
 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices
 Receive Occasional Use Notices
 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details
of licences issued (see section 7 above on ‘information exchange)
 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under
these functions
8.2 We as the licensing authority will not be involved in licensing remote
gambling. Regulation of such activity will be the responsibility of the
Gambling Commission via Operator Licences.
8.3 In accordance with the Act and Guidance, this authority will:
 Refer approval of this three-year licensing policy to Full Council
 Refer any delegated power under forthcoming Regulations to set
fees to Executive.

Page 10 of 40

Page 182

 Delegate all decisions relating to premises licences to the Licensing
Committee.
 Invite the Licensing Committee to further delegate decision making
to a Sub-Committee or officers in accordance with the law and
guidance.
9.

Fees
9.1 Premises Licence fees are set within the prescribed maximum levels in
accordance with The Gambling (Premises Licence Fees) (England and
Wales) Regulations 2007 and will be limited to cost recovery. Fees for
Permits and other services are set by the Secretary of State.
9.2 In accordance with section 193 of the Act, a premises licence will be
revoked if the licence holder fails to pay the relevant annual fee (required
under section 184), unless the failure to pay can be explained by an
administrative error.
9.3 Under schedule 13, section 17 of the Act, the council will also cancel any
gambling permit if the holder fails to pay the annual fee, unless the
failure to pay can be explained by an administrative error.

PART B - Promotion of the Licensing Objectives
10. Preventing Gambling from being a Source of Crime or Disorder, Being
Associated with Crime or Disorder or being used to Support Crime
10.1 This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be
taking a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of
crime. Their guidance does however envisage that the licensing
authority should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling
premises in terms of this licensing objective.
10.2 Therefore, where an area has known high levels of organised crime, we
will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be
located there and whether conditions may be suitable, such as the
provision of door supervisors. Responsible authorities would however
have the right to make representations about such premises.
10. 3 We are aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will
consider factors such as whether police assistance was required and
how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, to make
that distinction. It should be noted that nuisance is not a Gambling Act
licensing objective.
10.4 In considering licence applications, the council will particularly consider
the following:
 The design and layout of the premises.

Page 11 of 40

Page 183

 The training given to staff in crime prevention measures
appropriate to those premises.
 Physical security features installed in the premises. This may
include matters such as the position of cash registers or the
standard of CCTV that is installed.
 Where premises are subject to age-restrictions, the procedures in
place to conduct age verification checks.
 The likelihood of any violence, public order or policing problem if
the licence is granted.
11.

Ensuring that Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way
This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission has stated
that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be
addressed by the operator and personal licensing system.

12.

Protecting Children and other Vulnerable Persons from being Harmed or
Exploited by Gambling
12.1 We note the Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authority’s states
that this objective relates to preventing children from taking part in
gambling as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products
are not aimed at, or are particularly attractive, to children.
12.2 We will therefore consider, as suggested by the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance, whether specific measures are required at individual premises
to promote the licensing objectives.
12.3 Appropriate measures may include supervision of access points,
segregation of areas etc.
12.4 We will also take account of the Codes of Practice regarding this
objective in relation to specific types of premises.
12.5 In reference to the term “vulnerable persons” we note that the Gambling
Commission or statute law is not seeking to offer a definition but the
Commission states that “it will for regulatory purposes assume that this
group includes:
 people who gamble more than they want to.
 people who are gambling beyond their means.
 and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced
decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or
drugs.”
12.6 This licensing authority will consider promotion of this licensing objective
on a common sense, case by case basis. Should a practical definition

Page 12 of 40

Page 184

prove possible in future then this policy statement will be updated with it,
by way of a revision.
13.

Other Considerations
The licensing authority will not reject applications for premises licenses where
relevant objections can be dealt with through the use of conditions. In
determining applications for premises licences and permits, we will request as
much information as it requires to be satisfied that all the requirements set out
at section153 of the Act are met.

14.

Profile of Fareham
14.1 Fareham is located in an area of some 30 square miles along the south
coast of Hampshire between Portsmouth and Southampton. It is well
connected to the M27 motorway, has good rail links to London and other
major centres and easy access to the ferry ports and Southampton
international airport.
14.2 The population of 116,338 is expected to grow by 5.4%, between 2021
and 2031, with a growing number in the population aged 45 or more.
14.3 Within Fareham’s boundaries there are 6 nationally important sites of
special scientific interest, 92 sites of importance for nature conservation
and 4 nature reserves. The Borough has many historic buildings, 13
conservation areas, nearly 600 listed buildings plus 7 historic parks and
gardens of regional or local importance.
14.4 Fareham is a thriving business area with low unemployment. Many of
Fareham’s businesses are of local origin with a high survival rate from
start-up. The growth in jobs at Whiteley, Segensworth and the Solent
Business Park has reduced the number of residents commuting to work
elsewhere. The proportion of Fareham’s working age population that are
in work is higher than both the regional and national rates and the
average annual salary for a full-time worker living in Fareham is
significantly higher than national average earnings.
14.5 Fareham is a safe and healthy place compared to many other parts of the
country. The total number of recorded crimes in Fareham has been falling
in recent years. Based upon the number of crimes recorded, Fareham’s
Community Safety Partnership is in the top quartile when compared to
other similar authorities.
14.6 The health of people living in Fareham is generally good when compared
to other areas. Life expectancy is higher than the national average for
men and women and over the last 10 years, the rate of death from all
causes, and early death rates from cancer and from heart disease and
stroke, have all fallen and remain lower than the national average.

Page 13 of 40

Page 185

14.7 Deprivation levels across the Borough are generally very low, but there
are pockets of deprivation where unemployment is much higher and
educational achievement is much lower when compared to other parts of
the Borough.
14.8 Fareham is not a tourist town. It has no seaside resort or built-up
frontage. There have been no applications for bingo halls, amusement
arcades or casinos. Its night-time economy consists mainly of restaurants
and public houses.
14.9 The majority of Gambling permits in place are for Betting shops and the
number of these in the Borough has remained constant in recent years,
currently there are 6 in the Borough. These are mainly located within
defined commercial centres.
15.

Money Laundering
15.1 The council requires applicants and licence holders to assess the risks
of their business being used for money laundering and terrorist
financing. Such risk assessment must be appropriate and must be
reviewed as necessary in the light of any changes in circumstances,
including the introduction of new technology, new methods of payment
by customers, changes in the customer demographic or any other
material changes, and in any event reviewed at least annually.
15.2 As a gambling business you have a responsibility to uphold the three
licensing objectives set out in the Act. The first of those licensing
objectives is to prevent gambling being a source of crime or disorder,
being associated with crime and disorder, or being used to support
crime.
15.3 Money laundering in the gambling sector takes two main forms:
 exchanging money acquired criminally for money that appears to
be legitimate or ‘clean’ by gambling on low-risk outcomes; and
 the use of criminal proceeds to fund gambling as a leisure activity
(so called criminal or ‘lifestyle’ spend).
15.4 You should report money laundering to the National Crime Agency and,
where appropriate consent is requested, wait for such consent to deal
with a transaction or wait until a set period has elapsed before
proceeding.
15.5 Further information on how to meet your money laundering
responsibilities can be found on the Gambling Commission website.

16.

The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
16.1 POCA creates several principal offences that apply to everyone and
criminalise any involvement in the proceeds of any crime if the person

Page 14 of 40

Page 186

knows or suspects that the property is criminal property. These offences
relate to the concealing, disguising, converting, transferring, acquisition,
use and possession of criminal property, as well as an arrangement
which facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal
property. For example, in the gambling industry, this may involve taking
cash, cheque, or card payments, based on funds which are the proceeds
of crime, in the form of a bet or wager or holding money on account for a
customer.
16.2 The Gambling Commission has produced guidance for operators on
duties under the Proceeds of Crime Act.
PART C – Premises Licences
17.

General Principles
17.1 Premises Licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions set out
in the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory
and default conditions that will be detailed in regulations issued by the
Secretary of State.
17.2 We, as the licensing authority, will be able to exclude default conditions
and also attach other conditions, where we believe it to be appropriate.
17.3 This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises
licences we should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so
far as we think it is:
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
Gambling Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with this statement of licensing policy
17.4 We appreciate that gambling can be an emotive subject but
acknowledge that, in accordance with Gambling Commission Guidance
for Local Authorities, “moral objections to gambling are not a valid
reason to reject applications for premises licences “. Except in respect of
a Casino resolution and that unmet demand is not a criterion for a
licensing authority.
17.5 Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”. Different premises
licences cannot apply in respect of single premises at different times. It
is however possible for a single building to be subject to more than one
premises licence, providing that each licence is for a different part of the
building and such different parts can reasonably be regarded as different
premises.

Page 15 of 40

Page 187

17.6 We will judge each case on its individual merits to decide as a matter of
fact, whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as
being separate premises.
17.7 We note that the Gambling Commission, in their guidance, do not
consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily
separate can be properly regarded as different premises. We support
this view.
17.8 This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities which states that:




Licensing Authorities should take particular care in considering
applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to
a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling)
purposes. In particular, they should be aware that entrances and
exits from parts of a building covered by one or more licences
should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of
different premises is not compromised, and that people do not ‘drift’
into a gambling area.
Licensing authorities should pay particular attention to applications
where access to the licensed premises is through other premises
(which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed). Clearly there
will be specific issues that authorities should consider before
granting such applications, for example, whether children can gain
access; compatibility of the two establishments; and the ability to
comply with the requirements of the Act. But in addition, an
overriding consideration should be whether, taken as a whole, the
co-location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the
effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should,
be prohibited under the Act.

17.9 We also note that an applicant cannot obtain a full premises licence until
the premises in which it is proposed to offer the gambling are
constructed. The Gambling Commission has advised that references to
“the premises” are to the premises in which gambling may now take
place. Therefore, a licence to use premises for gambling will only be
issued in relation to premises that are ready to be used for gambling.
17.10 Subject to future case law, we agree with this interpretation that it is a
question of fact and degree whether premises are finished to a degree
that they can be considered for a premises licence. The Gambling
Commission emphasises that requiring the building to be complete
ensures that the licensing authority can, if necessary, inspect it fully, as
can other responsible authorities, with inspection rights under the Act.
17.11 This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be
considered in relation to the location of premises but that considerations
made in terms of the licensing objectives can be considered.

Page 16 of 40

Page 188

17.12 We will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for
Local Authorities, pay particular attention to the protection of children
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as
well as issues of crime and disorder.
17.13 This authority has not adopted any specific policy in relation to areas
where gambling premises should not be located. Should any such policy
be decided upon, as a result of this consultation or otherwise, regarding
such areas where gambling premises should not be located, this policy
statement will be updated.
17.14 It should be noted that any such future policy will not preclude any
application being made and each application will be decided on its
merits, with the onus upon the applicant to show how any potential
concerns can be overcome.
17.15 This authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory /
regulatory systems where possible, including the statutory planning
regime.
17.16 This council acting as a licensing authority will not consider whether a
licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or
building regulations approval in its consideration of an application for a
Premises Licence.
17.17 We will though, carefully consider any concerns about licensing
conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning
restrictions, should such a situation arise.
17.18 The Planning Department are a responsible authority under this Act and
can make representations should they desire, otherwise the two regimes
will be properly separated.
17.19 Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the
licensing objectives. In promoting these objectives, we have considered
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and make the
following observations:

18.

Local Area Risk Assessments
18.1 It is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions
and Codes of Practice (LCCP), for licensees to assess the local risks to
the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at
their premises and have policies, procedures and control measures to
mitigate those risks. In making risk assessments, licensees must take
into account relevant matters identified in this policy.
18.2 The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as
necessary) their local risk assessments:

Page 17 of 40

Page 189

 to take account of significant changes in local circumstance,
including those identified in this policy.
 when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may
affect their mitigation of local risks
 when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and
 in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a
new premises licence.
18.3 The council will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a
minimum:
 whether the premises are in an area of deprivation
 whether the premises are in an area subject to high levels of crime
and/or disorder
 the ethnic profile of residents in the area
 the demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups
 the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds,
toy shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will gather.
18.4

In any case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable
people including people with gambling dependencies, are protected.

18.5

A copy of all risk assessments should be available for inspection on the
premises.

18.5

Other matters that the assessment may include:
 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show
signs of excessive gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief
intervention and how the staffing of premises affect this.
 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras,
and how the system will be monitored.
 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view
of persons using the premises.
 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any
one time. If at any time that number is one, confirm the supervisory
and monitoring arrangements when that person is absent from the
licensed area or distracted from supervising the premises and
observing those persons using the premises.
 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with underage persons
and vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained
personnel, leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window
displays and advertisements not to entice passers-by etc.
 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules,
gambling care providers and other relevant information to be
provided in both English and the other prominent first language for
that locality.

Page 18 of 40

Page 190

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than
in respect of a track, the location and extent of any part of the
premises which will be used to provide facilities for ambling in
reliance on the licence.

19.

18.6

Such information may be used to inform the decision the council makes
about whether to grant the licence, to grant the licence with special
conditions, or to refuse the application.

18.7

This policy does not preclude any application being made and each
application will be decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the
applicant to show how the concerns can be overcome.

Conditions on Premises Licences
19.1

Any conditions we attach to licences will be proportionate and will be:





relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a
gambling facility
directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for.
fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
reasonable in all other respects.

19.2

The authority is aware that the mandatory and default conditions
imposed by the Gambling Commission will normally be sufficient to
regulate gambling premises. In exceptional cases where there are
specific risks or problems associated with a particular locality, specific
premises or class of premises, the authority may consider attaching
individual conditions related to the licensing objectives

19.3

There are specific observations made in this regard under each of the
licence types below. This licensing authority will also expect the licence
applicant to offer their own suggestions as to way in which the licensing
objectives can be met effectively.

19.4

We will, where considered necessary, also consider specific measures
for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such
measures may include the supervision of entrances, segregation of
gambling and non-gambling areas frequented by children and the
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises
to promote the licensing objectives, in accordance with Gambling
Commission Guidance.

19.5

We will also ensure that where Category A to C gaming machines are on
offer in premises to which children are admitted, other than premises
licensed for the supply of alcohol under the Licensing Act 2003.
 All such machines are located in an area of the premises which is
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier

Page 19 of 40

Page 191






which is effective to prevent access other than through a
designated entrance
Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are
located
Access to the area where these machines are located is supervised
The area where these machines are located is arranged so that it
can be observed by the staff or the licence holder, and
At the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to
persons under 18 years of age.

19.6

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where
multiple premises licences are applicable.

19.7

We are aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one
premises licence, provided that each licence relates to a specified area
of the track.

19.8

We will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance,
consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to
ensure that the entrances to each type of premises are distinct from
each other and that children are excluded from gambling areas where
they are not permitted by law or condition, to enter

19.9

It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot
by law attach to premises licences which are:
 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible
to comply with an operating licence condition
 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or
method of operation.
 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be
required (the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the
membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this
provision prevents it being reinstated) and
 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes

20.

Door Supervisors
20.1

The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance that licensing
authorities may consider whether there is a need for door supervisors in
terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms
of preventing premises becoming a source of crime.

20.2

Door supervisors at casinos and bingo premises who are contract staff
are required to be licensed by the Security Industry Authority; however,
in house supervisors are exempt from this requirement.

Page 20 of 40

Page 192

20.3

This licensing authority therefore has specific requirements for door
supervisors working at casinos or bingo premises which are that a book
is maintained in which is recorded.
 the identity of the door staff deployed
 the time they commenced duty and left duty, and
 any incidents that they dealt with each day, and such a book shall
be maintained and available for inspection for a period of 3
months from the date of the record entry.

21

22.

Adult Gaming Centres (AGC)
21.1

Adult gaming centres are a category of premises introduced by the Act
that are most closely related to what are commonly known as adult only
amusement arcades seen in many town centres.

21.2

Persons operating an AGC must hold a gaming machines general
operating licence from the Gambling commission and obtain a premises
licence from the council.

21.3

Under the Act a premise holding an adult gaming centre licence will be
able to make a number of category B, C and D gaming machines
available. No person under 18 will be permitted to enter such premises
and no alcohol shall be permitted to be consumed on the premises.

21.4

No customer shall be able to access the premises directly from any other
(or split) premises in respect of which a licence issued under part 8 of
the Act, or a permit issued under schedule 10, 12 or 13 to the Act, has
effect.

21.5

The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling in
these premises. The council will expect applicants to satisfy the council
that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18-year-olds
do not have access to the premises.

21.6

Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory
and default conditions and the Gambling Commission codes of Practice
or by the applicant, the council may consider licence conditions to
address such issues.

Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs)
22.1

Licenced family entertainment centres are those premises which usually
provide a range of amusements such as computer games, penny
pushers and may have a separate section set aside for adult only
gaming machines with higher stakes and prizes.

22.2

Licenced family entertainment centres will be able to make available
unlimited category C and D machines where there is clear segregation in

Page 21 of 40

Page 193

place to children do not access the areas where the category C
machines are located.
22.3

Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which
children are admitted then the council will ensure that:
 all such machines are in an area of the premises separate from the
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to
prevent access other than thorough a designated entrance. For
this purpose, a rope, floor markings or similar provision will not
suffice, and the council may insist on a permanent barrier of at
least 1 metre high.
 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines (category
C are located.
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at
all times.
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can
be observed by staff; and
 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently
displayed noticed indicated that access to the area is prohibited to
persons under 18.

22.4

The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and
will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18-year-olds do not have
access to the adult only gaming machine areas.

22.5

The council will expect applicants to show that there are policies and
procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context
is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection
considerations.

22.6

The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered
on their merits; however, they may include:
 appropriate measures and training for staff regarding suspected
truant children on the premises; measures and training covering
how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being
on the premises.
 measures and training covering how staff would deal with children
causing perceived problems on or around the premises.
 the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the
use of CCTV. Any CCTV system installed should cover both the
interior and the entrance working to latest Home office standards
and to the satisfaction of Hampshire police and the council. The
system must record images clearly and these recordings be
retained for a minimum of 31 days. If the equipment is inoperative
the police and local authority must be informed as soon as
possible, and immediate steps taken to make the system operative.

Page 22 of 40

Page 194

Notices must be displayed at the entrances advising that CCTV is
in operation.
22.7

Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children,
applicants who employ staff to supervise the premises should consult
with the Disclosure and Barring Service to determine whether their staff
need to be DBS checked.

22.8

The council will refer to the Commission’s website to familiarise itself
with any conditions that apply to operating licences covering the way in
which the area containing the category C machines should be
delineated. The council will also make itself aware of the mandatory or
default conditions and any Gambling commission codes of Practice on
these premises’ licences.

22.9

We will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer
to the Commission, and be aware of any conditions that apply to
operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the
Category C or higher machines, should be delineated.

22.10 This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or
default conditions on these premises’ licences, when they have been
published.
23

Casinos
This licensing authority does not have an existing licensed casino within the
Borough. We have not submitted a proposal for a premises licence for any
new type of casino to the Independent Casinos Advisory Panel.

24. Betting machines
24.1

It is desirable that the difference between a gaming machine and
betting machine is understood. A machine is not a gaming machine if it
is designed or adapted for use to bet on future real events.

24.2

Some betting premises may make available machines that accept bets
on live events, such as horse racing, as a substitute for placing a bet
over the counter. These “betting machines” are not gaming machines
and therefore neither count towards the maximum permitted number of
gaming machines, nor have to comply with any stake or prize limits.

24.3

Such betting machines merely automate the process which can be
conducted in person and therefore do not require regulation as a gaming
machine.

24.4

However, where a machine is made available to take bets on virtual
races, that machine is a gaming machine and does count towards the
maximum permitted number of gaming machines and must meet the
relevant category limitations for the premises.

Page 23 of 40

Page 195

24.5

Section 181 contains an express power for licensing authorities to
restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the
circumstances in which they are made available by attaching a licence
condition to a betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence
(where betting is permitted in the casino).

24.6

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local
authorities, when considering the number / nature / circumstances of
betting machines that a casino operator wishes to offer, we will consider.
 the size of the premises
 the number of counter positions available for person-to-person
transactions, and,
 the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by
vulnerable persons.”

25. Bingo
25.1

This licensing authority notes that that the Gambling Commission
Guidance states; “It is important that if children can enter premises
licensed for bingo that they do not participate in gambling, other than on
category D machines. Where category C or above machines are
available in premises to which children are admitted licensing authorities
should ensure that:
 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is
effective to prevent access other than through a designated
entrance.
 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are
located.
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised.
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can
be observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to
persons under 18.
 Children will not be admitted to bingo premises unless
accompanied by an adult.

25.2

We note that under the Act, children and young persons (anyone up to
the age of 18) cannot be employed in providing any facilities for
gambling on bingo premises, and children (under 16) cannot be
employed, in any capacity, at a time when facilities for playing bingo are
being offered. However, young persons, aged 16 and 17, may be

Page 24 of 40

Page 196

employed in bingo premises (while bingo is being played), provided the
activities on which they are employed are not connected with the gaming
or gaming machines.

26.

25.3

The Gambling Commission has provided Guidance for Licensing
Authorities and licence Conditions and Code of Practice which are
applied to Operator’s Licences. The council will take this into
consideration when determining licence applications for bingo premises.

25.4

Where certain measures are not already addressed by the
mandatory/default conditions, the Gambling Commission Code of
Practice or the applicant, the council may consider licence conditions to
address such issues.

Betting Premises
We note that the Act contains a single class of licence for betting premises.
However, within this single class of licence, there will be different types of
premises which require licensing. This section of our policy discusses offcourse betting, that is betting that takes place other than at a track in what is
currently known as a licensed betting office. Tracks are discussed in the
following section. It should be noted that there are also betting offices on
tracks, that have a separate premises licence from the track licence.

27. Tracks
27.1

Tracks are sites (including horse racecourses and dog tracks) where
races or other sporting events take place. Betting is a major gambling
activity on tracks, both in the form of pool betting (often known as the
“totalisator” or “tote”), and also general betting, often known as “fixedodds” betting.

27.2

There is no special class of betting premises licence for a track, but the
Act does contain rules which apply specifically to premises licences
granted in respect of a track.

27.3

Special rules apply to applicants for a premises licence in relation to a
track. Most importantly, as noted above, the applicant need not hold an
operating licence. That is because, unless the occupier of the track
wishes to offer pool betting (or general betting) facilities himself (for
which he will need a licence), the betting that is provided upon the track
will not be provided by him but will be provided by other operators who
come on-course. Since those people will require the necessary operating
licences, the Act allows the track operator to obtain a premises licence
without also having to hold an operating licence. This track premises
licences then authorises anyone upon the premises with an operating
licence to offer betting facilities.

27.4

We are aware that tracks are different from other premises in that there
may be more than one premises licence in effect, each covering a

Page 25 of 40

Page 197

specified area of the track. In accordance with the Gambling
Commission guidance, this authority will especially consider the impact
of the third licensing objective.
27.5

There may be some specific considerations about the protection of
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by
gambling and the need to ensure entrances to each type of premises are
distinct and that children are excluded from gambling or betting areas
where they are not permitted to enter.

27.6

We will expect the premises licence applicants to demonstrate suitable
measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult-only
gaming facilities.

27.7

Children and young persons will by law be permitted to enter track areas
where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or
horse racing takes place, although they are still prevented from entering
areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are
provided.

27.8

Appropriate licence conditions may include:












Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Door supervisors
Supervision of entrances / machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Specific opening hours
The location of gaming machines
Self-barring Schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for
organisations such as GamCare

28. Condition on Rules being Displayed
The Gambling Commission has advised in its Guidance for local authorities that
“…licensing authorities should attach a condition to track premises licences
requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in
or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to ensure that they
are made available to the public. For example, the rules could be printed in the
race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office.”
29. Applications and Plans
This licensing authority awaits regulations setting-out any specific requirements
for applications for premises licences but is in accordance with the Gambling
Commission's suggestion "To ensure that licensing authorities gain a proper
understanding of what they are being asked to licence they should, in their

Page 26 of 40

Page 198

licensing policies, set out the information that they will require, which should
include detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area that will be used for
temporary “on-course” betting facilities (often known as the “betting ring”) and in
the case of dog tracks and horse racecourses fixed and mobile pool betting
facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as any other proposed
gambling facilities." and that "Plans should make clear what is being sought for
authorisation under the track betting premises licence and what, if any, other
areas are to be subject to a separate application for a different type of premises
licence."
30. Travelling Fairs
30.1

We note that we as the licensing authority are required to decide
whether, where category D machines and / or equal chance prize
gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at travelling
fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to
no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

30.2

The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls
within the statutory definition of a travelling fair.

30.3

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being
used as a fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of
land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or
different travelling fairs occupying the land. This licensing authority will
work with other departments of the council and its neighbouring
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is
monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

31. Provisional Statements
31.1

This licensing authority notes the Guidance for the Gambling
Commission which states that “It is a question of fact and degree
whether premises are finished to a degree that they can be considered
for a premises licence” and that “Requiring the building to be complete
ensures that the authority could, if necessary, inspect it fully”.

31.2

In terms of representations about premises licence applications,
following the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations
from relevant authorities or interested parties can be considered unless
they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the
provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s
circumstances. In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence
(or grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional
statement) only by reference to matters:
a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional
licence stage; or
b) which is in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s
circumstances.

Page 27 of 40

Page 199

31.3

This authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance that “A
licensing authority should not consider irrelevant matters. One example
of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining
planning permission or building regulations approval for the proposal."

PART D – Permits, Notifications and Lottery Registrations
32. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits
32.1

Family entertainment centres (FECs) will perhaps be most commonly
located at seaside resorts, in airports and at motorway service centres,
and will cater for families, including unaccompanied children and young
persons.

32.2

Unlicensed FECs will be able to offer only category D machines in
reliance on a gaming machine permit. Any number of category D
machines can be made available with such a permit. Permits cannot be
issued to vessels or vehicles.

32.3

Where a premise does not hold a premises licence but wishes to
provide gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for
this permit. It should be noted that the applicant must show that the
premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines
available for use as required by section 238.

32.4

The application for a permit can only be made by a person who
occupies or plans to occupy the premises to be used as an unlicensed
FEC and, if the applicant is an individual, he must be aged 18 or over.
Applications for a permit cannot be made if a premises licence is in
effect for the same premises.

32.5

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a
statement of principles that they propose to consider in determining the
suitability of an applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement,
and/or considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard to
the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance
issued by the Commission under section 25.

32.6

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities also states:
“In their three-year licensing policy statement, licensing authorities may
include a statement of principles that they propose to apply when
exercising their functions in considering applications for permits….,
licensing authorities will want to give weight to child protection issues."

32.7

The Guidance also states: “...An application for a permit may be
granted only if the licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will
be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the chief officer of police has
been consulted on the application.Licensing authorities might wish to
consider asking applications to demonstrate: a full understanding of the

Page 28 of 40

Page 200

32.8

maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in
unlicensed FECs;
 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set
out in schedule 7 of the Act); and
 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the
maximum stakes and prizes. (24.7)
We note that a licensing authority can grant or refuse a licence but
cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

32.9

This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that there are
policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in
this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider
child protection considerations.

32.10

The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered
on their merits. However, they may include appropriate measures /
training for staff as regards suspected truant school children on the
premises, measures / training covering how staff would deal with
unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children
causing perceived problems on / around the premises

33. Gaming Machine Permits in Premises Licensed for the Sale of Alcohol
33.1

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed under the Licensing
Act 2003 for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises, to
automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.
Licence holders merely need to notify the licensing authority.

33.2

The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in
respect of any premises if:





33.3

provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the
pursuit of the licensing objectives.
gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a
condition of section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written
notice has been provided to the licensing authority, that a fee
has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued
by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation
of the machine has been complied with); the premises are
mainly used for gaming; or
an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the
premises.

If a premises licence holder wishes to have more than 2 machines,
then they need to apply for a permit and the licensing authority must
consider that application based upon the licensing objectives, any
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under section 25 of the
Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think relevant.”

Page 29 of 40

Page 201

33.4

This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on
a case-by-case individual basis, but generally there will be regard to
the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from being harmed
or exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the
authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under18
year olds do not have access to the adult-only gaming machines.

33.5

Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access
may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight
of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by those
under 18. Notices and signage on the machines or in the premises may
also be help. As regards the protection of vulnerable persons,
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets /
helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

33.6

It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a
premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such
application would normally need to be applied for, and dealt with, as an
Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

33.7

It should be noted that we as the licensing authority can decide to grant
the application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different
category of machines than that applied for. Conditions (other than
these) cannot be attached to a permit.

33.8

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any
Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the
location and operation of the machine.

34. Prize Gaming Permits
34.1

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their
functions under this schedule” which “may specify matters that the
licensing authority propose to consider in determining the suitability of
the applicant for a permit”.

34.2

This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is
that the applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is
intending to offer, and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:
a) that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set
out in Regulations.
b) and that the gaming offered is within the law.

34.3

In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing
authority does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but
must have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.

Page 30 of 40

Page 202

34.4

It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005
with which the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing
authority cannot attach conditions. The conditions in the Act are:







35.

The limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must
be complied with.
all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day;
the game must be played and completed on the day the
chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made
public in the premises on the day that it is played;
the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the
amount set out in regulations (if a money prize), or the
prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and
participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take
part in any other gambling.

Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits
35.1

Bona Fide Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not
Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs
Gaming machines permit.

35.2

The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide 3 gaming
machines of categories B, C or D, equal chance gaming and games of
chance as set-out in regulations still to be published.

35.3

A Club Gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide 3
gaming machines of categories B, C or D.

35.4

Gambling Commission Guidance states: "Members clubs must have at
least 25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly”
for purposes other than gaming unless the gaming is permitted by
separate regulations. It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and
whist clubs, which will replicate the position under the Gaming Act
1968.

35.5

A members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established to
make commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.
Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British
Legion and clubs with political affiliations."

35.6

The Commission Guidance also notes that "licensing authorities may
only refuse an application on the grounds that:
a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not
entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied

Page 31 of 40

Page 203

b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children
and/or young persons.
c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities.
d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the
previous ten years; or
e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.
35.7

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for
premises which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing
Act 2003 (schedule 12 paragraph 10).

35.8

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities’ states:
"Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to
be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground upon which
an authority can refuse a permit are reduced." and "The grounds on
which an application under the process may be refused are:
a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than
gaming prescribed under schedule 12.
b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides
facilities for other gaming; or
c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the
applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled."

35.9

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child
uses a category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder
complies with any relevant provision of a code of practice about the
location and operation of gaming machines.

36. Temporary Use Notices
36.1

Part 9 of the Act sets out the position in relation to temporary use
notices. These allow the use of premises for gambling where there is
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that
might be suitable for a temporary use notice would include hotels,
conference centres, and sporting venues.

36.2

There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use
notices. Gambling Commission Guidance is noted. As with "premises",
the definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the
particular circumstances of each notice that is given.

36.3

We will apply the Gambling Commission Guidance which states: “In the
Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”. In considering
whether a place falls within the definition of “a set of premises”,
licensing authorities will need to look at, amongst other things, the
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. A large exhibition

Page 32 of 40

Page 204

centre, for example, would be likely to come within the definition as it is
properly one premises, and should not be granted a temporary use
notice for 21 days in respect of each of its exhibition halls. But in
relation to other covered areas, such as shopping centres, the licensing
authority will need to consider whether different units are in fact
different “sets of premises”, given that they may be occupied and
controlled by different people. This is a new permission and licensing
authorities should be ready to object to notices where it appears that
their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be
described as one set of premises.” In our consideration of Temporary
Use Notice applications.
37. Occasional Use Notices:
We have very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that
the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. This licensing
authority will, however, consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the
applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.
38. Small Society Lottery Registrations
38.1

A lottery generally refers to schemes under which prizes are distributed
by chance among entrants who have given some form of value for their
chance to take part.

38.2

The Act creates two principal classes of lotteries: Licensed lotteries and
exempt lotteries. Licensed lotteries are large society lotteries and
lotteries run for the benefit of local authorities. These will be regulated
by the Gambling Commission. Other exempted lotteries are:
(a) incidental lotteries – must be held at an event (either commercial or
non-commercial), e.g., a charity dinner, exhibition, festival, fete.
(b) Private lotteries
 Private society lotteries – only members of the society and those
on the society premises can participate in the lottery
 Work lotteries – only people who work together on the same
premises may participate
 Residents’ lotteries – only people who live at the same premises
may participate
(c) Customer lotteries – only customers at the business premises may
participate.

38.3

A small society lottery is a lottery promoted on behalf of a noncommercial society as defined in the Act which also meets specific
financial requirements set out in the Act. These will be administered by
the council for small societies who have a principal office in Fareham
district and want to run such a lottery.

38.4

A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery
is £20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a
calendar year is £250,000 or less.

Page 33 of 40

Page 205

38.5

To be ‘non-commercial’ a society must be established and conducted:
 For charitable purposes,
 For the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport,
athletics or a cultural activity; or
 For any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private
gain.

PART E – Enforcement
39.1

Licensing authorities are required by regulations under the Gambling Act
2005 to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising
the functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of
premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to institute
criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified.

39.2

This licensing authority’s principles are that we will be guided by the
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities and our policy
will endeavour to be:
 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs
identified and minimised.
 Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions and be
subject to public scrutiny.
 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and
implemented fairly.
 Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations
simple and user friendly; and
 Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and
minimise side effects

39.3 This licensing authority will also, as be recommended by the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities, adopt a risk-based
approach. Generally given the profile of the local area this will be a light
touch approach; however, the Authority will investigate any complaints or
issues brought to its notice as necessary given the circumstances in each
case.
39.4

The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the
Premises Licences and other permissions that it authorises.

39.5

The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for Operator
and Personal Licences. Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of
gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will
be notified to the Gambling Commission for investigation.

Page 34 of 40

Page 206

39.6

This licensing authority will also keep itself informed of developments
regarding the work of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration
of the regulatory functions of local authorities.

39.7

Any prosecution will only be commenced in accordance with the
sufficiency of evidence and public interest criteria referred to in the Code
for Crown Prosecutors issued in accordance with the Prosecution of
Offences Act 1985.

39.8

Any such prosecution will be commenced and conducted by the Head of
Environmental Health in accordance with the powers delegated to him
by the council.

40. Reviews
40.1

A premises licence may be reviewed by the licensing authority of its own
volition or following the receipt of an application for a review, which is
essentially a request by a third party to the licensing authority to review a
particular licence.

40.2

Section 200 of the Act provides that licensing authorities may initiate a
review in relation to a particular class of premises licence or in relation to
particular premises. Officers may be involved in the initial investigations
of complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or
dispute resolution techniques prior to a full-scale review being
conducted, but the review itself, if necessary, will be heard by elected
members.

40.3

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested
parties or responsible authorities, however, it is for the licensing authority
to decide whether the review is to be carried-out.

40.4 An application for a review may be (but need not be) rejected if the
licensing authority thinks that the grounds on which the review is sought:
a) are not relevant to the principles that must be applied by the
licensing authority in accordance with section 153. If the application
raises issues that are not relevant to the Commission
guidance/codes of practice, this policy statement, or the licensing
objectives, then we may reject it. In addition, if the application
raises general objections to gambling as an activity, that is likely to
be irrelevant to the principles in section 153, given that we are
required to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far, we
think that permission is in accordance with the matters set out in
that section. Examples that are likely to be irrelevant include
demand for gambling premises, issues relating to planning, public
safety, and traffic congestion.
b) the grounds are frivolous.
c) the grounds are vexatious.

Page 35 of 40

Page 207

d) the grounds “will certainly not” cause the authority to revoke or
suspend a licence or to remove, amend or attach conditions on the
premises licence.
e) are substantially the same as the grounds cited in a previous
application for review relating to the same premises. In these
circumstances we will take into account how much time has passed
since the earlier application in reaching a judgement about whether
it is reasonable to rely on this as a reason not to review the licence;
or
f)

are substantially the same as representations made at the time the
application for a premises licence was considered? In these
circumstances, we will consider the period of time that has passed
since the representations were made, but the underlying
requirement is that we should not review the licence on the basis of
the same arguments considered on the grant of the premises
licence

Page 36 of 40

Page 208

APPENDIX A
SCHEDULE OF CONSULTEES TO THIS DRAFT POLICY STATEMENT
































All Elected Councillors, Fareham Borough Council
Director of Planning & Regeneration, Fareham Borough Council
The Head of Legal Services, Southampton City Council
The Head of Environmental Health, Fareham Borough Council
The Gambling Commission Headquarters Policy Section
The Gambling Commission Regional Inspector (Hampshire)
The Chief Constable, Hampshire Police
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service Authority
Head of Child Protection, Hampshire County Council
H.M. Revenue & Customs
Neighbouring Authorities
The British Casino Association
Racecourse Association Limited
British Amusement Catering Trade Association
British Holiday & Home Parks Association
Community Trade Union
Association of British Bookmakers
All persons who hold Betting Office and Bookmakers Permits in Fareham
Borough
Representatives of persons who hold Society Lottery Registrations in Fareham
Borough
Clubs and Institute Union
Gaming Machine Suppliers who regularly apply for Gaming Permits in Fareham
Borough
Society of Independent Brewers
Representatives of Premises Licence Holders in Fareham
Representatives of Club Premises Certificate holders in Fareham
Hampshire County Council Trading Standards
GamCare
Responsibility in Gambling Trust
Gam – Anon
Residents Associations and Tenant Groups.
General advertisement on the Council’s website.

Page 37 of 40

Page 209

APPENDIX B
SCHEDULE OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES GAMBLING ACT 2006
Hampshire Constabulary
Chief Officer of Police
Fareham Police Station
Quay Street
Fareham
PO16 0NA
Tel: 0845 045 45 45 (central number)
Hampshire Fire & Rescue Service
Service Delivery (Community Safety Delivery)
Protection Department
Southsea Fire Station
Somers Road
Southsea
PO5 4LU
Tel: 023 92855180
Email: : Csprotection.admin@hantsfire.gov.uk

Fax: 023 92885175
Website: www.hantsfire.gov.uk

Pollution & Environmental Protection Team
Pollution & Environmental Protection Team
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
Fareham
PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
Email: licensing@fareham.gov.uk

Fax:01329 821755
Website: www.fareham.gov.uk

Health & Safety Team
Health & Safety Team
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
Fareham
PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
Email: health@fareham.gov.uk

Fax:01329 821755
Website: www.fareham.gov.uk

Page 38 of 40

Page 210

Planning Authority
Department of Strategic Planning and Environment
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
Fareham
PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
Website: www.fareham.gov.uk

Fax:01329 821500

The Local Weights and Measures Authority
Head of Safety & Standards
The Trading Standards Service
Montgomery House
Monarch Way
Winchester
SO22 5PW
Tel 01962 833620

Email: liquor.licensing@hants.gov.uk
Website: www.hants.gov.uk

Safeguarding Unit Children's' Services
HCC CSD Safeguarding Unit
Falcon House
Monarch Way
Winchester
SO22 5PL
Tel: 01962 876222

Email: child.protection@hants.gov.uk
Website: www.hants.gov.uk

The Licensing Team
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
Fareham
PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
Email: licensing@fareham.gov.uk

Fax:01329 821755
Website: www.fareham.gov.uk

Page 39 of 40

Page 211

Public Health Licensing Manager
Public Health Department
1st Floor, Room 153
Elizabeth II Court, South
Hampshire County Council
Winchester
SO23 8TG
Tel: 01329 236100

Use Fax no. 01962 847644 and
address fax exactly as follows
(including email address):

For the attention of publichealth.licensing@hants.gov.uk
Licensing
Public Health Manager
Public Health Department
1st Floor, Room 153
Elizabeth II Court, South
Hampshire County Council
Winchester
SO23 8TG
Email: publichealth.licensing@hants.gov.uk

Page 40 of 40

Page 212

